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classes of benefit specified in s 2(1) of the Law Reform {Personal Injuries) Act 1948, a3
amended. Despite the interesting argument of counsel for the defendant with regardto 4
the question whether or not this type of benelit would be deductible from an award for
loss of earnings were it not for the effect of the section, | have no doubt that this appeal
raises solely questions of construction of that section and is not concerned with the wider
issues which would arise ourside the ambit of the section. The fact that, on the plaintifl’s
submissions, and on the finding of the judge, the deductions to be set against the lost
earnings are very seriously limited, and that, thus, the plainiiff, in eflect, receives a b
windfall in the form of double recovery, is not particularly startling to my mind in view

of the {act that double recovery occurs in many other instances, such as pensions {see
Parry v Cleaver [ 19697 1 All ER 555, [1g70] AC 1)

In my view the reasoning which impelled the judge 1o the conclusion that he reached,
that this case is indistinguishable from that of this court in Hultquist v Universal Pattern
and Precision Engineering Co Lt [1960] 2 All ER 266, [1960] 2 QB 467 is correct. In that ¢
case the court held that where an injured plaintifl was awarded an industrial disablement
grataity ‘for life’, enly that part of the lump sum so awarded as related 1o the remainder
of the five-year period should be taken into account, the halance which could not be so
apportioned being not deductible. This seems to me to support precisely the proposition
which the judge accepted, that only that part of the invalidity benefit as related to the
five-year period was deductible. For my part, 1 am unable to accept cither of the
distinctions which counsel for the defendant sought 10 draw between this case and the
decision in Heltguist, namely that the lump sum in Hulrquist v Universal Pattern and
Precision Kngincering Co Lid was o he regarded as a ‘one-ofT" payment, and thus not
deductible, or that such a payment was of a nature of a solatium for the painand suffering
and general disability whichi the injured person would sustain over the remainder of his
lile, or the perivd over which the payments night continue. Such a lump sum was nat,
and cannot be, regarded as such a solatium against general damages. It was a payment
which fe!l within the ambit of s 2(1), and is of the nature specifically referred to in's 2(6)
of the Act.

I share Peter Pain J's difficulty, expressed by him as part of his judgment in Denman v
Essex Area Health Authority {1084] 2 AILER 621, 1984] QB 735, as to how meaning can
be given to this subsection if the construction of 5 2(1) is that for which the defendant
contends.

Accordingly, | agree with the construction of s 2(1) expressed by Fox LJ, reinforced as
it seetns 1o me that that construction is by the authorities cited, and in particular, by the
decision of this court in Hultquist v Universal Pattern and Precision Engineering Co Lul.

I agree that this appeal should be dismissed.

Appeal dismissed. Sum of [ 16,000 to be paid to plaintiff's solicitors, with interest.

Solicitors: Hatchett Jones ¢ Kidgell, agents for Lyons Davidson, Bristol (for the defendant);
Townsends, Swindon (for the plaintifl).

Diana Procter  Barrister.
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Negligence — Duty to take care - Existence of duty — Test to establish whether du isti
g;ﬁzto:g' ;;r;u;ers ~Regulatory powers — Hong Kong ~ Commissioner of Deposit-mkingéoflr:;:%ies
) g regula kc;ry powers in !'egard to deposit-taking companies — Commissioner having power to
ﬁfse or revoke registration if company not fit and proper to be registered — Plaintiffs retying on
re%lst ra non_when dfpasuin_g money with company — Company operated fra udulently.specul)r’ui%’e! '
aur;he::ec:ez:;:f:; :S:Jf deposl{ors‘{— Company geing into liguidation and plaintiffs los;ng deposirsi
ront Giome Kongfner owing duty of care to plaintiffs - Deposit-taking Companies Ordinance

[T)l;;(gti)ln[\xilssi?er of D_ep(git‘iiaking Companies in Hong Kong was charged under 1hie
-taking Companies Or inance 1976 with various regulat ions i i
to d.cposu-t'akmg_businesses in Hong Keng, It wasa precom:ll%ticm(c;:rfy cillf?yci:g::r: 2 3::]329“
taking business in Hong Kong that a company proposing to do so be registe dp SIS
:Lc:ns(é!q under the ofrdinance and the commissioner had wide discretionary p%werrse unjil:ar
ordinance to refuse ro register, or fo revoke the registration of, a com hich
considered not to be a fit and proper body to take deposits ' e e
Hong Kong residents who had made subsra);)tial dcpositlsx:vi[h aTrI;Egi:!:ai:'zlciac!I:;o\:if:Zl{?: .
;?mpan!(n:vhlch subsequently went into liquidation causing the plaintiffs to lose theigr
oney. eapEellantsclalmedtha[rhecompanyhadbecnrunfrauduleml speculativel
and to the detriment of depositors, and that although he had cogent regs'ug to su pecr
that the company had been so run the commissioner had failed 10 take an acziosrl:elc[
f protea df:posuors. The appellants brought an action against the Atorne éeneral .
representing the commissioner, claiming damages for negligence by the cc):(immissi her
in the discharge of his functions. The appellants contended that they had relied on}fr
fact of registration as indicating that the company was a fit and prg er bed ; 0dn vas
under the prudential supervision of the commissioner, that the comnﬁissione{ l::ll:ewwas
ought w0 have known that the affairs of the company were being conducted fraudul 10f
speculatively and to the detriment of depasitors, and that he should either nevl E;:l "
registered the company or should have revoked its registration before the deer _a\'j
their money. The High Court of 1 ong Kong struck out their claim as disclosi?\ npOSIle
of action and on appeal its decision was upheld by the Hong Kong Court of A y UICQI-ISC
appeilants appealed to the Privy Council. g Courtof Appeal. The

h  Held — The factors required 1o establish a duty of care in negligence wer ili
;)f garm {which, although a necessary ingredient, could not ﬁygitself, andea:.ﬁrocsnf::il‘:;lﬁ[y
ae;; (E)O gaﬁ:tr)i(softcarc) :Lnd :i close ar:jd di?:ct relationship of proximity between the partit]z’s:

¢  rise to such a duty, and only rarely would i
public policy required the exclusion o{‘ liabil);ty for btl!::ic%lrélf]ill;glltleas‘ifl:: Ofr;;rlheth;;

_ considered. On the facts, the crucial question was whether here existed b)::lwccmth

[ commissioner a_nd would-be depositors such a close and direct relationship as to lacll lhe
commissioner, in the exercise of his powers under the ordinance, under a du[P of ¢ :
1oward§ would-be depositors. Although it was reasonably f(;reseeable !hz[ if ph
uncrednworth)f cempany were to be placed on or allowed to remain on the regi tan
lf)ersons w_-}}o might deposit money with it would be at risk of losing their mone %ns e
oreseeability of that harm did not of itself create sufficient proximity belwzén ICI::

v i
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itors for a duty of care to arise, since the commissioner dismissing their appeal from thejudgment of Jones | ir{ the SuPreme C_our( of H(Img
commissioner and would be clepé)suors Oar E:zmer{[ of deposi[-[ak'ing companics and also g a Kongono July 1985 ordering thar their statement of ¢laim allegmg negligence against
had no cont_rol over lhq c_lay-lo- ay 1Pandg ositors in deciding whether to deregister a the res:pc?ndenr, the Atlpmeyl General of: Hong Kong, acting on behalf of th.c
had to consider the position of existing ,EIP lationshin between the commissioner and Commissioner for Deposit-taking Companies, be struck out on the ground that it
company. Accorc:;ngly, lhelre was ?ﬁi?:foc:::rr:nd woul(li:’-be depositors capable of giving glsclgsed no reasonable cause of action. The facts are set out in the judgment of the
the company or between the com Ta p e Y e oard,
; ssioner to the appellants. Fur s
rise to a duty of care owed by the commi | . h as to
ordinance ha{‘l not instituted a far-reachdlnlg am?l SIr{:?gem Su[r::;:elzlg,':,:g :{()el:::ds:lc]d fully b b Michael Belof} QC, Nicholas Pirie {of the Hong Kong Bar) and Paul Stinchcombe for the

i ister eposit-taking com ) ! ant
warrant an assumption that all registered ¢ ! fact of lion as a appellants.
\ ) ' act of registration k i e

creditworthy, and accordingly the appellams rchﬂ"!ﬁe;nrle;?::mgle nor j%stiﬁablc- nor TheAuorney General of Hong Kong (Michael Thomas QC), Nigel Jacobs with him, in his own
guaraniee of the soundness of the company was nei behalf

iance if it existed.
should the commissioner reasonably be expected to know of such relianc

: ; i chto
The appeal would therefore be dismissed (sce p 710 ftoj, p 712¢d jto 713 fre 714 to June. The following judgment of the Board was delivered,

i, post). ‘ LR ¢ ¢
i PDon)ng’I fie tor A«I'Alis{cr) v Stevenson [1932] All E:; ?:3[16[3 ,] S;nxllll ‘:5 I}iw;; 5(.1 1?11 3:8_[1(7; ; LORD KEITH OF KINKEL. This is an appeal from an order of the Court of Appeal
256, Hedley Byrne & Co Ltd v Heller & Partners fL:rd Wilberforce in Anns v Merton of Hong Kong (Huggins V-P, Fuad and Kempster JJA) made on 7 March 1985, whereby
Derset Yacht Co Ltd [1970] 2 {\Il ER 294, dI.ClU}I!'n ;)S Lid v Veitchi Co Ltd [1982] 3 All ER that court dismissed an appFal by rhe plaintiffs (the present ap'pell?ms) against an or.der’
Landon Borough {1977] 2 A!I LR at 498, Jimier Bool R 1 and Hill v Chief Constable of West dated o July 1985 of Jones ] in the High Court of Hong Kong directing chat the plaintifls
201, Sutherland Shire Council v Heyman (1985) 60 ALR 1 an statement of claim be struck out under RSC Ord 18, r 19 as disclosing no reasonable
Yorkshive{ 198771 All ER 1173 considered. d cause of action. The appeal is brought with leave of the Court of Appeal.
N The appeHants are four residents in Hong Kong who berween August and December
otes . . . to take care, see 34 1982 made substanrial deposits with a re istered deposit-taking company called American
For. neg]igence in relation fo .statutory. ﬁ;"ﬁ:,'.oﬁfq:s"gntl:ﬁcdigjcc., see 36(1} Digest and Panama Finance Co IL).td. The comﬁany went Ii)nm quuidgation 2?1 35 February 1983
}Ialsbur{ s Laws (41h t;d") paras 4-7, an - and as a result the appellants have lost all the money which they deposited with it, The
{Reissuc) 17-55, 34-117.

. . ;';‘5pon3den;js [hé Auornf:y C’?‘E
ferred to in judgment eposit-taking Companies,
fnar:seir:l;::: Lorldoniim‘tﬁfgh [1977]2 AlLER 492, 1978} AC 728, [1977] 2 WLR 1024,

eral of Hong Kong as representing the Commissioner of
e appellants’ claim against him is for damages on the
ground of negligence in the discharge of the commissioner's functions under the Deposit-
L. taking Companies Qrdinance (cap 328). An alternative ground of breach of statugory

o 83) 148 DLR (3d) 1, Fed CA. o duty was not argued. The damages claimed are quantified by reference to the amount of
Icg‘l:::fn:u 5 f\;(z'h‘?e)rrl“frflmlrf Ca-ownership Housing Asseciation Lt [1987] 2 All ER 13, [1987] the appellants’ lost deposits with interest at the rates contracted for.,

2 WLR 1043, HL. ) AC 108, HIL f Thl;: or(girlallc? was Erig_irl]ally c(-.in'actcd in 1976 and has since been amended on a
Cutler v Wandsworth Stadium [ 1949] 1 All ER 544, [1949] 394, FlL. number of occasions. The title reads:

Donaghue {or M*Alister) v Stevensen [1932] AC s62,[1932] ANl ER Rep 1, HL.

: .[1964] AC 465, [1963] To regulate the taking of money on deposit and to make provision for the
Hedley Byrne & Co Lid v Heller & Partiers Hid[1963]2 Al ER 575, [1964] protection of persons who deposit meney and for the regulation of deposit-taking
WLR 101, HL. ' . business for monetary policy purposes.’
Hif? v Chief Constable of West Yorkshire [1987) 1 Al ER 1173, [1987] 2 WLR 1126, (-:A\;VLR - yponeyp P . .
Home Office v [orset Yacht Co Ltd [1970] 2 All £R 204, [1970] AC 1004, {1970] 2 By s 34 of the ordinance the Commissioner of Banking (appointed under s 4 of the
¢ 1140, L. g g B;ml;_i rllg Orjinance) is1 appointed tl;) be ?ornn?is§ioncr of}ll)cpolfft-takij'ncfg Co:ppanizs. l:’ar[
SN ALR 417, Aust HC. Il of the ordinance places a number of restrictions on the ta ing of deposits, and these
';r::,::::};i:‘tk(:rl'r :}\J(\-l 323.);.4({ ud; - 9751] 3 AILER 201,[1983]1 AC 520, [1982] 3 WLR 477,

are fortified by criminal sanctions. In particufar, 5 6(1) prohibits the carrying on of the

" business of taking deposits except by a company which is either a registered deposit-
Leigh o Sillavan Ltd v Alikimon Shipping Co Ltd, The Aliakmon [19861 2 Al ER 145, [1986] taking company or a licensed deposit-taking company. Part IV deals with the registration

gl O 1982) 3 AlLER 398 (199331 AC o L1o8e]s iR sia i | Fdepositaking compunies,equiving by R ooy« o ol b

. in v Q'Brian [19f82] 2 All ER 298, {19831 [ TR accompanied by vari cuments r ng L n ness. < )
;\:l.l i[‘,‘zl;g-hfh)n\.: a?m?: ;'Hu:ln[d (9(.‘0\~]ernm's) v Sir Lindsay Parkinson & Co Ltd [1984] 3 All ER 529, provides for the registration by the commissioner of a company as a deposit-taking
uE |(|;é‘t;] :\(:: sro Lrobals WIRosn L . company on receipt of an application satisl')_(iug 59, bur s 1o(2) requires him to refuse
Romdel v Worsley ['u)ﬁ;-] 3 AlLER 093, [1969] 1 AC 191, [1967] 3 WLR 1666, 111.. registration in a number of circumstances including, by para (e), 'if it appears to the
p ‘ 'fl" o Lewrs ( 1045) 70 CLR 256, Aust 1C. Commissioner rhar, by reason of any circumstances whatsoever, the comipany is not a fit
\qm: Imf'(('urrnst‘\' v Pirth (1981) (No 10 (Civil)), Guernsey CA. i i and proper body to be registered’, Under s 12 the commissioner is to maintain a register
}1-["”"; ,‘,,,'f Shire Couneil v eyman {1985) 6o ALR v, Aust HC, of deposit-taking compaies, The register is to be open to inspection by members of the
et ; public, along with documents lodged by the company on application for registration or

- 058 balance
b et ot g oottt S A
the Pl‘lm“”f"l" o lmi:)f\ weal of Inng,Kong given on 1 May 1986 from the decision ) ports. q
with leave of the Court of Appea

ddcpﬂsl[- a Illg C(]mpanies Under
7 h |98( ICaS( once a y a [h ames o, a" I'Cng[E]“C t k
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s 14 the commissioner may, subject to giving the company an oppo‘rtumty_of malf}ng
representations, revoke the registration of a depns!t-taklng.cpmpany in certain SPFG lei
events. These include (para (d)) Tif ] it appears to him thar (i) the company is not a litand
sroper hody to be registered’, o .
l Pr;rt v c{)mains c?etailed provisions in regard to the obligations of deposu:[‘akmg
companies, fenced with criminal sanctions. These include: s17: to [l‘(I;dg": acconnis
annually with the commissioner; s 18: to exhibit accounts at eacl_l p_lacc of business; s 1?0
to notify the commissioner of certain changes by the company in its bus.n.'n:ss,l ? 194: '
report to the commissioner if the company is likely (o be unable to meet its obligation
or if it is about to suspend payment ;s 20: to submit monthly reurns to the cor'mmsswn]er
showing its assets and liabilities rogether 'wu'h such furcher mf?rmat_m[p as [r:c
commissiocner may require, including anditor’s certificates; s 20a: to in t:-rmf [hc
commissioner, if so required, of shareholdings in any company exceeding 20% of t i
share capital; s 211 to refrain from representing that the company has‘been in ah:'ly rclzpf;c
approved by the government, the Financial Secretary or the commissioner, su JCC‘; o the
proviso that this prohibition is not contravened .by reason only that a st.atcmef'n is m: \
to the effect that a company is registered or licensed under the ordinance; s 214: _({
mainain certain reserves; s 218; to restrict the payment of dmdcnds.|f certain ﬁna}ncmr
criteria are not satisfied: s 21c¢: to refrain from makiqg advances against the security or
the company’s own shares; s 22: to refrain fron"n making to any one person orngr.(;u;;iz-
companies advances exceeding a certain praportion ofth? depomt:akmg co.mpamyr Rom
up capital and reserves; s 224: o refrain, when so required by ¢ cfcodmmlsswr:]a(ic om
making advances to a fareign bank; 5 23: to limit the am(-'mr?[ of advances ade (0 2
director of the company and certain other persons; s 234: IO‘llml[ the a_mou;nlo a fance
made to any one of the company’s employees; s 238:to limit the holdmg ofs ;‘aresca imy1
other company or companies so as not 1o E).(ce.ed in valuel 25% ofthe. paid-up s a;re ; Eo o
of the deposit-taking company; s 23¢: to limit the holding of any m[el;:sts in lan so s
not to exceed in aggregate value 15%. of .the pald-_up share lca.pnai ar}ul lggservefsc(;"ain
deposit-taking company; s 244: to maintain a all times a minimum holding o
i iquid assets. )
spelfa:?lﬂi/lllluf the ordinance, headed "Miscellaneous’, dea.ls with-a variety of matte;s.
including secrecy (s 25), criminal Iiabil‘gry for false or r_leghg‘en.t Fn|sr[¢;§lresent:_elst:::11(2:1.“:);
liability in tort for such misrepresentation (s l:Lg), criminal I1ab1|tt.y ol f}re:ctiol '[t[akin
officers (s 31), examination by the commissioner of the ‘affairls o arc. c||)(:(s)| . imcgr
company (s 314), rights of appeal to the Governor in C-_auncﬂl against rre L:isa s'[-[agkin
and revocation or suspension of regis(ral_mn (s‘ 34) and investigation o :a elp(i:vctl 1113%
company by a person appoinied by the TFinancial Secretary (s 38). It |Is to ]cs:,::]i[i dina
by amendment intreduced in 1083, after ll_le events giving rise o 1 ‘wl psre ! %r th(;
it is provided that no liability shall be incurred by the Financial (?creharg e
commissioner as a result of anything done or o(ml(ted r)o be done by him in the bona
i functions under the ordinance (see s 41). )
ex?’::?\?[lﬁ% the ordinance contains 3 number of provisions concerned w;th the
revocation and suspension of the regislratiqn of a deposn;-taku_'ng company. fUm erur; z::
the commissioner may suspend the registration of a deposu-_taklng company dO:uLIIJEect 4
days in circumstances of urgency, and under s 46 he may in other cases an s uilrcs o
s 47 suspend registration for a period not exceeding six mfc'Jmh.s. Scct.nt)n ;;n isqrevoked
opportunity of being heard to be aflorded toa company before its ng13 ra on s revoked
or suspended. Section 49 provides for publication in the Gazette of notice
S101. . .

" ;:llsﬁfgir amended statement of claim, the averments in wh1c'h must ..f'ordpre(s’:;:;
purposes be taken to be true, the appellants say that they made their respective dep
with the American and Panama Finance Co Lid—

‘in reliance upon the fact thar the Company had been registered by the

PC Yuen Kun-yeu v A-G of Hong Kong (Lord Keith) 709

Commissioner under the Ordinance and that (i) the Company was therefore a fit

a and proper body to be registered; (ii) the Company was therefore subject to Lthe
prudential supervision of the Commissioner; (iii) the Company would continue 1o
be subject of such prudential supervision, and did so continue .. .

and also in reliance on certain statements by the Financial Secretary and the commissioner
which led the appellants to believe in the financial probity of deposit-taking companies
(including the company) and in the commissioner's powers actually to control and
regulate them,

The statement of claim goes on to detail a large number of matrers connected with the
affairs of the company between 1980 (when it was registered by the commissioner) and
the end of 1082 which are alleged to indicate thar these affairs were being conducted
fraudulently, speculatively and 1o the detriment of depositors with it.

The allegations of fault against the comnuissioner are, in substance, that he knew or

€ ought to have known, had he taken reasonable care, that the affairs of the company were
being conducted fraudulently, speculatively and to the detriment of its depositors; that
he failed to exercise his powers under the ordinance so as to secure that the company
complied with the obligations and restrictions thereby imposed on it (a considerable
numbser of which are alleged 10 have been breached) and that he should either never have

d registered the company as a deposit-taking company or have revoked its registration
before the appellants made their respective deposits with it, so as to save them from
losing their money when the company eventually went into liquidation.

The issues in the appeal raise important issues of principle, having far-reaching
implications as regards the potential liability in negligence of a wide variety of regulatory
agencies carried on under the aegis of central or lacal government and also 1o some extent
by non-governmental bodies. Such agencies are in modern times becoring an
increasingly familiar feature of the financial, commercial, industrial and social scene.

The foremost question of principle is whether in the present case the commissioner
owed to members of the public who might be minded to deposit their money with
deposit-taking companies in Hong Kong a duty, in the discharge of his supervisory
powers under the ardinance, to exercise reasonable care to see that such members of the

 public did not suffer lass through the affairs of such companies being carried on by their
managers in a fraudulent or improvident fashion. That question is one of law, which is
capable of being answered on the averments, assumed 1o be true, comained in the
appellants’ pleadings. If it is answered in the negative, the appellants have no reasonable
cause of action, and their statement of claim was rightly struck out.
The argument for the appellants in favour of an affirmative answer 1o the question
started from the familiar passage in the speech of Lord Wilberfurce in Anns v Merton
London Borouglh [1977]2 All ER 492 at 498, [1978]AC 728 at 751;

‘Through the trilogy of cases in this House, Donoghuie v Stevenson [1932) AC 562,
[1932) All ER Rep 1, Hedley Byrne ér Co Ltd v Heller & Partners Ltd {1961]2 All ER
575:[1964} AC 465 and Home Office v Dorset Yacht Co Ltd {1970}z AHER 294,[1970]

5 AC 1004, the paosition has now been reached that in order to establish that a duty of

care arises in a particular situation, ir is not necessary (o bring the facts of that
situation within those of previous situations in which a duty of care has been hetd
to exist. Rather the question has to be approached in two stages. First one has to ask
whether, as between the alleged wrongdoer and the person who has suffered damage
there is a sufficient relationship of proximity or neighbourhood such that, in the

p reasonable contemplation of the former, carelessness on his part may be likely 10

cause damage to the latter, in which case a prima facic duty of care arises. Secondly,
if the first question is answered affirmatively, it is necessary 1o consider whether
there are any considerations which eught to negative, or to reduce or limit the scope

of the duty or the class of person to whom it is owed or the damages 1o which a
breach of it may give rise . ..’
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This passage lias been treated with some reservation in subsequent cases in the House
of Lords, in particular by Lord Keith in Governors of the Peabody Donation Fund v Sir a
Lindsay Parkinson ¢ Co Ltd [1984] 3 All ER 520 at 534, [1985] AC 210 at 240, by Lord
Brandon in Leigh ¢r Sillavan Ltd v Aliakmon Shipping Co Ltd [1986] 2 All ER 145 at 153,
[1986] AC 785 at 815 and by Lord Bridge in Curran v Northern Ireland Co-ownership
Housing Asseciation Ltd [1987]} 2 AILER 13at 17,[1987] 2 WLR 1043 at 1047-1048. The
speeches containing these reservations were concurred in by all the other members of the
House who were party to the decisions. In Sutherland Shire Council v Heyman {1985} 6c b
ALR 1 Brennan | in the High Court of Australia indicated his disagreement with the
nature of the appreach indicated by Lord Wilberforce, saying (at 43-44):

‘Of course, if foreseeability of injury to another were the exhaustive criterion of a
prima facie duty to act to prevent the occurrence of that injury, it would be essential
t0 introduce some kind of restrictive qualification—perhaps a qualification of the
kind stated in the second stage of the general proposition in Anns, 1 am unable to
accept that approach. it is preferable, in my view, that the law should develop novel
categories of negligence incrementally and by analogy with established categories,
rather than by a massive extension of a prima facie duty of care restrained only by
indefinable “considerations which ought ta negative, or to reduce or limit the scope
of the duty or the ctass of person to whoin it is owed”. The proper role of the "second g
stage”, as | atempted to explain in jaensch v Coffey (1984) 54 ALR 417 at 437),
embraces no more than “those further elements Tin addition to the neighbour
principle} which are appropriate to the particular category of negligence and which
confine the duty of care within narrower limits than those which would be defined by

I}

an unqualified application of the neighbour principle™.” (My emphasis.)

Their Lordships venture to think that the two-stage test formulated by Lord &
Wilberforce for determining the existence of a duty of care in negligence has been
elevated to a degree of importance greater than it merits, and greater perhaps than its
author intended. Further, the expression of the first stage of the test carries with ita risk
of misinterpretation. As Gibbs C] pointed out in Sutherland Shire Council v Heyman (at 13}
there are two possible views of what Lord Wilberforce meant. The first view, favoured
in a number of cases mentioned by Gibbs CJ, is that he meant to test the sufficiency of
proximity simply by the reasonable contemplation of likely harm. The second view,
favoured by Gibbs C) himself, is'that Lord Wilberforce meant the expression ‘proximity
or neighbourhood’ 1o be a composite one, importing the whole concept of necessary
relationship between plaintifl and defendant described by Lord Atkin in Donoghue v
Stevenson [1932] AC 562 at 580, [1932] All ER Rep 1 at 11 In their Lordships’” opinion
the second view is the correct one. As Lord Wilberforce himself observed in McLaughlin
vO'Brian[1982] 2 AlLER 298 at 303, {19833 1 AC 410 at 420, it is clear that foreseeability
does not of itself, and automatically, lead to a duty of care. There are many other
statements to the same effect. The truth is that the trilogy of cases referred to by Lord
Wilberforce each demonstrate particular sets of circumnstances, differing in character,
which were adjudged to have the effect of bringing into being a relationship apt to give p
rise 1o a duty of care. Foreseeability of harm is a necessary ingredient of such a
relationship, but it is not the only onc. Otherwise there would be liability in negligence
on the part of one who sees another about to walk over a cliff wich his head in the air,
and forbears 1o shout a warning.

Donaghe v Stevenson established that the manufacrurer of a consumabte product who
carried on business in such a way that the product reached the consumer in the shape in
which it left the manufacturer, without any prospect of intermediate examination, owed
the consumer a duty to take reasonable care that the product was free from defect likely
to cause injury o health. The speech of Lord Atkin stressed not only the requirement of
foreseeability of harm but also that of a close and direct relationship of proximity. The

relevant passages are;

PC Yuen Kun-yeu v A-G of Hong Kong (Lord Keith) }1 1

o c\;voilé)l, [:cg.é{l lau{ is my neighbour? The answer scems to be—persons who are
y and directly affected by my act that [ ought reasonably to have them in

cont i i i
templation as being so.affccted when [ am directing my mind to the acis or
omissions which are called in question.’

(Seel1932]1AC 562 at 580,[1932] AILER Rep 1 at 11.,)

ph;fs[ilgii?};):(l)]:i[r:]l'l:s stlJ]fﬁcLemly (silates the truth if proximity be not confined to mere
ity, but be used, as [ think it was inter

C . ' nded, 1o extend to such close
and direct relations that the act complained of directly affects a person whom the

person atleged 1o be b i
per care]essgact,‘ ¢ bound 10 take care would know would be directly affecred by

(See[1932] AC 526 at 581, [1932] AH ER Reprariz)

“There will no doubr ari w i i 0 determtine wnether
rise cases where it will be difficult ! i €
. - L t 3 mn heth
the contcmplated l‘Cla[lOHShlp is so close that the duty arises.” [

(SeE[lgsz] ff\C 562 at 582,[1932} All Rep 1 at 12.)
ol oln-]?e?;km cl;ﬁ}r_ly had in contemplation that all the circumstances of the case, not
th'mcr " ;eseea f| ity of harm, were appropriate to be taken into account in detcrmi!ning
Facehe [192% ?qéarg arose. Hedley B_)érne & Co Ltd v Heller ¢ Partners Lid [1963] 2 All
, 465 was concerned with the assumption of ibili
facts of the case no liabilit i Pty oy he aiice s,
y was held o exist because responsibility f ice gi
had been disclaimed, but there w i e tha 1 e of e Bl
R as established the principle that a d f i
where a party is asked for and gi i it an a matter within his particular
: Bives gratuitous advice on a matter within his particul
;lé::czr‘icir;low;edge fand Lmows or ought to have known thar the person askinpgarf(::l:l::
rety on it and act accordingly. -In such a case the directn
/ | ; ess and closen
[rtl;?rg:lla;u:‘l;lslgg I;cgtwe[en th; Xgues are very apparent. Dorset Yacht Co Ltd v Home E)Sjsﬁcc){
g 4, [1970 1004 was an example of the kind of siwari
special relationship between a defendant and a thi B ves rie 01 oy o the ooy
third party gives ri d
of the defendant 1o take reasonable care t ; D thE party s s om b et
! o control the third party so as 1o hi
causing damage to the plaintiff. Some borstal be d T s sion o prison
officers, were encamped on an island off whi s were ol Sonion of prison
c ch yachis were moared. Some of the bo
in an attempt to escape from the island, boarded h - i 50 25 t0
Garmage amorber. prape from the island, ed a yacht and manoeuvred it so as to
: ] y thing that might reasonably be fi i
happen if the prison officers did not t o the s e
ake reasonable care to ¢ | th iviti
boys. The relationship of the officers 10 e e ot e
[ the boys was analogous to that between
. . . . [
ar61d children, a rcfanon'sh'lp de:scnbed by Dixon J in Smith v Leurs (1945) 70 CLRP:;?;
261262 as capable of giving rise to a duty of control, saying:

For.t.h.ea}lalirt frgm vicarious responstblluy, one man may be responsible to another
ey :h;?:hco:ci :)(; :ll:: tl;[i“é]r by a thlrdl gersol;; he may be responsible on the
rd person could not have tak i
‘!3;]1!( I?r breach of duty,l There is more than one dcscripti;.: ggagﬁtl;utlh‘;ﬂgg:c?lv;?
rcfgenzjal):) }!)Lci)gusceinthisf consequence. For instance, it may be a duty of care in
referenc (0 the Contrclof ctions o <onguet o (he thed poscn - ercouer
1 ; ¢ ct of the third person. It is, however
:l::;zlz]pg:?;a_}]t:: ﬁzgelgllhellayv a]du[y to control another’s actions to prevent harm to
surange prew:n:g,his dm::: CdIS that one man is l_mdcr no duty of controlling another
ran ¢ ] g damage to a third. There are, however, special relations
which are the source of a duty of this nature. It appears now 10 be recognized (hat it
is incumbent upon a parent who maintains control over a young {‘;hilii o ak
reasonable care so to exercise that control as to avoid conduct on hi? I ex osin‘E
[h'.: person or property of others to unreasonable danger. Parental conitx:ol wﬁere ngl
exists, must be exercised with due care to prevent the child inflicting inlten:ional
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damage on athers or causing damage by conduct involving unreasonable risk of

injury to others.” . a

1t is true that in the Derset Yacht case a question arose whether t!'nc _decisl(‘)n oflhf:rl—logne
Office to give borstal boys a measure of freedom in order to assist in their rehabi 1;)3}[10:}
fell within the ambit of a discretionary power the exercise of which was n?t }c]apafﬁc 0

being called in question. But that question did not reach into the conducr of the officers

who were in charge of the boys in the circumstances prevailing on the island. Having b

regard 10 these circumstances, it was not difficult 10 arrive, as a mateer oFJudgmcnt,lal
the conclusion that a close and direct relationship of proximity existed belweelflll he
officers and the owners of the yachts, sufficient to requ'&re tlu?_formcr, as a matter of law,
1o take reasonable care to prevent the boys from interfering with the yachtsand damaging
hem. .
I The second stage of Lord Wilberforce's test is one which wil! rarely have to be apphed%
It can arise only in a limited category of cases whe_re, nqlw:lhst?ndlng lh;[ a c?lse ?d
negligence is made out on the proximity basis, public policy requires that :i iere‘:/o?ﬁe
be no liability. One of the rare cases where that has bc,en held to be so is ?onb: v f()::',
[1967] 3 All ER o993, [1969} 1 AC 191, dealing with the liability of a barrister

i i ings i i i ion was
negligence in the conduct of proceedings in court. Such a policy considerat d

invoked in Hill v Chief Constable of West Yorkshire{lgil?:ll 1 All ER 1173, 198712 WLR
1126, In1hat case the mother of the last victin of a notorious murderer of young womcn(i
who was not apprehended untit alier he had perpetrated 13 murders and_B auem})tﬁ_
murders, sued the chief constable of the area on the grounds of the negllgcnlcle of his
force in failing to apprehend the murderer before the death of her daughter. The Court

i isclosi 1se of action
of Appeal struck out the statement of claim as disclosing no reasonable cause " e

inci ionshi roximi isted berween the police
on the principal ground that no relationship ofp:_oxnm:ty had existed b !
and lhepdecea‘;cdggir!. Glidewell Lj, however, in a judgment concurred in by Sir Rou.alcyn
Cumming-Bruce, said ([1987] 1 Al ER 1173 at 1183, [1987] 2 WLR 126 at 1140):

'If the police were liable to be sued for negligence in the investigation of crul:u:
which has allowed the criminal to commit further crimes, it must be exgecu:d that
actions in this field would not be uncommon. Investigative Polu:c work isa mﬁuer
of judgment, ofien no doubt dictated by experience or instinct. The thrcaf t ar[ a
decision, which in the end proved to be wrong, might result in an.acuc;n hor
damages would be likely 1o have an inhibiting cﬂ:ect on the exc.rcliscfo that
judgment. The trial of such actions would very often lnvc?lvc the retrial o ma[tm:
which had already been tried at the Crown Cc?urt. W‘hlle no doubt many sucld
actions would fail, preparing for and taking part in the I]'li.ll of such an acr;on wp;:
inevitably involve considerable work and time for a police force, ;'nd thus e“]'c;
reduce the manpower available to detect crime or increase expenditure on polic
services. In short, the reasons for holding that the police are immune froman a::inf?n
of this kind are similar to those for holding that a barrister may not be sue p?lli
negligence in his conduct of proceedings in court: see Rondel v Worsley [1967] 3

FRyo3,[1969] 1 AC 191}

In view of the direction in which the taw has since been developing, rh‘elr Lordlslnps
consider that for the future it should be recognised that the two-stage !estdm Amtls is not
1o be regarded as in all circumstances a suitable guu_ic to t.he existence of; ]uty ;:)n r;aln;‘er.he

The primary and all-important matter for consideration, ther}, is whet 131' ! the
circumstances of this case there existed between t}‘le commissioner and wou o
depositors with the company such close and direct relations as to place the comrswswzld:
in the exercise of his functions under the ordinance, undera du[}[ of care towar si:m: -
be depositors. Among the circumstances of the case to be taken 1mol?ccounits;[sn: f%r one
of the purposes of the ordinance (though not the only one) was to make prov

o

~2
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protection of persons who deposit money. The restrictions and obligations placed on
registered deposit-taking companies, fenced by criminal sanctions, in themselves went a
long way 1o secure that object. But the discretion Biven to the commissioner to register
or deregister such companies, so as effectively to confer or remove the right to do
business, was also an important part of the protection afforded. No doubt it was
reasonably foresecable by the commissioner that, if an uncreditworthy company were
placed on or allowed to remain on the register, persons who might in the future deposit
money with it would be at risk of losing that money. But mere {oresceability of harm
does not create a duty, and future would-be depositors cannot be regarded as the onty
persons whom the commissioner should properly have in contemplation. In considering
the question of removal from the register, the immediate and probably disastrous effect
on existing depositors would be a very relevant factor. It might be a very delicate choice
whether the best course was to deregister a company forthwith or o allow it to continue
in business with some hope that, after appropriate measures by the management, its
financial position would improve. It must not be overlooked that the power to refuse
registration, and 1o revoke or suspend it, is quasi-judicial in character, as is demonstrated
by the right of appeal to the Governor in Council conferred on companies by s 34 of the
ordinance, and the right to be heard by the commissioner conferred by s47. The
commissioner did not have any power to control the day-to-day management of any
company, and such a task would require immense resources. 11is power was limited to
putting it out of business or allowing it to continue. No doubt recognition by the
company that the commissioner had power to put it out of business would be a powerful
incentive impelling the company to carry on its affairs in a respensible manner, but if
those in charge were determined on fraud it is doubtful if any supervision could be close
enouigh to prevent it in time to forestall loss to depositors. n these circumstances their
Lordships are unable to discern any intention on the part of the tegislature that in
considering whether to register or deregister a company the commissioner should owe
any statutory duty to potential depositors. It would be strange that a common law duty
of care should be superimposed on such a statutory framework.

On the appellants’ case as pleaded the immediate cause of the loss suffered by the
appellants in this case was the conduct of the managers of the company in carrying on its
business fradulendy, improvidently and in breach of many of the provisions of the
ordinance, Another cause was the action of the appellants in depositing their money
with a company which in the event turned out 1o be uncreditworthy. Considerable
information about the company was available from the documents required by the
ordinance 1o be open to public inspection, and no doubt advice could have been readity
obtained from investment advisers in Hong Kong. Before the appellanis deposited their
money with the company there was no relationship of any kind between them and the
commissioner. They were simply a few among the many inhabitanis of Hong Kong who
might choose to deposit their money with thar or any other deposit-taking company,
The class to whom the commissioner’s duty is alleged to have been owed must include
all such inhabitants. It is true, however, that according to the appellants’ averments there
had been available to him information about the company’s affairs which was nor
available to the public and which raised serious doubs, to say the least of it, about the
company’s stability. That raises the question whether there existed between the
commissioner and the company and its managers a special relationship of the nature
described by Dixon | in Smith v Leurs (1945) 70 CLR 256, and siich as was held o exist
between the prison officers and the borstal boys in the Dorset Yacht case [1970]2 All ER
294, [1970] AC 1004, s0 as (o give rise to a duty on the commissioner to take reasonable
care to prevent the company and its managers (rom causing financial loss to persons who
might subsequently deposit with i,

In contradistinction to the position ia the Dorset Yacht case, the commissioner had no
power to control the day-to-day activitics of thuse who caused the loss and damage, A
has been mentioned, the commissioner had power only ta stop the company carrying an
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husiness, and the decision whether or notto do so was clearly wcllw_ilhin the discretionary the appellants, The earlier in date is States of Guernsey v Firth (1981) {No ro (Civil)), a
sphere of his functions. In their Lordships’ opinion the circumstance that the g a decisi.on of the Guernsey Court of Appeal (Civil Division) on the defendants’ appiicati;n
commissioner had, on the appellants’ averments, cggﬁnt. reason [0 Susp?ﬂ that the o SmkF out the plaintiff’s statement of claim as not disclosing any cause of action. The
company's business was heing carried on fraudulently and .mprowdcmly did not Cf_ct;ilz Prolection of Delpositors (Bailiwick of Guernsey) Ordinance 1971 made it an offence to
a special relationship between the commissioner and the company ofll"lc nature describe carry on the bus,ness of accepting money on deposit unless the person carrying on such
in che authorities. They are also of opinion that no special relationship exfs[ed.betwecn business was registered by the States Advisory and Finance Committee. Section 13 of the
the commissioner amd those unascertained members of the public whn_mlghl in future ordinance required the comumnittee from time 1o time to publish the narmes and addresses
become exposed to the risk of financial loss through depositing money with the C‘““l‘““g- b h of i}ll rcgis'lcrcd persons. According to the statement of clain a certain company was
Accordingly, their Lordships do not consider. that the comrms'sloner owed to t JC registered in 1972 and continued to be so until 31 December 1976. The commitee did
appellants any duty of care on the principle which formed the ratio of the Dorset Yacht not renew the company's registration for 1977, but did not at any time between 1 January
case. To hark back to Lord Atkin’s words, there were not such close and direct relations t977 and 31 December 1978 publish a list of registered persons. In the mean time the
between the commissioner and the appellants as to give rise 10 the duty of care company continued to carry on business illegally and the plaintiff deposited money with
desiderated. - . it, which s!le lost when the company went into liquidation in Decemnber 1978, She sued
The appellants, however, advanced an argument based on their ;_!verment Of llIaffmlg ¢ c the.commntee for damages in respect of the loss on the ground of the latter’s breach of
retied on the regisrration of the company when they deposited their money with L. 1t their duty under s 13 of the ordinance in failing to publish any list of registered persons
was said that registration amounted 1o a seal of approval of the company, %{ﬂd that 1;)’ during the two years in question. The Court of Appeal (Sir Godfray Le Quesne QC, | J
registering the company and allowing the registration to :ftand the commissioner rPahc Clyde QC and Leonard Hoffmann QC) decided that on a proper construction of 5 13 the
a continuing representation that the company was creditworthy. In the light of the committee was under a mandatory duty to publish lists of registered persons as often as
information in the commissioners possession that representation was made negligently d might be necessary to keep the public reasonably informed, and further, applying Cutler

d v Wandsworth Stadium [1949] 1 All ER 544, [1949] AC 398, that the section gave a right

and led 10y the appellant’s loss, ' .
of action to any depositor who might suffer loss through its breach. Accordingly the

In Hedley Byrne & Co Lid v Heller & Partners Lid [1963] 2 A ER 575, {1964] AC 465

the House of lLords held thar a negligent misrepresentation abou.t a customers plaintiff had a cause of action against the committee. The decision was concerned with
creditworthiness, given in answer [0 an inquiry, might give rise to a claim fgr damag}:‘s the construction of an enactment imposing a specific statutory duty which was alleged 1o
a1 the instance of the party making the inquiry .who. ha‘d forc':seeab!y relied on the have been breached. Their Lordships therefore do not consider it 10 be in point for the
representation and suffered financial loss thereby. Likewise in Junior Books Ltd v.Ve{ncln Cl;o R . purposes of the present appeal, which is concerned with the existence of a common law
Lid[1982] 3 AL ER 201, [1983] 1 AC 520 it was held thar a‘nqmmated specialist sub- duty of care, and do not think it appropriate to express any opinion as to its correctness.
contractor might be liable for economic loss caused to the building owner by negligent The SFCO“d case is Baird v R (1983) 148 DLR (3d) 1, a decision of the Federal Court of
erformance of the sub-contracted work, in circumstances wherel the building owncr Appe?l in Canada. That case too was concerned with the question whether the plaindff's
had, to the sub-contractor’s knowledge, relied on his skili and experience. These deu'su.)ns pleadings should be struck ot as not disclosing a reasonable cause of action. The question
turned on the voluntary assumption of responsibility towards a particular party, giving was ar?swered in t!)e negative, on the ground that it was not “plain and obvious beyond
rise 10 a special relationship. Lord Devlin in the Hedley Byrne case [1963] 2 AlLER 575 at f doubr’ that the plaintiffs could not succeed. In that case also the plaintiffs had lost money
611, 10964} AC 465 ar 530 proceeded on the proposition that wherever there is a which they had deposited with a company subject to licensing, inspection and regulation
refationship equivalent roa contradt, there is a duty of care. in the present case there WIHS under statute, the Trust Companies Act, RSC 1970. That Act placed various duties and
clearly no voluntary assumption by the cominissioner of any responsibility mwn}:ds !I\e anfcrrcd certain func‘uons in relation to companies within its scope on the Minister of
appellants in relation to the affairs of the company. It was argued, h(')wcyer. thar the Finance and the Superintendent of Insurance. It was alleged that both these functionaries
effecr of the ordinance was 1o place such a responsibility on him. l"hmr. 1.ordsh1ps liad failed to perform or negligently performed their statutory duties in a number of
consider that the ordinance placed a duty on the cmnmismqner o sup.tr_v!sc dcposl(;- respects as regan:ds the company in question, A number of issues of principle were
taking companies in the general public inrerest, but no special responsibility lmtyar s discussed in the judgment of Le Dain J, but he preferred to leave the final decision on
individual members of the public. His position is analogous to that of a police lorce, them until :_after. trial on the merits. In these circumstances, and considering that the
which it Hill  Chief Censtable of West Yorkshire [1087] 1t AHER n73,[|987]2WLI_l 1126 rele\.:am Iegnsla'non thelfe was different in important respects from the Hong Kong
was held to owe no duty towards individual polcmial'victims of crime. Tl_)c nrd1r};nce Ordinance, their Lordships hgve not derived material assistance from the case.
was designed to give added protection to the public against unscrupulous or lmprovli et;(; The final matter for copsndel:a(:on is th.e argument for the Attorney General that it
managers of deposit-taking companies, but it cannot reasonably be regarded. nor should woulc! bc-contrzfry o p}xblic polle to admit the appellants’ claim, on grounds similar to
it have been by any investor, as having instituted such a I'a::-reac}ung and stringent those l.ndlcated in relation to police forces by Glidewell L] in Hill v Chief Constable of West
system of supervision as (o warrant an assumptim?thatall flep0§ll-takmgCO"‘P"F“’-IS were Yorkshire (1987} 1 All ER 1173, [1087] 2 WLR 1126. It was maintained that, if the
sound and fully creditworthy. While the investing public might reasanably fee some commiissioner were [0 be held to owe actual or potential depositors a duty of care in
confidence that the provisions of the ordinance as a whole went a long way to protect negligence, there would be reason (o apprehend that the prospect’of claims would have a
their interests, reliance on the fact of regisiration as a guarantee of the soundness ofl a ' senogsly inhibiting ef!'ect on the work of his department, A sound judgment would be
panticular company woutd bhe neither reasonable nor Jusu'ﬁ{uble,_ nor SI??HF?' IIC : less likely to be exercised if the commissioner were (o be constantly looking over his
carmmissioner reasonably be expected to know of such reliance, ilit EKIS‘I(‘.I.I.. According l); shoulder a the prospect of claims against hin, and his activities would be likely 10 be
their Lordships are wnable to accept the appellants’ arguments about reliance asapt, ina cclmducte_d ina deinmcntal[y defensive frame of mind. In the resulr, the effectiveness of
the circumstances, to establish a special relationship berween them and the commiissioner his functions would be at risk of diminution. Consciousness of potential liability could

such as to give rise to a dury of care. lead to distortions of judgment. In addition, the principles leading to his Hability would
Consideration is due o two cases in different jurisdictions which were founded on by surely be equally applicable to a wide range of regulatory agencies, not only in che
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financiat field, but also, for example, 1o the factory inspectorate and social workers, to

name only a few. I such liability were to be desirable on any policy grounds, it would be 3

much beter that the liability were to be introduced by the legislature, which is better
suited than the judiciary to weigh up competing policy considerations.

Their Lordships are of opinion that there is much force in these arguments, bur as
they are satisfied that the appellants' statement of claim does not disclose a cause of action
against the commissioner in negligence they prefer to rest their decision on that rather
than on the public policy argument.

For these reasons their Lordships will hanbly advise Her Majesty that the appeal

should be distnissed.
Appeal dismissed.

Solicitors: Phitip Conway Thomas ¢ Co (for the appellants); Macfarlanes (for the Attorney
General).

Mary Rose Plummer  Barrister.

Guinness Peat Properties Ltd and others v
Fitzroy Robinson Partnership (a firm)

COURT OF ARPEAL, CIVIL DIVISION
SLADE, WOOLF L]] AND SIR GEORGE WALLER
7,8, 15 APRIL 1987

Discovery — Legal professional privilege — Communication between defendant and insurers —
Dominant purpose for which document coming inte existence - Defendant receiving notice of claim
from plaintiffs — Defendant notifying insurers of elaim — Defendant required under lerms of
indenmity policy to notify insurers of claim — Whether defendant writing to insurers to fulfl
policy requiretnents or 1o enable fegal advice to be obtained to defend claim - Whether letter to

insurers privileged.

Privilege — Loss of privilege — Inadvertent disclosure of document on inspection — Whether
priviege lost if document inadvertently disclosed as the result of obvious mistake.

The first plaintills, who were building developers, engaged the defendants to act as
architects for the construction of an office building, which was later let to the second
plaintiffs. Subsequently, on 18 June 1984, the first plaintiffs notified the defendants of an
alleged design fault in part of the building and stated that they intended 10 hold the
defendants responsible for the cost of remedying the defect. On 27 June, in accordance
with the terms of their professional indemnity policy, the defendants wrote to their
insurers enclosing a copy of the first plaintfs’ claim and other relevant memoranda. The
defendants also expressed their own views on the merits of the claim and estimated the
cost of repairs at [ 50,000. The plainells later issued a writ against the defendants
claiming the costs of repairs and loss of rent. In the course of discovery in the action the
defendants’ solicitors imadvertently failed to claim privilege for the defendams’ letter of
27 June to the insurers and lefi it in the files of correspondence disclosed (o the plaintifls’
solicitors and experts, ane of whom teok a copy of the letter. When the defendants’
solicitors reatised that the letter had been disclosed they applied for an order restraining
the plaintifls from making any use of it at the trial. The judge held that the letter was
privileged and that that privilege had not been lost by reason of the fact that the letter
had been disclosed and inspected. The plaintiffs appealed, contending (i) that the

d
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defendants were not entitted 10 ¢laim privilege for the letter because the dominant
a purpose for which it was written was to comply with the requirements of their indemniny
policy, not for the purpose of obtaining legal advice or 1o assist in the conduct 0)['
titigation, and (ii) that once a privileged document was disclosed and inspected privilege
was irretrievably lost. l ’

p Held - The appeal would be dismissed for the following reasons-—
(1) The ‘dominan[ purpose for which a document was written was not necessarily 1o
l\)? determined by reference to the intention of the person who actually com‘[,;oscj it
Since the genesis of the letter was the insurers' need to receive immediate notification of
possible claims so that they could obtain legal advice, the dominant purpose for which
the letter was written was to obtain legal advice or 10 conduct or provided assistance in
the conduct of litigation which was at the time of its production in reasonable prospect;
and lhe. fact that the defendants, who wrote the letter, did so with the intention of
complying with the indemnity policy was irrelevant. Accordingly, the defendants would
have been entitled to claim privilege in respect of the letter (see p 723 c 10 g, p 724 a b
p725dtogand p 731 g h, post); dictumn of Barwick CJinGrant v Duwns(lg;?é) 135 CLR’
at 677, Waugh v British Rlys Board [1979] 2 Al ER 1169 and Re Highgrade Traders Lid
o [1984]1BCLC 151 applied; Jones v Great Central RlyCo[1510] AC 4 distinguished. ‘
(2) A!ll:mugh the general rule was that once 2 document had been inspected it was too
late to t:la:m privilege, the court had power, under its equitable jurisdiction, to intervene
if the inspection had been procured by fraud or if the inspecting party realised, on
inspection, that he had been permitted to see the document only because of an obvious
mistake, On the facts, the defendants had not lost the right 1o¢claim privilege for the
e letter by reason of the fact that it had been disclosed and inspected by the plaintiffs in the
course of discovery, since the plainciffs’ solicitors must have realised that they had been
permitted to see the document because of an obvious mistake by the defendants’ solicitors
and the defendants, on realising the mistake, had acted promply in clainiing privilege
for the letier. It followed that the defendants were entitled to an injunction restrainir%
the plaintiffs from using or relying on the lerter (see p730jta 731k, post); LurdAshbm'wﬁ
f v Pape[1911~13] All ER Rep 708 and Goddard v Nationwilde Building Sociery [ 1986] 3 All
ER 264 applied; Great Atlantic Insurance Co v Home Insurance Co [1981] 2 All ER 485 and
Re Briamore Mannfacturing Lid (in lig} [ 1986] 3 Al ER 1 32 censidered.

Notes -
For communications })CIWCED a party and non-professional agent, employee or third
party, see 13 Halsbury’s Laws (4th edn) para 78, and for cases on the subject, see 18 Digest
(Reissue) 117-120, go2-924.

For waiver of privilege, see 13 Halsbury's Laws (4th edn) para 84.
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d s 2(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998, such cases are covered by the earlier a

Kate O'Hanlon Barrister.

Three Rivers District Council and others v
Bank of England {No 3)
[2001] UKHL/16

HOUSE QF LORDS

LORD STEYN, LORD HOFE OF CRAIGHEBAD, LGRD HUTTON, LORD HOBHOUSE OF
WOODBOROUGH AND LORD MILLETT

§5-18 JANUARY, 22 MARCH 2001

Bank — Deposit-taking business — Control by Bank of England —~ Bank’s supervisory role
over commercial banks in the United Kingdom — Depositors with licensed deposit-taker
suffering loss when deposit-taker failing because of fraud — Depositors alleging loss
caused by Bank of England wrongly granting licence or wrongly failing to revoke
deposit-taker’s licence — Depositors claiming damages for tort of misfeasance in public
office — Judge concluding that claim bound to fail on basis of report into collapse of
deposit-taker — Whether judge crring in relyingon inquiry repori — Whether claim
having no real prospect of success.

In 1980 the Bank of Bngland granted a licence to BCCI to carry on business as
a deposit-taking institution. In so doing, the Bank was acting in its capacity as
the supervisory authority for United Kingdom deposit-takers under the
Banking Act 1979. BCCI collapsed in 1991 owing to fraud on a vast scale
perpetrated by its senior staff. Shortly afterwards, a Court of Appeal judge was
invited to conduct a non-statutory private inquiry into the supervision of BCCI
under the Banking Acts, to consider whether the action taken by the United
Kingdom authorities was timely and to make recommendations. His report (the
Bingham report) contained an account of the entire sequence of events based on
oral and written evidence from a large number of witnesses, including
representatives from the Bank and BCCY's auditors. It also contained numerous
findings of fact and expressions of opinion relevant to the questions comprised
within the inquiry’s terms of reference. Subsequently, several thousand depositors
brought proceedings against the Bank, secking to recover the sums which they
had lost on BCCI's collapse. They claimed that the Bank was liable in the tort of
misfeasance in public office, contending that named senior officials had acted in
bad faith by licensing BCCI when they knew that was unlawful, by shutting their
eyes to what was happening at BCCI after the licence was granted and by failing
to take steps to close BCCI at least by the mid-1980s. On the hearing of
preliminary issues, the judge, relying heavily on the Bingham report’s findings
and conclusions, held that the material before him contained no arguable support
for the depositors’ case and that there were no reasonable grounds for supposing
that further evidence relating to the Bank’s state of mind would become
available. Accordingly, he concluded that the claim was bound to fail and

i thercfore struck it out. That decision was upheld by the majority of the Court of

Appeal who followed the judge’s approach to the Bingham report. On the
depositors’ appeal to the House of Lords, their Lordships determined the proper
test for misfeasance in public office, and adjourned the appeal for further
argument. Subsequently, the depositors served new draft particulars on the Bank.
When the matter carne back before the House of Lords, the Bank submitted that
the claim was plainly and obviously unsustainable, that the decision to strike out

: ﬂ Xauuy
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the claim should therefore be upheld and that it should be given summary
judgment under CPR Pt 24.

Held — (Lord Hobhouse and Lord Millett dissenting) When determining whether
a claim should be struck out, a court was not entitled to treat a report of the
findings of a non-statutory private inquiry as conclusive on the questions a judge
had to answer in the litigation or to conclude that all the available material
evidence on those questions had been gathered in. Neither the report nor any of
its findings or conclusions would be admissible at any trial. Accordingly, in the
instant case the judge and the majority of the Court of Appeal had been wrong to
rely on the findings and the conclusions of the Bingham report when determining
whether the claim should be struck out. The depositors had not been represented
before the inquity, the case against the Bank had not been put by counsel and the
investigation had been carried out behind closed doors. It followed that it was
open to their Lordships to take a fresh look at the issue of strike-out, and to
reconsider the depositors’ draft new particulars. When examining those particulars,
it was nccessary to consider some of the essential elements of the tort of
misfeasance in public office. First, there had to be an unlawful act or omission
done or made in the exercise of power by the public officer. Secondly, as the
essence of the tort was an abuse of power, the act or omission had to have been
done or made with the required mental clement. Thirdly, the act or omission had
to have been done or made in bad faith. Where the allegation was one of
untargeted malice, the required mental element was satisfied if the act or
omission was done or made intentionally by the public officer in the knowledge
that it was beyond his powers and that it would probably cause the claimant to
suffer injury, or recklessly because, although he was aware that there was a
serious risk that the claimant would suffer loss due to an act or omission which
he knew to be unlawful, he wilfully chose to disregard that risk. As regards that
form of the tort, the fact that the act or omission was done or made without an
honest belicl that it was lawful was sufficient to satisfy the requirement of bad
faith. Bad faith would be demonstrated by knowledge of probable loss on the
part of the public officer or by recklessness on his part in disregarding the risk.
The facts pleaded by the depositors in their fresh pleadings were capable of meeting
the requirements of the tort. There was an unequivocal plea that the Bank was
acting throughout in bad faith and any question as to whether the evidence
pointed to negligence rather than to misfeasance in public office was a matter
which had to be judged not on the pleading, but on the evidence, which was a
matter for decision by the trial judge. The question whether the Bank knew that
loss to the depositors was probable or was reckless in the relevant sense could not
be answered satisfactorily without hearing oral evidence. It could not be said,
therefore, that the claim had no real prospect of success, and justice required that
the depositors be given an opportunity to present their case at trial so that its
merits might be assessed in the light of the evidence. Accordingly, the Bank's
application for summary judgment would be rejected and the depositors’ appeal
would be allowed (see [1], {51, [6], [8], [42}-{46], [56], (771{86], [97], {1061-{111]},
[1251-{129}, {132}, [133], [137}-{139] and [144}-[152], post).
Decision of the Court of Appeal [1999] 4 All ER 800n reversed in part.

Notes
For deliberate abuse of public office or authority, see 1(1) Halsbury’s Laws (4thedn
reissue) para 203.
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Appeal

The claimants, Three Rivers District Council and 6,018 other depositors with the
Bank of Credit and Commerce International SA (in liquidation), appealed with
leave fro:?1 the decision of the Court of Appeal (Hirst and Robert Walker LJJ,
Auld 1] dissenting) on 4 December 1998 ([1999] 4 All ER 800n, [2000] 2 WLR 15)

.
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dismissing their appeal from the decision of Clarke J on 1 April and 10 May 1996
(1996] 3 All ER 558) and 30 July 1997 striking out proceedings for damages for
misfeasance in public office and breach of Council Directive (EEC) 77/780
brought by them against the defendant, the Bank of England. On 18 May 2000
((2000] 3 Al ER 1, {2000]) 2 WLR 1220) the House of Lords dismissed the appeal

in respect of the claim under the directive, determined the requirements of the
tort of misteasance in public oflice and adjourned the appeal for lutther p
argument in respect of the misfeasance claim. The facts are set outin the opinion

of Lord Hope of Craighead.

Lord Neill of Bladen QC, Richard Sheldon QC, Robin Dicker OC, Dominic Dowley and
Barry Isaacs (instructed by Lovells) for the claimants.

Nicholas Stadlen OC, Mark Phillips QC, Bankim Thanki and Ben Valentin (instructed ©
by Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer) for the Bank.

Their Lordships took time for consideration.
22 March 2001. The following opinions were delivered. )

LORD STEYN. My Lords,

[1] Forthe reasons given by my noble and leamed friends, Lord Hope of: Craighead
and Lord Hutton, 1 would also allow the appeal. While it is unnecessary for me
to cover the same ground, 1 must state in outline the principal factors that proved
decisive in my approach to the case.

{2] Itis right at the outset to emphasise that in substance one is dealing with a
striking-out application. "The Bank of England (the Bank) submitted that the
claims are plainly and obviously unsustainable. In aid of this submission the Bank
deployed a written case of no less than 737 pages, amplified by many pages of
written aids and lengthy oral argument, It was hardly a simple and cbvious case f
for a striking out. At the end of the argument my views were that the Bank had
not succeeded in establishing that it would be right and fair to strike out the
claims. Having studied with care the judgments below, as well as the draft speeches
on the appeal to the House, 1 am reinforced in my first view by a combination of
the dissenting judgment of Auld L] in the Court of Appeal, and by the majority
speeches of Lord Hope and Lord Hutton. g

(3] Ttis necessary to test the question whether the action should be struck out
against the new draft particulars of claim drafted and served after the first hearing
(see [2000] 3 Al ER 1 at 13, [2000] 2 WLR 1220 at 1236).

[4] The case fell into two distinct parts. The first question was whether the
phaintiffs have pleaded a reasonable cause of action. In essence this was a demurrer
point. With due deference to contrary views I have to say that [ was unimpressed
by the Bank’s technical arguments under this heading, The new draft particulars
of claim plead the case in misfeasance in public office in clear terms and in
sufficient detail to enable the Bank to prepare a defence. The Bank does not need
any further particulars. I would reject the Bank's arguments under this heading.  f

[5] The second question was whether the action is an abuse of the court’s
process in that it has no realistic prospect of success. This is the more difficult and
controversial aspect of the appeal. The Court of Appeal was divided on the issue.
The dissenting judgment of Auld L] is an impressive one. The judgments of
Clarke J at first instance ({19963 3 All ER 558 and 30 July 1997 (unreported)) and
of the majority (4 lirst and Walker 1)) in the Cout af Appeal (| 199914 All ER 800n,
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[2000] 2 WLR 15} are detailed and careful. Unfortunately, however, the use made
by the judge and by the majority in the Court of Appeal of the Bing,ham report of
Octobel_' 1992 (Inquiry into the Supervision of ihe Bank of Credit and Corl:::mcrce
Intenta.tmnal (HC Paper 198 (1992-93))) was not permissible. The report i
glf-ev;dently an outstanding one produced by an eminent judge. But in lgw th::s
judge and the majority erred in relying on positive conclusions and findings, and
b absence of conclusions and findings, ol Bingham L. Mot only was such ust‘:g-o,fgtl
report ruled out by settled principles of law but on broader grounds it was a].:(e)
unfair to the claimants. After all, the report was the outcome of a private inquir
the claimants were not represented before Bingham L] and the case against thye'
Bank.was not put by counsel. And the appendices to the report, which recount
. the history in greater detail, were not published and have never been seen b
those representing the claimants, y
[fs] In these circumstances it is necessary for the House to consider the marter
entirely afresh. Since I share the views of Lord Hope and Lord Hutton [ do not
propose to revisit the battleground. But 1 must emphasise that it is indisputabl
the case that the Bank knew from April 1990 onwards that BCCI was in im[;nincnﬁ
d danger of collapse with inevitable loss to depositors unless there was a real
prospect of an effective rescue package. The Bank has failed 10 persuade me that
the claimants have no realistic prospect of establishing that the Bank knew that
there would be no effective and comprehensive rescue or was reckless as to
whether tha.:re.wquld be one. Moreover, I do not share the confidence of the judge
. and the majarity in the Court of App_eall that discovery and cross-examination will
not pl:oduce significant materials assisting the claimants. Itis a case that should be
examined and tested with the procedural advantages of a fair and pul)li‘c trial
(7} My conclusion is therefore strongly influenced by the events from April 1;?90
On thc‘ other hand, I also take the view that the earlier part of the histo b cannoé
be ex.c1sed. The interests of justice require that the entire action sll;yould be
f permitted to go to trial. This conclusion invalves no judgment about the likel
outcome of the case but merely a finding that the threshold requi fe d
striking out has not been satisfied. auirement for
{8] I would, therefore, aillow che appeal, dismiss the cross-appeal and giv
leave to thel claimants to amend their pleading in terms of the new draft particu.;gi]ar?s
of .clanm. Like Lord Hope I regard the supplementary directions sought by the
climants as entirely reasonable, but on balance | would also leave it tz th
commercial judge to give appropriate directions. 1 apprehend that he will wislj
to pI:oceed to trial with due despatch and a minimum of technical interlocuto
hearings. And in proceeding to trial it is axiomatic that the trial judpe will ha\lr-y
to apprqach this case in a neutral fashion and without preconceptiois He wiﬁ
h have to ignore expressions of opinion on the facts in any of the speechcs‘.
[9] Atthe request of the Bank the issue of costs is reserved. Written submissions
on costs are invited within 21 days.

LORD HOPE OF CRAIGHEAD. My Lords,
J  [10] At the previous hearing of this appeal your Lordshi

onlly with two questions of law. The ﬁrstlizlateg to the ixrézgisenwtzr::f fl?:: if)i?i)i
misfeasance in public office on which the plaintiffs’ first ground of actior
depepds. _The second was whether the Bank of England (the Bank) was capabl ]
of being llal?le to the plaintiffs in damages for violation of the requirements gfth:
First Council Banking Co-ordination Directive, Council Directive (EEC) 77/ 780 of
12 December 1977, on the co-ordination of laws, regulaions and n:In-ninislr-.uivc
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provisions relating to the taking up and pursuit of the business of credit
instirutions (O} 1977 1322 p 30) (the directive). For the reasons given in your
Lordships’ judgment of 18 May 2000 ([2000] 3 Alt ER 1, [2000] 2 WLR 1220) the
second question was answered in the negative. It is not necessary to give any
further consideration to the Communiry law issues. They no longer form any
part of the plaintiffs’ case against the Bank. At the further hearing of the appeal
with which this judgment deals your Lordships’ task has been to consider
whether the facts alleged or capable of being alicged by the plaintiffs meet the test
for the tort of misfeasance in public office which were identified by your
Lordships in answer to the first question. The question, in short, is whether the
order of the Court of Appeal upholding the order of Clarke ] that the action
should be struck out should be upheld on the ground that the plaintiffs have no
reasonable prospect of succeeding on the claim ar trial.

[11] Your Lordships have been assisted by the oral arguments which were
advanced at the further hearing by Lord Neill of Bladen QC for the plaintiffs and
by Mr Stadlen QC for the Bank and by the very substantial amount of written
material which has been provided by each side. The issues which have had to be
resolved are far from easy. Some indication of their complexity can be gathered
from the facr that the weritten cases for the plaintiffs (including their reply) and for
the Bank (including a detailed response on the facts but excluding two appendices)
run to 385 and 737 pages respectively. There are two bundles of contemporaneous
documnents extending to 661 pages and a supplementary bundle of documents which
extends 1o about 300 pages. The amount of marterial that must be read and
understaod to see whether the claim should be struck out is formidable. It will be
necessary for me before ! address the competing arpuments to set out some of the
facts by way of background.

[12} There are a number of preliminary points. (1) At a procedural hearing
which was held on 27 June 2000 nine issues were identified for determination at
the further hearing of the appeal. But it became clear in the course of the
argument tat there was a considerable amount of overlap between one issue and
another and that it was more likely to be helpful for them to be looked at
cumulatively rather than separately. So I do not propose to examine those issues
one by one in this judgment. (2} In his judgment after the first hearing of this
appeal my noble and learned friend Lord Steyn said ([2000] 3 All BR 1 at 13, [2000}]
2 WLR 1220 at 1236) that at the further hearing there should be available a new
draft pleading by the plaintiffs reflecting the position which was recorded in your
Lordships’ judgments. At the procedural hearing on 27 June 2000 the plaintiffs
were tequired to serve their new draft pleading on the Bank by 17 July 2000, and
they duly did so on that date. That new draft pleading is contained in a document
entitled ‘New draft particulars of claim’. For reasons which [ shall explain later in
more detail (see section (4)) it is to that document, which I shall call “the new draft
particulars’, that ] shall for the most part direct my attention when I am discussing
the question whether the facts pleaded meet the requirements of the tort
(3) These proceedings were issued before 29 April 1999 under the Rules of the
Supreme Court (RSC), which were still in force when the case was in the Court

of Appeal. On 29 April 1999 the Civil Procedure Rules 1998, 511998/3132 (the CPR)
came into force. This case is therefore subject to the transitional arrangements
set out in the Practice Direction made under CPR 5i.1 (Practice
Direction—Transitional Arrangements). In accordance with the general
principles which are set out in that practice direction the case is to proceed in the
firstinstance undler the previous rules, but any new step taken on or after 26 April 1999
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is to be taken under the CPR (see Practice Direction supplementing Pt 51,
paras 3, 11},

[L3] The parties are agreed that the service of the new draft particulars on the
Bank was a new step, and that it follows that the question whether the claim on
the ground of misfeasance in public office should be struck out must now be
determined under the CPR. As the CPR require that the word ‘claimant’ be used
rather than the word plaintiff’, 1 propose to adopt the same terminology from
now on throughout this judgment. Rule 3.2 provides, so far as relevant to chis
case, that the court may strike ourt a statement of case if it appears to the court
(a) that it discloses no reasonable cause of action or (b) that it is an abuse of the
court’s process. There is no exact dividing line between these two grounds (see
Civil Procedure (2000 edn) vol 1, para 3.4.2). MrStadlen did not attemprto
maintain an exact separation between them and in the end, as I shall explain
below (in section (5)), he invited your Lordships to give summary judgment
against the claimants under CPR 24.2,

[14] 1 propose to deal with the various matters that reguire to be considered at
this stage in this order: (1) introductory narrative, to include (a) outline chronology,
(b) the Bingham report (Inguiry inte the Supervision of the Bank of Credit and Commerce
Intemational (HC Paper 198 (1992-93))) and (c) history of the proceedings to date;
{2) the requirements of the tort; (3) whether the facts pleaded by the claimants are
capable of meeting those requirements; (4) the decision of the courts below to
strike out; (5) the test for summary judgment under CPR 24.2; (6) whether,
applying that test, the claim should be summarily struck out; (7) the Bank’s
cross-appeal; and (8) conclusion and further procedure.

[15] Ishould also make it clear at the outset that, although I shall be using the
expression ‘the Bank’ throughout this judgment, the claimants’ position as
explained in their written case is that those who were principally responsible for
the regulation and supervision of BCCI SA were the officials of the Banking
Supervision Division formed by the Bank in March 1980 for the purpose of
implementing the Banking Act 1979 whose names are given in Sch 1 to the
particulars to the new draft particulars.

(1) INTRODUCTORY NARRATIVE

() Outline chronology

[16] The history of the rise and fall of the Bank of Credit and Commerce
International SA (BCCI SA) can conveniently be divided up for the purposes of
this action into four periods: (1) the period prior to the grant of a full licence under
the Banking Act 1979 an 19 June 1980; (2) the period from the grant of the full
licence to December 1986; (3) the period from December 1986 ta April 1990; and
(4) the period from April 1990 to closure in July 1991. This history was set out
in great detail by Clarke J in his third judgment of 30 July 1997 (unreported), in
which the history was divided up into the same four periods, and it was reviewed
again in Pt Il of the judgment of the majority in the Court of Appeal of 4 December

i 1998 ([1999]4 All ER 800n, [2000] 2 WLR 15) (Pt [II of which is also unreported).

1 do not propose to set out that history all over again. No significance is to be
attached to the fact that I have mentioned some events in the course of this
narrative and omitred others. What follows is not intended to be a complete or
definitive account of what happened. But for the purposes of this judgment it is
necessary to provide an outline of the chronology and 1o identify some of the
more important details in that history,
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[17] BCCI SA was incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg on 21 September a
1972. In November it established its first office in the United Kingdom and
commenced its business in this country as a deposit-taker. Two years later the
structure of BCCI was altered by the incorporation on 13 December 1974 of BCCI
Holdings SA (Holdings) in Luxembourg of which BCCI SA became a subsidiary.
On 25 November 1975 another subsidiary of Holdings called BCCl Overseas
(Overseas) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Overseas opened its fiest p
branch in the United Kingdom in June 1976, At this stage a substantial part ofthe
issued share capital of Holdings was owned by the Bank of America. Although
the group was trading through various branches in the United Kingdom it was
not subject to any regulatory system in this country. But Holdings was subject to
regulation in Luxembourg by the Luxembourg Banking Commission (LBC)
which at that time was that country’s regulatory authority, At the end of 1977
the Bank of America decided to withdraw from its relationship with BCCI. Itsold
its holding of shares in Holdings to International Credit and Investment Co Ltd
(ICIC) which at that time was BCCI's largest shareholder.

(18] Prior to the enactment of the 1979 Act banking in the United Kingdom
was not subject to any formalised system of regulation. Control was execcisedin o
an informal way by the Bank and in an indirect manner by means of various
statutory provisions which gave privileges to banks which were recognised by the
Board of Trade and by the Bank. Following the publication of a White Paper in
1976 (The Licensing and Supervision of Deposit-Taking Institutions (Cmnd 6584)) and
the directive steps were taken to establish a new statutory systém of banking
supervision in the United Kingdom. This was contained in the 1979 Act, which
came into foree on 1 October 1979, Tt provided for the recognition of banks under
s3(1) if they satsfied the criteria in Schz, Ptl, and for the licensing of
deposit-taking institutions under s 3(2) if they satisfied the less stringent criteria in
Sch 2, PtIL Section 3(5) of that Act provided that, in the case of an institution
whose principal place of business was in a country or territory outside the United
Kingdom, the Bank might regard itself as satisfied that the criteria in Sch2
regarding those responsible for the management of the business and the prudence
with which its business was being conducted were fulfilled if the relevant supervisory
authorities informed the Bank that they were satisfied with respect to them and
the Bank was satisfied as to the nature and scope of the supervision exercised by

those authorities.
[19] On 1 October 1979 BCCI SA applied to the Bank for recognition asa bank
under the Act. On 19 June 1980 the Bank refused recognition as a bank but
granted to BCCI SA a full licence under the 1979 Actasa deposit-taker, By that
date its principal place of business was in the United Kingdom. Nevertheless the
Bank decided to rely under s 3(5) of the 1979 Acton the supervision ofits activities
by LEC. The claimants’ case is that when the Bank granted the licence; (a) it did
so knowingly deliberately contrary to the starutory scheme, or {b) it was recklessly
indifferent to whether it was acting in accordance with the scheme, or (¢} it
wilfully disregarded the risk that it was not acting in accordance with that scheme,
(i) in bad faith, and (ii)(a) in the knowledge that the likely consequences were losses j
to depositors and potential depositors, or (b) that it wilfully disregarded the risk of
the consequences, or (c) that it was recklessly indifferent to those consequences
(para 31 of the new draft particulars).
{20} During the period from June 1980 to December 1986 the activities of the
BCCI Group expanded dramatically not only in the United Kingdom but
throughout the world. Officials of the Bank pointed out that it was unsatisfactory

e
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plea-bargain agreement, approved by the court, by which B‘CCI SA and Overseas
pleaded guilty to all counts of money-laundering and‘consplracy. Concerns we}:c
expressed to the Bank by the group’s auditors, Price Waterhouse, about the
probity of BCCI's senior management. . .

[24] The claimants’ case regarding this period contains tl-m:tl: specific allegations
about decisions by the Bank not to withdraw the authonsauon. from BCCI SA.
These are said to have been taken: (1) after the Bank had learned in May 1986 t}}at b
BCCI, which had been dealing on a massive scale in the financial and commpdnty
markets through its central treasury in London, had incurred losses amounting to
some $US285m (new draft particulars, Sch 5, paras 26 a_n'd 27.); (2) after a paper
prepared by the Bank for the Board of Banking Supervision in November 1989
had revealed serious defects in the group’s structure and the existing supervisory
regime and the extent to which BCCI's activities in the United.K.ingdom were
dependent upon what happened elsewhere in the group which was lellrgely
unsupervised (new draft particulars, Sch 6, para 19); and (3) after the officials of
BCC! had pleaded guilty in Tampa, Florida in January 1990 to charges of money-
laundering and conspiracy (new draft particulars, Sch 6, para 24).

[25] The final period from April 1990 to closure in July 1991 began with d

expressions of concern to the Bank by Price Waterhouse about' the group’s serious
financial problems and reports about efforts which were being n.lade to obtain
financial support from the majority shareholders. On 18 April 1990 Price Waterhouse
reported to the board of Holdings that they were unal?le to sign th(l: 1989
accounts. Later that month they felt able to do so in the light of expressions of
support for the group by the Abu Dhabi government. I:} early June 1990 Ill\:l!j,
recognising that they were no longer in a position effectively to supervise their
activities, gave notice to Holdings and to BCCI SA that they must leave
Luxembourg within the next 12 to 15 months. These matters.were‘d:scussed at
a meeting of the College an 19 June 1990 when IML repeated its ultimatum and

the Cayman supervisor said that, if BCCL SA had to leave Luxembourg, Overseas

would have 1o leave Cayman. Furiher consideration was given to the gu:ed for a
clear group structure, consolidated supervision of its allcuvmes.'relocallou of 1‘:;(3
group to Abu Dhabi and the need for a clear and substantial commitment by the Abu
Dhabi government of its support for it. o _
[26] In October 1990 Price Waterhouse repnrtcfi to Huldmgﬁ a}ldl.l'CS)n'lll'lltt'eE
that an urgent investigation was needed to quantify the group’s liabilities and its
need for financial support. On 5 October 1990 a letter was produc;ed to the
College an behalf of the majority shareholders undertaking to prov%de support
to the level indicated by Price Waterhouse. But IML refused to .ex:end its deadline
unless certain conditions were met and the supervisors did not regard _the
shareholders’ proposals for support as accept‘able. !By December 1990 a rgv(;sed
support package had been put together which Price Waterhouse re%ar e ai
acceptable, but later that month Price Waterhouse became aware of the exten
to which BCCT's linancial problems were due to frauc?ulent activities on the part
of management. On 4 March 1921 the Bank commissioned Price Wate.rhou§eht'o .
investigate and report to it under s 41 of the 1987 Act on malpractice within j
BCCI. Price Waterhouse delivered their report to the Bank on 24 June 199;\.. l}:
contained a comprehensive account of widespread frauds and dcc?ptlcimf1 W 1lc
had been perpetrated by BCCI. Four days later the Bank decided that [t ::i
proposed reconstruction of the group could not be pursued and that to pro z
depositors BCCI SA had to be closed down. On Sljuly 1991 the Bank presented a
petition for the appointment of a provisional liquidator.
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[27] The claimants’ case regarding this period, as explained by Lord Neill in
oral argument, is based on general allegations that the Bank failed in bad faith to
face up to its responsibilities as a supervisor to take decisions that would protect
the interests of depositors and potential depositors when it was aware that there
was a serious and immediate threat that unless it was rescued by the Abu Dhabi
government BCCI would collapse.

(b} The Bingham report

[28] The closure of BCCl on 5 July 1991 provoked widespread concern in the
financial community on the ground that this action was long overdue, yet the
action that was taken was criticised by depositors, employees and shareholders as
precipitate. In a prompt response to that concern Bingham 1) was invited to
conduct an inquiry into the supervision of BCCI under the Banking Acts, o
consider whether the action taken by all the United Kingdom aunthorities was
timely and 1o make recommendations. The establishment of the inquiry was
anmounced on 19 July 1991. Bingham L] submitted his report to the Chancellor of
the Exchequer and the Governor of the Bank in July 1992. Among the questions

d which he understood to call for consideration by his terms of reference were the

following. What did the United Kingdom authorities know about BCCI at the
relevant times? Should they have known more? And should they have acted
differently?

(28] The report (fnquiry into the Supervision of the Bank of Credit and Commerce
International (HC Paper 198 (1992-93)) contains a masterly and eminently
readable account of the entire sequence of events from the establishment of BCCL
in the United Kingdom in 1972 to its closure in July 1991, Bingham 1] took
evidence both orally and in writing from a large number of witnesses and he had
access to many documents. In his covering letter he paid tribute to the very high
level of co-operation which he had received from, among others, the Bank and

f the United Kingdom firm of Price Waterhouse, who acted from June 1987 1o

July 1991 as the group’s auditors. He said thatin deciding what was said and done
during BCCI's 19-year history he had relied heavily an contemporary notes and
minutes of meetings and conversations berween the Bank and Price Waterhouse.
His report contains numerous findings of fact and expression of opinion relevant
to the questions which he understood to have been comprised within his terms
of reference. The report was published in October 1992, but eight appendices to
the report were not published.

[30] Much ofthe claimants’ pleading has been based upon material taken from
that report. ‘This is unsurprising, in view of the fact that the claimants have not
yet had the benefir of discovery of documents or the obtaining of answers to

h interrogatories. The assumption can properly be made at this stage that the

narrative which the report contains will in due course be capable of being
established by evidence once the claimants have obtained access to the relevant
documents. But there are important limitations on the use which can be made of
this document. Ishall have to deal with this matter in more detail later when

j I come to the arguments relating to strike-out, but 1 should like to make the

following observations at this stage.

[31] The first point that has to be borne in mind is that neither the repart itself
nor any of its findings or conclusions will be admissible at any trial in this case.
At this stage, when the only material that is available for consideration apart from
the pleadings is the report and an incomplete bundle of relevant documents, it is
tempting to fillin the gaps by reference to Bingham 1J's findings and the conclusions




524 All England Law Reports [2001] 2 AN ER

which he was able to draw from his review of the evidencé. Nevertheless a sharp
dividing line must be observed between, on the one hand, his narrative of the
evidence and, on the other hand, his findings and conclusions in the light of that
evidence.

(32] It can, as | have said, be assumed that if the claim is not struck out the
claimants will in due course have access to the evidence which provides the

source material for that narrative, and that that evidence will be capable of being b

led by them at the trial. But, as Bingham LJ's findings and conclusions based on
that natrative are inadmissible, they must be held to be incapable either of being
led in evidence at the trial or of being used by either side in any other way in
support of the competing arguments. As Hirst 1] observed in the Court of Appeal
([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 91), no comparable statutory provisions to those which are
1o be found in s 441 of the Companies Act 1985 apply to the Bingham report.
The investigation which Bingham L] conducted was a private and not a statutory
inquiry. The rigorous attention which must be paid to the distinction between
what would and what would not be admissible has not always been observed in
the written cases, and I had the impression that it was not always being observed

during the oral argument. Nor, for reasons which I shali explain later, do I think d

that it was always observed either by Clarke ] or by the majority in the Court of
Appeal in their judgments on the issues relating to the question of strike-out. This has
an important bearing on the question whether those judgments were soundly
based and should be upheld or whether, because they were not soundly based,
the question of strike-out is now at large for your Lordships’ reconsideration.
[33] A further point that should be noted at this stage about the findings and
conclusions in the Bingham report is that they were the result of an investigation
that lacked the benefit of statutory powers and was conducted behind closed
doors. The claimants were not present nor were they represented. In the conduct
of his fact-finding exercise Bingham LJ was, as he said in his covering letter,
greatly assisted by the co-operation which he received especially from the Bank
and Price Waterhouse. But he had no power to compel the attendance of
witnesses or to require the preduction of documents, and there was no counsel
to the inquiry. As the appendices have not been published, the claimants have
not had access to all the materiat which Bingham 1J had before him. None of

e
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these observations are intended to suggest that the investigation was incomplete g

or that the report, for the purposes for which it was prepared, is in any way open
to criticism. But it is plain that it cannot be suggested that Bingham L] was in a
position to conduct a fair trial of the issues relating to the tort of misfeasance in
public office which the claimants are seeking to raise against the Bank in this case.
In these circumstances 1 agree with the views which Auld L expressed in the
Court of Appeal (at 180) in his minority judgment when he said that it would not
be right to treat the Bingham report as effectively conclusive on the questions
that arise in this litigation or to conclude that al} the available evidence on those

questions has been gathered in.

(c) History of proceedings to date

[34] The claimants’ writ of summons was issued on 24 May 1993. On 19 July
1995 Clarke | made an order for the following questions to be tried as preliminary
issues. (1) Is the defendant capable of being liable to the plaintiffs for the tort of
misfeasance in public office? (2) Were the plaintiffs’ alleged losses caused in law by
the acts or omissions of the defendant? (3 Are the plaintifis entitled to recover for

h
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¢ . . . -~
3 he tort of misfeasance in public office as existing depositors or potential

depositors?

{35} On 19 July 1995 Clarke J gave the claimants leave to amend their pleadings
for the purposes of these preliminary issues, On 21 August 1995 the c]aiman%s
!odged a reamended statement of claim. Following Clarke J's first and second
judgments of I April 1996 and 10 May 1996 ([1996] 3 All ER 558 and 634) in which

b he expressed his preliminary conclusions on the three preliminary issues, the

claimants applied for leave to re-reamend their statement of claim and the Bank
made an application for the statement of claim to be struck out. Clarke | hea]:d
argument on these applications in November and December 1996. The claimants
then proposed a series of further amendments to their proposed rc-rea;mend d
statement of claim, and an eighth draft was lodged on 6 January 1997 )
[36] Afiera further hearing in April 1997 when he considered the lclaim asthen
formulated Clarke ] delivered a judgment on 30 July 1997 (unreported) in which
hg held that, on the basis of the evidence then available, the claim was bound to
faa!; that, as there was no reasonable possibility that the claimants would obtai
evidence in the future which might enable them to succeed, the claim was b 13
to fail in the future; that in these circumstances it would be an abuse of prc(:rellss
or vexatious or oppressive to allow the action to proceed; that the application to
:f r:iin;il:-(:l the statement of claim should be refused; and the action should be

[37] When he was expressing his conclusions in his third
present material, Clarke } said: & * it his third jodgment on the

‘Thave reached the firm conclusion that on the material available at present
t.hc plaintiffs have no arguable case that the Bank dishonestly gran[:ed [Il]'l
ll.cence to BCCI or dishonesty failed to revoke the licence or authorisation irt:
circumstances when it knew, believed or suspected that BCCI would
probably collapse. There is nothing in the Bingham report or in the

documents thh I ha [ (4] LIPIJ()II Su ll 2 COnciusion an(l S I3 h
W veseento s C l i e

> o []1&1& LIC
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[38) I.n regard to the future, he recognised that Bingham L] was not
conducting a trial but an inquiry, that he did not see a number of Bank officials
that the witnesses whom he did see were not cross-examined in an adversariai
process and that there was no right of appeal. But he then went on to say that

there was in h_isjudgment no realistic possibility that he had not correctly set out
the state of mind of the Bank at each stage. He concluded:

. In theso_: circumstances I accept Mr Stadlen’s further submission that there
is no rea‘hstic possibility of more evidence becoming available, whether b
Fu!-rher investigation, discovery, cross-examination or other,wise whicl):
might throw light upon the state of mind of the Bank or any of its 'rclev t
officials during the period in which BCC! was operating.’ .

{39] In the Court of Appeal the majority (Hirst and Robert Walker L])) upheld

i the order pronounced by Clarke J. They asked themselves the question whether

the claimants had an arguable case that the Bank actually foresaw BCCI's imminent
coliapsc. at each relevant stage. They said that they agreed with the judge’

conclusion that, on the material then available, the plaintiffs did not hJavege ;
arguable case that the Bank actually foresaw BCCI's imminent collapse at eaa][:
relevant stage. They also agreed with him that (20001 2 WLR 15 atplﬂl) in ;II

the circumstances, it was now for all practical purpases inconceivable thi new
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material would emerge of such significance as to alter that conclusion. Auld L
dissented as to the test to be applied. He (at 166} did not consider that a claimant
in an action for misfeasance in public office who could establish dishonesty in the
sense of a knowing and deliberately or recklessly unlawful act by the defendant
need also establish some knowledge on the officer’s part of consequential
damage, whether in the form of foresight or foreseeability. But he (at 175) went
on to consider and give his view on the question whether the claim should be
struck out on the assumption that the claimants had to establish that the Bank
knew, believed or suspected that its conduct would probably cause loss. He said
(at 180) that there were no exceptional circumstances to justify departing from
the normal rule of leaving the matter to the trial judge.

{401 On 21 January 1999 the Court of Appeal gave leave to the claimants to
appeal to the House of Lords on the claimants’ undertaking to apply to your
Lordships for a direction that the correct test for misfeasance in public office
should be determined before any consideration of whether the facts alleged or
capable of being alleged were capable of meeting that test. On 12 May 1999 your
Lordships gave the claimants leave o appeal against the refusal of leave to
re-reamend the statement of claim. On 17 July 2000, as they were directedto do ¢
at the procedural hearing on 27 June 2000 which followed the delivery of your
Lotdships’ first judgment, the claimants served the new draft particulars on the

Bank.

(2) THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE TORT

[41] The correct test for misfeasance in public office was established by your
Lordships’ judgment following the previous hearing of this appeal (20003 Al ER 1,
{2006) 2 WLR 1220). 1 do not wish to repeat or to analyse what your Lordships
said in that judgment. But there are two matters with which I must deal. In the
first place it is necessary for me to identify my understanding of the various
elements in the light of which the question whether the facts pleaded by the claimants ¢
in the new draft particulars satisfy its requirements must be tested. In the second
place I must examine Mr Stadlen’s argument that the claimants” pleadings arc
based on a misunderstanding of those requirements.

[42] The following are the essential elements of the tort which are relevant to
the examination of the new draft particulars. Tirst, there must be an unlawful act
or omission done or made in the exercise of power by the public officer. Second,
as the essence of the tort is an abuse af power, the act or omission must have been
done or made with the required mental element. Third, for the same reason, the
act or omission must have been done or made in bad faith. Fourth, as to standing,
the claimants must demonstrate that they have a sufficient interest to sue the
defendant. Fifth, as causation is an essential element of the cause of action, the act h
or omission must have caused the claimants’ loss.

{431 As to standing, the interest to sue of those who were already depositors
with BCCI is not in doubt. A question has been raised about the interest to sue
of potential depositors. This is because a widespread economic effect resulting
from the misfeasance does not give a cause of action to the public in general. But the |

Bank, while reserving the right to pursue the issue at trial, accepts that it is
capable of being liable for the tort to claimants who were potential depositors
with BCCI at the time of any relevant act or omission of misfeasance by the Bank.
As to causation, the Bank submits that it is not capable of having caused loss to
depositors or potential depositors where the proximate cause of the loss was the
deliberate act of a third party—in this case, fraudulent acts of individuals within

e
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[44] The first, second and third requirements lie at the heart of the ar ment
No furthgr explanation is required as to the test which must be met to sa%il;fy the
first requirement, As to the second and third requirements, the claimants do noi
allege that the Bank did or made the acts or omissions i:'1ter|tionally with the

b purpose of causing Joss 1o them. The allegation is that this is a case of what is usuall
called untargeted malice’. Where the tort takes this form the required mema};
elem'ent is satisfied where the act or omission was done or made intentionally b the
public officer; (a) in the knowledge thar it was beyond his powers and that i{w{mld
probably cause the claimant to suffer injury, or (b) recklessly because, although he

was aware that there was a serious risk that the claimant would suﬂ"e’r loss d%m t
an acF or omission which he knew to be unlawful, he wilfully chose 1o disre arg
thatrisk. In regard to this form of the tort, the fact that the act or omission is dgone
or made without an honest belief that it is lawful is sufficient to satisfy the
requirement of bad faith. In regard to alternative (a), bad faith is demonstrated
by knm.vledgc of probable loss on the part of the public officer. In re ‘ard to

d a.ltemanve (b), it is demonstrated by recklessness on his part in di;re ardsi;n th
risk. The claimants rely on each of these two alternatives, ® 8o

[45} At the first hearing Mr Stadlen argued that recklessness was not sufficient
to satisfy the required mental element. Your Lordships rejected this submission
with the result that it must be assumed for the purposes of the argument at this
stage that the claimants are entitled to include this alternative as part of their case
His argument at the further hearing was thar as one of the essential requiremeuts:
of the tort was knowledge, belief or suspicion that the aet or omission would
probably cause loss to depositors or potential depositors, in order to achieve
harr‘nony between the two alternatives, knowledge, beliefor suspicion of ‘probable
loss* was a necessary element in the case of the alternative of recklessness

f He @b_m:tted that without evidence to support this requirement there could be
no liability under the second, or ‘untargeted malice’, limb of the tort,

[46]_ I'would reject these submissions also. The effect of your Lordships’ decision
following the first hearing is that it is sufficient for the purposes of this limb of the
tort to demonstrate a state of mind which amounts to subjective recklessness
That state of mind is demonstrated where it is shown that the public officer wa.';
aware of a serious risk of loss due to an act or omission on his part which he knew
to be unlawful but chose deliberately to disregard that risk. Various phrases ma
f)c used tq describe this concept, such as ‘probable loss', “a serious risk ofloss’ anc);
har,m which is likely to ensue’. Although I have used the phrase ‘serious risk of
loss’, I do not think that for present purposes it is necessary to choose between
them. Further attempts to define their meaning would raise issues of fact and
degree which are best considered at trial. The absence of an honest beliefin the

]a?vﬁ.llnes‘s of the conduct thar gives rise to that risk satisfies the element of bad
faith or dishonesty.

f (3) WHETHER THE FA
f () WHETY CTS PLEADED ARE CAPABLE OF MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF

[47] The question to which 1 now turn relates to the ade i
This is the first of the two broad grounds on which the Bancllcu;?’:})]idc]ﬁ ﬂf:ﬁg:ﬁii
be struck out. The issue here is directed to the sufficiency of the particulars. It is
whetl’}er, assuming the facts alleged to be true, a case has been made out i;l the
pleadings for alleging misfeasance in public office by the Bank. If it has, then
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the question whether the pleading is supported by the evidence is normally left
until trial. In McDonald’s Corp v Steel [1995] 3 All ER 615 at 621 Neill L said:

‘It is true that a pleader must not put a plea of justification (or indeed a plea
of fraud) on the record lightly or without careful consideration of the evic_ier.)ce
available or likely to become available. But, as counsel for the plaintiffs

recognised in the course of the argument, there will be cases where, b

provided a plea of justification is properly particularised, a defendant will be
entitled 1o seek support for his case from documents revealed in the course
of discovery or from answers to interrogatories.”

I shall deal later (in section (3)) with the question to which Mr Stadlen directed
the main part of his argument. This is whether there are reasonable grc.)unds for
thinking that evidence 1o support the allegations is or is capable of being made
available. The question with which [ propose to deat at this stage is whether the
grounds for the claim have been properly particularised.

[48] The Bank makes much of the fact that the claimants have received
numerous watnings of the need for particulars to be given of the facts relied on

in support of their allegations and of the many opportunities that they have been d

given to amend their statement of claim. Your Lordships are invited to infer from
the absence of particulars, and in the light of the available evidence, that the
claimants are not able to make good their allegations and that on this ground
alone Clarke ] was right to order that the claim should be struck out. On the
other hand the claimants say that the Bank is well aware of the case that they seek
to bring and that the Bank's argument is calculated to place an insuperable
obstacle in their path. .

[49] In my judgment a balance must be struck between the need for fair
notice to be given on the one hand and excessive demands for detail on the other.
In British Airways Pension Trustees Lid v Sir Robert MeAlpine & Sons Ltd (1994) 45 Con
LR 1 at 4-5 Saville L] said:

“The basic purpose of pleadings is to enable the opposing party o know
what case is being made in sufficient detail o enable that party properly to
prepare to answer it. To my mind it seems that in recent years th.ere .has been
a tendency to forget this basic purpose and to seek particularisation even

when it is not really required. ‘This is not only costly in itself, but is calculated §

1o lead to delay and to interlocutory battles in which the parties and the court
pore over endless pages of pleadings to see whether or not some particular
point has or has not been raised or answered, when in truth each party
knows perfectly well what case is made by the other and is able properly to
prepare to deal with it

[501 These observations were made under the old rules. But the same gener.al
approach to pleadings under the CPR was indicated by Lord Woolf MR in
McPhilemy v Times Newspapers Ltd [19991 3 All BR 775 at 792-793:

“The need for extensive pleadings including particulars should be reduced |
by the requirement that witness statements are now exchang?d. In the
majority of proceedings identification of the documents upon wb;ch a party
relies, together with copies of that party’s witness statements, w1ll. make th_e
detail of the nature of the case the other side has to meet obvious. This
reduces the need for particulars in order to avoid being taken by surpris'e.
This does not mean that pleadings are now superfluous. Pleadings are still
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required to mark out the parameters of the case that is being advanced by
each party. In particular they are still critical to identify the issues and the
extent of the dispute between the parties. What is important is that the
pleadings should make clear the general nature of the case of the pleader.
This is true both under the old sules and the new rules.’

{51] On the other hand it is clear that as a general rule, the more serious the
allegation of misconduct, the greater is the need for particulars to be given which
explain the basis for the allegation. This is especially so where the allegation that is
being made is of bad faith or dishonesty. "The point is well established by authority
in the case of fraud.

{52] In Wallingford v Mutual Seciety (1880) 5 App Cas 685 at 697 Lord Selborne LC
said:

"With regard to fraud, if there be any principle which is perfectly well
settled, it is that general allegations, however strong may be the words in
which they are stated, are insufficient even to amount te an averment of
fraud of which any Court ought to take notice.”

In the same case Lord Watson said (at 709):

‘My Lords, it is a well-known and a very proper rule that a general
allegation of fraud is not sufficient to infer liability on the part of those who
are said to have committed it. And even if that were not the rule of the
Common Law, I think the terms of Order XIV. would require the parties to
state a very explicit case of fraud, or rather of facts suggesting fraud, because
I cannor think that a mere statement that fraud had been committed, is any
compliance with the words of that rule which require the Defendant to state
facts entitling him to defend. The rule must require not only a general and
vague allegation but some actual fact or circumsiance or circumstances
which taken together imply, or at least very strongly suggest, that a fraud
must have been committed, those facts being assumed to be true.’

[53] The Bank says that, as an allegation of misfeasance in public office
involves an allegation of dishonesty or bad faith on the part of the public officer,
particulars must be given of the facts which, if proved, would justify the
allegation. It is also said that it is not enough 1o aver facts which are consistent
cither with dishonesty or with negligence. Dishonesty or bad faith must be
proved, so the facts relied on must point distinctly to dishonesty. Reference was
made to Davy v Garrett (1878) 7 Ch D 473 at 489 where Thesiger L said:

‘It may not be necessary in all cases to use the word “fraud"—indeed in one
of the most ordinary cases it is not necessary. An allegation that the Defendant
made to the Plaintiff representations on which he intended the Plaintiff to act,
which representations were untrue, and known to the Defendant to be
untrue, is sufficient. The word “fraud” is not used, but t1wo expressions are
used pointing at the state of mind of the Defendant—that he intended the
representations to be acted upon, and that he knew them to be untrue, It
appears to me that a Plaintiff is bound to shew distinetly that he means to
allege fraud. In the present case facts are alleged from which fraud might be
inferred, but they are consistent with innocence, They were innocent acts in
themselves, and it is not 1o be presumed that they were done with a
frandulent intention.’
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[54] Itseems to me that it can no longer seriously be maintained by the Bank
that they do not have sufficient notice of the case which is being made against
them. 1t is abundantly clear that what the claimants are seeking to prove is
misfeasance in public office. As my noble and learned friend Lord Hutton has
pointed out, the dralt new particulars contain detailed allegations to the effect
that the Bank acted in bad faith. It has all along been common ground that the
claimants cannot base their claim against the Bank in negligence. As Hirst 1]
observed in the Court of Appeal ([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 32), the immunity which the
Bank enjoys under s 1(4) of the 1987 Act unless it is shown that the act or omission
was in bad faith goes a long way to explaining why the claimants have undertaken
the burden of seeking (1o prove misfeasance in public office.

[$5] In my view this point alone is a sufficient answer to the criticism based on
Thesiger 1)'s remarks in Davy v Garrett. The principle to which those remarks
were directed is a rule of pleading. As the Barl of Halsbury LC said in Bullivant v
A-G for Victoria [1901] AC 196 at 202, [1900-3] All ER Rep 812 at 814, where it is
intended that there be an allegation that a fraud has been committed, you must
allege it and you must prove it. We are concerned at this stage with what must be
alleged. A party is not entitled to a finding of fraud if the pleader does not allepe
fraud directly and the facts on which he relies are equivocal. So too with
dishonesty. [f there is no specific allegation of dishonesty, it is not open to the
court to make a finding to that effect if the facts pleaded are consistent with
conduct which is not dishonest such as negligence. As Millett L said in Armitage v
Nurse [1997] 2 All ER 705 at 715, [1998] Ch 241 at 256, it is not necessary to use
the word “fraud’ or 'dishonesty” if the facts which make the conduct fraudulent
are pleaded. But this will not do if language used is equivocal (see Belmont Finance
Corp Ltd v Williams Furniture Ltd [1979] 1 All ER 118 at 131,[1979] Ch 250 at 268 per
Buckley L]). Inthat case it was unclear from the pleadings whether dishonesty was
being alleged. As the facis referred to might have inferred dishonesty but were
consistent witlt innocence, it was not to be presumed that the defendant had been
dishonest. Of course, the allegation of fraud, dishenesty or bad faith must be
supported hy particutars. The ather party is entitled to notice of the particulars
on which the allegation is based. If they are not capable of supporting the
allegation, the allegation itself may be struck out. But it is not a proper ground
for striking out the allegation that the particulars may be found, after trial, to
amount not to fraud, dishonesty or bad faith but to negligence.

[56] In this case it is clear beyond a peradventure that misfeasance in public
office is being alleged. Thete is an unequivocal plea that the Bank was acting
throughout in bad faith. The Bank says that the facts relied on are, at best for
the claimants, equally consistent with negligence. But the substance of that
argument is directed not to the pleadings as such, which leave no doubt as to the
case that is being alleged, and the basis for it in the particulars, but to the state of
the evidence. The question whether the evidence points to negligence rather
than to misfeasance in public office is a matter which must be judged in this case
not on the pleadings but on the evidence. This is a matter for decision by the
judge at trial,

[57] The Bank nevertheless submits that the facts pleaded fail to meet the
requirements of the tort. Three reasons are advanced in support of this argument.
The first is that the claimants have failed to allege the requisite mental element as
to loss. Mr Stadlen said that it was not enough for the claimants to show that the
Rank knew that depositors and potential depositors were at risk. As he put it,
nothing short of a properly particularised allegation of knowledge or recklessness
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of prabable loss, known or suspected, would satisfy the test. The second is that
the pleadings do not contain a properly particularised allegation that the Bank in
the person of identified officials committed acts or omissions of misfeasance
dishonestly in the scnse of committing them with subjective bad faith.
Mr Stadlen submitted that it was well understood that an aliegation of dishonesty
had to be supported by particulars from which the inference of dishonesty could
be drawn. A failure to satisfy this requirement was in itself a ground for a
strike-out. The third is that the pleadings do not contain a properly particularised
allegation that Bank officials took conscious decisions capable of amounting to
acts or omissions of misfeasance. Mr Stadlen directed this part of his argument
to what he described as the revocation claim. He accepted that the initial decision
to licence BCCI SA was particularised. But he said that only three instances were
given of decisions not 1o revoke, and that in the case of only one of these
instances—the Bank's decision in October 1986 not to revoke notwithstanding
the scale of the central treasury losses—was there any attempt to suggest that the
decision was taken dishonestly,

(58] I would reject the first of these three arguments on the ground that it was
based on a misunderstanding of the requirements of the tort. The claimants’ case
on the pleadings is that at each stage in the history the Bank knew that the likely
consequences were that depositors and potential depositors would suffer losses,
wilfully disregarded the risk of the consequences or was recklessly indifferent to
the consequences (new draft particulars, paras 31-35). Knowledge that the
depositors were likely to suffer loss is averred. Bur the claimants are also offering
in the alternative to prove reckless indifference to the risk of loss. As 1 have
already said (in section (2)) I do not think that it is necessary for present purposes
ta choose between the various phrases that may be used to describe the nature or
degree of the risk. This would be to raise issues of fact and degree that are best
considered at trial. 1t was not suggested that, if there was a case 10 be made on
knowledge of probable loss, the pleading as to recklessness should be struck out
at this stage. The Bank’s position, as explained in its written case, is thar it will
not be possible to identify with precision which allegations should be struck out
until the parties have seen your Lordships’ judgment and that for the time being
this exercise is premature.

[52] Mr Stadlen said that the essential difference between the partics on this
part of the case at this stage is on the question whether knowledge, belief or
suspicion of prabable loss has to be established where the allegation is that the act
or omission was done or made recklessly. He accepted that an allegation of
knowledge that loss was likely’ was, in effect, the same as an allegation that it was
‘probable’. He also accepted that the words used in the new draft particulars to
describe the tort, although not precisely the same as those used in your Lordships’

judgment, were formulated with sufficient accuracy. But he maintained that the
material referred 1o in the particulars did not suppart an allegation of knowledge,
belief or suspicion of likely or probable loss. He said that none of this material
came near to meeting that test, and that there was no indication in the Bingham
report that material which would do so was available. At best it supported an
allegation of knowledge that there was a risk of loss. But this was not enough to
satisfy the test of knowledge that loss was probable.

[60] AsIhave already said more than once, 1 do not think that it is appropriate
at this stage to attempt to define the required state of mind more precisely.
This is a matter which is so bound up with the facts that it is best left until trial.
Itis a question of fact and degree. The greater the risk of lass the casier it is likely
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to be to say that loss was probable and the easier it will be to find that where that
risk was known, believed or suspected there was recklessness. The statutory
powers of supervision were conferred on the Bank for the protection of depositors
and potential depositors. As the fourth recital of the directive puts it, supervision
of a credit institution is needed ‘in order to protect savings'. The system is based
on the assumption that, where that protection is lacking, deposits are likely to be
at risk. The question whether at any given point of time that risk is sufficiently
serious to justify a finding of recklessness on the part of a supervisor, who knows
that the statutory requirements are not fulfilled, is aware of the risk but takes no
action to withdraw authorisation or otherwise limit the activities of the
deposit-taker, is one of degree. 1 would hold that it is essentially a question of fact
for the trial judge. | do not think that a view on this matter can safely be fonmed
at this stage by a reading of the available documents.

{61] 1 should add, in order to emphasise the importance which 1 attach to
seeing this as a question of fact and degree, that [ see much force in Auld LJ's
observation in his dissenting judgment about the Orwellian illogicality of
sharpening the test of foresight of probable damage for the purposes of the
strike-out application to one of foresight of probable (imminent) collapse of
BCCI. He said:

‘If such a test is to survive it will enable a banking regulator who
deliberately and knowingly does not supervise a bank as it should do (as is
conceded to be arguable here), with resulting damage to its depositors, to
defeat a misfeasance claim simply by saying “because I did not make the
inquirics that | should have done, 1 did not suspect that the plaintifi would
probably suffer loss.” Inshort it enables a banking regulator to rely on its own
deliberate and knowing illegality as a justification for its lack of foresight that
it would cause damage. If “policy” and "principle” are to be invoked, it must
be against providing such an incentive to a banking regulator, or any public
body exercising a supervisory function over institutions in the interest of
persons for whom they provide a service, not to do their duty. And to load
a plaintiff/ depositor with the further burden of proving that, despite the
regulator’s self-imposed ignorance, it foresaw damage in the particular form
in which it occurred seems to me, with respect, even more illogical and
unjust in a common law remedy the purpose of which is to provide a remedy
for abuse of public duty.” (See [2000}2 WLR 15 at 177.)

(62] The second argument on the pleadings is that the claimants have failed to
give particulars of their allegation of dishonesty and to link those allegations with
particular officials of the Bank. Here again regard must be paid to the fact that
the claimants rely in the alternative on the concept of recklessness. 1 refer to the
comments which | made in the previous section about Mr Stadlen’s submission
that an allegation of dishonesty in the sense of subjective bad faith is an essential
element. The cffect of your Lordships” decision following the first hearing is to
the contrary. Recklessness is demonstrated where it is shown that the public
officer was aware of a serious risk of loss due to an act or omission on his part
which was unlawful but chose deliberately to disregard that risk. That is sufficient
t0 establish that he did not have an honest belief in the lawfulness of the conduct
which, to his knowledge, gave rise to that risk. Recklessness about the consequences,
in the sense of not caring whether the consequences happen ot not, will satisfy
the test. In this context there is no additional element of dishonesty or bad faith
that requires 1o be satisfied.  As for the particular officials against whom the
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allegation is made, I consider that the Bank has been given sufficient notice of the
claimants’ case against their officials in the particulars when read with the
documents.

[63] It is alleged in para 31 of the new draft particulars that the Bank in bad
faith at all times from 1979 onwards purported to rely pursuant to s 3(5) of the
1979 Act, and subsequently s 9(3) of the 1987 Act, upen assurances given by
1.BC/IML conceming the management and financial soundness of BCCl SA.
Particulars are then given in that paragraph of the matters about this
arrangement which are said to have been known to the Bank or about which it
was recklessly indifferent. These are that the principal place of business of BCCI
SA was in the United Kingdom, that LBC/IML did not and could not assure the
Bank thar it was satisfied with the management and overall financial soundness
of BCC1SA, and that for various reasons that are specified LBC/IML had declared
itself unable to carry out adequate supervision of both BCCI SA and the BCCI
Group. It is also said that the Bank knew that the consequence of its unlawful
reliance upon LBC/IML was that BCCI SA would be and would continue to be
unlawfully licensed, and subsequently authorised, and that it was recklessly
indifferent to the risk that this presented to depositors and porential depositors.
Inpara 37 of the new draft particulars, under reference at each stage in the history
to the facts and matters set out in Schs 2 to 7 of the particulars, details are given
of the respects in which the motives of the Bank for breaching its statutory duties
as regulator were in bad faith. It seemed to me at first sight that these particulars
give ample notice to the Bank of the case which is being made against it as to the
requirement of bad faith. But the point requires further examination in the light
of further points in Mr Stadlen’s argument.

[64] The claimants are taken some distance down the road they must travel by
a concession which the Bank made 1o Clarke J which the judge recorded in his
third judgment in these terms:

“With one exception I shall assume that they can establish that the Bank
knew, believed or suspected at each stage that its proposed act or its omission
was unlawful. With that one exception, the Bank has conceded that it cannot
show that the plaintiffs’ case that it knew, believed or suspected that its acts
or omissions were unlawful is doomed to failure. That exception is the way
that s 3(5) of the Banking Act 1979 was applied.”

[65] In the Court of Appeal, as appears both from the majority judgment and
thar of Auld LJ ([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 92, 179), it was understood to be common
ground that there was an arguable case that the Bank was aware of illegality in its
supervision of BCCI SA. Mr Stadlen objected to these passages on the ground
that the extent of the Bank’s concession was being misrepresented. He said that
the Bank made one very narrow concession only, which was that for the purposes
of the preliminary issue it was arguable that the Bank knew, believed or suspected
that it was not entitled to rely, for the purpose of ongoing supervision of BCCI
SA, on assurances given by LBC/IML because after, but not before, the licence

i was granted it knew, believed or suspected that its principal place of business was

not in Luxembourg. | am content to accept Mr Stadien’s assurance that the
concession was limited to this point. Nevertheless it seems to me ta be a significant
one. It limits the areas for discussion te the granting of the licence on the one
hand, as to which all issues remain in play, and to the Bank’s ongoing supervision
on the other hand, as to which the issue relates 1o the guestion whether the
pleadings reveal an arguable case as to recklessness about the consequences.
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[66) With regard to the question whether the claimants have §ufﬁciently
alleged dishonesty or bad faith when the Bank granted the licence'm tht; ﬁr_st
place, the majority in the Court of Appeal (at 92) agreed with Clarke J's finding in
his third judgment that there was material from which it was at least _arguable
that the Bank must have known at that stage that LBC were not regulating BCCI
SA properly and that it did not have the resources to do so in the future. lagree,
and | also consider that sufficient notice of the facts on which the Clalmanl':S
propose to rely is given in Seh 2 to the new draft panicu]afs. As for Mr Stadlen’s
argument that the documents read in the light of the B'lngham report do not
provide any support for these particulars, [ consider that issues of fact are raised
here which, subject to further arguments about abuse of process, I would n9t
expect to be answered satisfactorily in advance of a trial. As for the l'atcr stages in
the history, the issue of dishonesty or bad faith is so bound up with the broad
issue of recklessness that here too, subject to further arguments about abuse of
process, I would hold that the issue raises questions of fact and degree which are
best left for decision by the trial judge in the light of the evidence.

[67] The third argument is that there was a failure 1o provide particula_ri.s.ed
allegations in regard to the revacation claim. Mr Stadlen accepted th_at the mlt::lal
decision to licence BCCI $A was particularised. But he said that, despite Clarke J's
waming that particulars had to be given of the decisions that were said to amount
to misfeasance, the claimants’ case was still largely based on alleged omissions.
He said that only three instances could be identified in the new draft particulars
where it was alleged that decisions had been taken by the Bank not to revolfe.
These were the decision in October 1986 not to revoke the authorisation despite
its knowledge of the scale of BCCI S5A’s central treasury losses, the fiecision not
to revoke in December 1989 in the light of the criticisms expressed in the paper
prepared by the Banking Supervision Department for the Board o_f Banking
Supervision in November of that year and the decision not to revoke in January
1990 following the plea bargain-which led to the settlement of the Tampa
indictment (new draft particulars, Sch 5, para 27 and Sch 6, paras 19 a_nd 24).
He maintained that this was a fundamental defect in the revocation claim, as a
conscious decision was needed to support a case of misfeasance in public ofﬁct:..
It was not open to the clainants to rely on a general reference to the Bank's
omission 1o act day-by-day over the entire peried, as the tort required proof of
acts done by the public official intentionally.

[68] In my opinion this argument is based on a misconception of the thrust of
the claimants” allegations and on a misunderstanding of the requirements of the
tort. The claimants’ case, as Lord Neill explained, is that the Bank deliberately
ran away from its responsibility as the relevant supervisory authority t'hroughout
the history of BCCI SA's activities in this country to safeguard the interests of
depositors and potential depositors. He said that a series of events could be
identified in the particulars to show that the Bank deliberately failed ro take steps
which it might have taken to deal with the situation despite its awareness of facts
or circumstances which revealed the extent of the risk to those interests. | agree

that particulars are given throughout the pleadings of events which are arguably
of this character. Examples of such events are given in the new draft particulars
(Sch 5, paras 17 and 34-35), and there are many more. N

{69] Furthermore, as Lord Neill pointed out, the tort extends to decisions not
to exercise powers as well as decisions to exercise them. In the cafrly days, when
the tort was largely confined to disputes over voling rights,_lt was myokcd to deal
with the improper exercise ol official power. Later, it was invoked in other areas
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of official regulation through licensing and other controls of that kind, Again the
typical complaint was of the improper exercise of the power. That remains true
in the majority of the more modern cases. Bourgoin SA v Ministry of Agriculture
Fisheries and Food [1985] 3 All ER 585, (1986} QB 716 is an example, as that case
was concerned with the withdrawal of a licence. But, as Brennan ] said in Northern
Territory of Australia v Mengel (1995) 185 CLR 307 at 357 in a passage which was
approved in your Lordships’ previous judgment in this case, any act or omission
done or made by a public official can found an action for misfeasance in public
office. If it were otherwise, a banking regulator would be able to defeat a
misfeasance claim simply by resorting to inaction in the face of obvious and
immediate risks despite the fact that it knew, believed or suspected that its
reckless and deliberate course of inaction was likely to result in damage 1o
depositors and potential depositors. For these reasons | would reject the argument
that proof of conscious decisions to act or not to act is required. In my view the
tort extends to a deliberate or wilful failure to take those decisions,

[70] For these reasons I would hold that the facts pleaded by the claimants in
the new draft particulars are capable, if proved, of meeting the requirements of

the tort. I must now tum to the alternative ground for striking out, which was
that of abuse of process.

{4) THE DECISION OF THE COURTS BELOW TG STRIKE QUT

[71] Clarke J said that he understood it to be common ground between the
parties that in appropriate circumstances the eourt had power to strike an action
out under its inherent jurisdiction and under RSC Ord 18, r 19. The question
which he then asked himself was whether the Bank had shown that the claimants’
case was bound to fail on the material presently available and that there was no
reasonable possibility of evidence becoming available to them, whether by
further investigation, discovery, cross-examination or otherwise sufficiently to
support their case and to give it some prospect of success. As he put it, if the Bank
were to discharge that burden, it would follow that the claim was bound to fail
{third judgment}. He then embarked on a detailed examination of all the material
which was available to the claimants to supporr their claim. 1 agree with the
majority in the Court of Appeal ([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 90) that this was a vastly
difficult undertaking,

[72} Clarke J's conclusion, after examining the available material over many
days, was that the claimants had no arguable case on the material then available
that the Bank dishonestly licensed BCCI SA or dishonestly failed to revoke the
licence or authorisation in circumstances when it knew, believed or suspected that
it would probably collapse without being rescued (third judgment). The Court of
Appeal ({2000] 2 WLR 15 at 88, 90) agreed with the judge that it was right, in the
exceptional circumstances of this case, to conduct this exercise. After reviewing
the judge’s conclusion in great detail, the majority agreed (at 101) with the judge
that all the evidence indicated that up to April 1990 the Bank did not actually
foresee BCC1 SA’s imminent collapse, and thereafter that it did but properly

i relied on the prospect of a rescue.

[73] Concurrent findings of fact are not normally open to review in your
Lordships’ House. For the like reasons as those on which this rule is based I
would not have thought that it was appropriate for your Lordships to interfere
with the concurrent findings of the judge and the majority in the Court of Appeal
after conducting such a detailed and time-consuming exercise unless some flaw
in their reasoning could be demonstrated. There are, howevet, two provnds on
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which it was contended they misdirected themselves. The first relates to the
requirements of the tort. The second relates to the use which they made of the
Bingham report.

[74] ltis not necessary for me to deal in detail with the differences which have
emerged berween your Lordships and the courts below as to the requirements of
the tort. For the mast part Clarke }'s conclusions as to the legal principles to be
applied which he summarised at the end of his first judgment ([1996] 3 All ER 558
at 632-633) were approved in the judgment given by your Lordships after the first
hearing of this appeal ({2000] 3 Al ER 1, {2000] 2 WLR 1220). The majority in the
Court of Appeal said ([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 67, 101) that they were in broad
agreement with the judge’s conclusions on the tort and that they had adopted the
same approach as he had taken when they were considering whether the claimants’
case was bound to fail. But there is one point of difference which is of obvious
importance, as it lies at the heart of the argument between the parties. This relates
to the state of knowledge of the public officer about the prospect of loss that has
to be demonstrated where the claim is based on the concept of recklessness.

[751 In his formulation Clarke ] said that ({1996] 3 All ER 558 at 633) for the
purposes of the requirement that the officer knows that his act will probably
injure the claimant, it is sufficient if he has actual knowledge that his act will
probably damage the claimant or, in circumstances in which he believes or
suspects that his act “will probably’ damage the plaintiff, he does not ascertain
whether that is so or fails to make inquires as to ‘the probability” of such damage.

In the Court of Appeal {{2000] 2 WLR 15 at 101) the majority asked themselves ¢

whether the claimants had an arguable case that the Bank ‘actually foresaw’
BCCI's imminent collapse at each relevant stage. They went on to say (at 102)
that that formulation might have been too favourable to the claimants and that,
in view of the stringent requirements of the tort of misfeasance in public office,
the more appropriate question might be whether the Bank ‘knew’ that its
decision would cause loss to the claimants. [ would not regard the fact that the
latter observation is not supported by your Lordships’ judgment as important, as
the majority do not say that they based their decision on this view. Butit is clear
that the theme of knowledge of probable loss informed the approach which was
taken throughout these judgments to the question whether the claim should be
struck out.

[76] Mr Stadlen sought to support this approach. But, for the reasons which
I have already given, I would hold that it is not consistent with the effect of your
Lordships judgment following the first hearing. As I have already said when |
was reviewing the requirements of the tort in an earlier section of this judgment

(section (2)), the state of mind which amounts to subjective recklessness is h

demonstrated where it is shown that the public officer was aware of a serious risk
of loss due to an act or omission on his part which he knew to be unlawful but
chose deliberately to disregard that risk, and the question whether at any given
point of time that risk is sufficiently serious to justify a finding of recklessness is
one of degree. 1 consider that this point alone is sufficient to justify taking a fresh
look at the question whether the claimants have a seriously arguable case
directed to the issue of recklessness.

{77] Then there is the use which was made in their judgments by Clarke ] and
the majority in the Court of Appeal of the findings and conclusions in the
Bingham report. Clarke ] said (in his third judgment) that he recognised that
Ringham 1] was not conducting a trial but an inquiry, that he did not see a number
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of Bank ofﬁ'cials. that the witnesses whom he did see were not cross-examined in
an adversarial process and that there was no right of appeal. But he went on to say:

“On the other hand, it is plain that in addition to questioning witnesses
Bingham LJ considered in detail all the relevant internal documents in the
possession of the Bank, which involved a perusal of a mass of documentation
As1have already said, itis clear from the terms of Bingham 1J's covering fetter
to the Chancellor of the Exchequer, and indeed from many passages in the
report itself, that he was applying his mind to question what was the state of
niind ‘of the Bank at each stage. In these circumstances | accept Mr Stadlen’s
sub.mlssion that it is inconceivable that Bingham LJ was aware of material
which was materially at odds with his conclusions as to the state of mind of
the Bank. ‘There is, in my judgment, no realistic possibility that he has not
correctly set out the state of mind of the Bank at each stage.

Whilt?. it is, of course, true that I have seen only the report and not the
appcnfllccs, the published report is a summary of an even more detailed
narrative in the appendices. Since, as just stated, Bingham 1} was expressl
.considering the state of mind of the Bank at each stage, it is in my jud en{
inconceivable that there is in the appendices material which would orgrrnr: ht
support the conclusion that the Bank had the state of mind which ;ghc
plaintiffs must establish. If chere was, Bingham L] would have referred to it
even if only to dismiss it. He would certainly not have disregarded it. As i

have tried te indicate, at no doubt inordinate length, there is nothing in the
material which I have seen which gives arguable support for the plaintiffs’
case. I would, however, go further. There is nothing in that material which
gives reasonable grounds for supposing that there might be other evidence
which might in the future support the plaintiffs’ case. In these circumstances
I'accept Mr Stadlen’s further submission that there is no realistic possibili
of more evidence becoming available, whether by further in\rcstigaticutxy
discovery, cross-examination or otherwise, which might throw light upor;

the state of mind of the Bank or any of its relevant i i
_ . officials d i
in which BCCI was operating.’ cisls during the period

{78} The Court of Appeal said that, while the judge seemed to them 1o be
putting th‘c matter too high in the first of the two paragraphs which I have quoted
from his judgment, they agreed with him that there was no realistic possibilit
thaF the picture which would emerge if officials of the Bank were to give evidencz
which was tested by cross-examination would be fundamentally different. In that
respect the report was, despite its informal status, an invaluable aid to
fixstmgulishing between what was a practical possibility and whar was fanciful and
n?concelvablc ([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 91). Auld L disagreed with this approach. In his
view Clarke] was not entitled to treat the Bingham report el'fectiv‘el as
conclusive on the questions that arise in this litigation or to conclude that al{the
available evidence about the Bank's state of knowledge had been gathered in or
properly tested. He said (at 180) that there were no exceptional circumstances to

j justify departing from the normal rule of leaving the matter to the trial judge.

. [79] As1said in a previous section of this judgment (section (1)(b)), there are
important limitations on the use which can be made of the Bingham' report in
these proceedings. A sharp dividing line must be observed between Bin hfm Li’s
narrative of the evidence, which is a legitimate source to which refercrﬁ:e can be
made for the purposes of the motion to strike out, and his findings and conclusions
in the light of that evidence. It is not just that those findings and conclusions would
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not be admissible at trial. Fairness to the claimants requires that proper weight is
given to the nature of Bingham LJ's inquiry and its limitations. He was not asked
to determine the issues relating to the tort of misfeasance in public office which
the claimants now seek to raise. These issues were not on trial in those
proceedings. There is no doubt that Bingham Lj was chosen to conduct the
inquiry because of his outstanding qualities as a judge and the weight of authority
which his findings and recommendations would command. But those
considerations must not be allowed to affect the rigorous distinction that must be
maintained berween those parts of the report that are and are not relevant to the
Bank's motion to strike out.

[80] As I have already said, Clarke ] made it clear that he recognised these
limitations (in his third judgment). Nevertheless [ have formed the clear impression
that his view that the claim should be struck out was materially influenced by
findings and conclusions and the absence of findings and conclusions in the
Bingham report, and that he did not contine himself, as I consider he should have
done, strictly to the narrative. 1do not leave out of account the fact that he was
responding to the way in which the claimants had presented their case. Itis clear
that they were drawing on those aspects of the report that suited them. It is not
surprising that the Bank replied by pointing out those parts of the report that did
not, and that the judge in his turn was drawn into this argument. Nevertheless the
claimants are, in my view, entitled to say that Bingham LJ's findings and
conclusions ought not to be used against them in this way. Bingham LJ's findings
and conclusions about the availability of further evidence coming to light were
made in proceedings to which they were not parties, and they could not challenge
them on appeal, Cogent though these findings and conclusions may appear to be,
the claimants are entitled to a fair trial of the claim which they have made against
the Bank.

[81] In the following passage of his third judgment Clarke ] explained his
general approach w the Bingham report before he embarked upon a detailed
consideration of the various stages in the history:

"Mr Stadlen submits that there is no support anywhere in the Bingham
report for the conclusion that the Bank acted dishonestly, or that it knew that
it was acting unlawfully or thart it suspected that its acts or omission would
probably cause loss to depositors or potential depositors. For the reasons
already stated 1 shall focus only on the last of these, but 1 acceptthe
submission that there is no statement in the report which gives any support
for the conclusion that at any stage the Bank suspected that depositors and
potential depositors would probably suffer loss as a result of the Bank’s
action or inaction, Yet, as stated on page iti of the covering lerter to which 1
have already referred, it is clear that Bingham L] was considering the Bank’s
state of mind at every stage. In my judgment, if Bingham L) had formed the
view that at any stage the Bank suspected that its action or inaction would
probably injure depositors or potential depositors he would have said so.
Thus, if he had thought that the Bank suspected that BCCI would probably
collapse so that new depositors would probably lose their money at any stage
of the story from 1979 to 1991 he would have said so. Yet, not only did he
not say so, but his observations on the evidence are inconsistent with any
such conclusion.’

[82] Thereafter during his examination of the history he made frequent reference
to findings or conclusions, or to the absence of conclusions and findings, in
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th(? Bingham report. His purpose in doing so was to explain why he was of the
opinion that there was nothing in the material he had seen which gave reasonable
grounds for supposing that other evidence might become available to throw light
on the state of mind of the Bank during the relevant period: see the conclusion,
already quoted, which he expressed. The following passage, in which he dealt
with the claimants’ submission that the Bank must have known when it granted
the licence that the principal place of business of BCCI was in the United
Kingdom and not in Luxembourg, illustrates this point:

‘However, the difficulty with the plaintiffs’ submission is that Bingham L]
held in para 2.23 that the Bank never addressed the question what was meant
by principal place of business. It assumed wrongly that the principal place of
business was in the country of incorporation. Further Bingham L] says in
para 2.24 that the Bank never inguired whete the principal place of business
was, in the sense of where the mind and management of the company and
its central direction resided. The Bank thus treated s 3(5) of the Act as
applicable and applied it. In para 2.25 Bingham 1] says that he read nothing
sinister in that approach. Moreover, on the footing that the principal place
of business was in the United Kingdom, under s 36 BCCI was not entitled to
describe itself as a bank, but Bingham L] says in para 2.33 that it was not until
jafter the licence had been granted that the Bank recognised that fact. There
is, in my judgment, no material available to the plaintiffs or to the court to
lead to any different conclusion.’

[83] Among the other passages that might be quoted are those where the
judge referred to a conclusion in para 2.66 of the report in support of the view
that there was no evidence that the Bank suspected in June 1986 following the
central treasury losses that BCCI would probably callapse, let alone that it would
probably collapse because of an absence of remedial steps; where he referred to a
conclusion in para 2,154 of the report to the same effect as to the Bank'’s state of
mind in December 1989; and where he referred to paras 2.333 and 2.337 of the
report as to the Bank's state of mind in March 1991 when it commissioned Price
Waterhouse to investigate and report on malpractice within the group under s 41
of the 1987 Act. :

[84] In their written submissions to the Court of Appeal (para 61) the
claimants said that they did not object to the court having regard to the report.
But they pointed out that its contents would not be admissible in any trial and
that it was odd that the judge considered it permissible or appropriate to
determine factual issues by reference to it and to strike out the action in reliance
upon it. Nevertheless it is clear that the majority in that court followed Clarke J's
approach, and that to a material extent their decision to dismiss the appeal was
based on the same view as that which the judge had formed.in the light of the
findings and conclusions that Bingham L] expressed.

[85] That there was a fundamental difference of view in the Court of Appeal on
this point is clear from Auld LJ's dissenting judgment. He noted ([2000]2 WLR 15
at 179) the fact that Clarke J relied heavily on the Bingham report as a justification
for taking the exceptional course of striking out the claim as doomed to fail. After
pointing out the different functions of that inquiry from those involved in this
litigation and the disadvantages that were inherent in that procedure, he said (at 180):

“In the circumstances, I am of the view that Clarke J. was not entitled to
treat Bingham 1. J.’s report effectively as conclusive on the questions he, the
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judge, had to answer in this litigation or to conclude, as he did, that all the
available material evidence on those questions had been gathered in. Given
the greater generality of the questions in the Bingham inquiry, the limitations
of it as a factfinding exercise when compared with litigation, his
acknowledgement of a number of challenges to seme of his factual conclusions
and the emergence of additional material since the inquiry indicating the
Bank’s state of knowledge as to the Gokal unrecorded loans, I can see no
basis for Clarke J.'s confidence in this extraordinary and complex case for
concluding that Bingham L. had seen and fully tested all the material
evidence available or likely to become available on the issues confronting the
court in this case.”

i86] [ respectfully agree with and would indorse these observations. In my
judgment the extent to which the opinions expressed by both Clarke ] and the
majority in the Court of Appeal were dependent upon passages in the Bingham
report which are irrelevant to the issue of strike-out provides a further reason for
taking a fresh laok at this critical issue. For the same reasons ! consider that the
claimants’ motion for leave 1o re-reamend the statement of claim is open to
reconsideration by your Lotdships. The draft re-reamended statement of claim
has now been superseded by the draft new particulars, and it is to that document
that 1 shall direct my remarks on the question whether leave should now be
given.

(5) THE TEST FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT UNDER CPR 24.2

[87] Clarke ] ordered that the action should be struck out under RSC Ord 18,
t 19 on the grounds that the reamended statement of claim disclosed no reasonable
cause of action and that it would be an abuse of process or vexatious or oppressive
to give leave tore-reamend. The parties are agreed that if the question whether
the claim should be struck out is to be reconsidered it must now be determined
under the Civil Procedure Rules 1998, S| 1998/3132: see the general principle
stated in the Practice Direction supplementing CPR Pt51, parall (Pracrice
Direction—Transitional Arrangements). The power which is given to the court to
strike out under CPR Pt 3, which is concerned with the court’s case management
powers, is expressed in r 3.4(2) in these terms:

“The court ray strike out a statement of case if it appears to the court—(a) that
the statement of case discloses no reasonable grounds for bringing or
defending the claim; (b} that the statement of case is an abuse of the court’s
process or is otherwise likely to obstruct the just disposal of the proceedings;
or () that there has been a failure to comply with a rute, practice direction
or court order.”

(88} The partics also agree that, if Clarke J were to be held to have applied the
wrong test when he ordered the action to be struck out, the relevant rules under
the CPR are not confined to the provision for striking out in CPR 3.4. In
Margulies v Margulies [2000] CA Transcript 444 the judge’s decision to strike out
was given pursuant to RSC Ord 18, 1 19 before the coming into effect of the
CPR. Nourse L] said (at para 63} that, if the judge wrongly applied the test, the
Court of Appeal would have to determine the matter pursuant to CPR 24.2. 1
would not go so far as to say that your Lordships are obliged to treat the Bank’s
motion to strike out as an application for summary judgment under r24.2. It
would, ! think, be more aceurate ro say that your Lordships have power to do
so, and that the guestion is whether your Lordships should exercise that power
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(see Taylor v Midland Bank Trust Co Ltd {1999} CA Transcript 1200, Civil Procedure
(2000 edn) vol 1, para 3.4.6). CPR 24 sets out various procedural requirements
which do not apply to r 3.4. But the claimants do not object to the application of
r 24.2 on procedural grounds. So I would accept Mr Stadlen’s submission that it is
appropriate for the Bank’s application for the claim to be struck out to be treated
as if it were an application for summary judgment.

[89] CPR 24.2 provides:

“The court may give summary judgment against a claimant or defendant
on the whole of a claim or on a particular issue if—{a) it considers that—(i) that
claimant has no real prospect of succeeding on the claim or issue; or (ii) that
defendant has no real prospect of successfully defending the claim or issue;
and (b) there is no other reason why the case or issue should be disposed of
at a trial.’

{90] The test which Clarke J applied, when he was considering whether the
claim should be struck out under RSC Ord 18, r 19, was whether it was bound to
fail (see the third judgment). Mr Stadlen submitted that the court had a wider power
to dispose summarily of issues under CPR Pt 24 than it did under RSC Ord 18, 1 19,
and that critical issue was now whether, in terms of CPR 24.2(a)(i), the claitnants
had a real prospect of succeeding on the claim. As to what these words mean, in
Swain v Hillman [2001] 1 All ER 91 at 92, Lord Woolf MR said:

‘Under r24.2, the court now has a very salutary power, both to be
exercised in a claimant’s favour or, where appropriate, in a defendant’s
favour. It enables the court to dispose summarily of both claims or defences
which have no real prospect of being successful. The words "no real prospect
of being successful or succeeding” do not need any amplification, they speak
for themselves. The word “real” distinguishes fanciful prospects of success
or, as Mr Bidder QC [counsel for the defendant] submits, they direct the
court to the need to see whether there is a “realistic” as opposed to a
“fanciful” prospect of success.’

[91] The difference between a test which asks the question 'is the claim bound
to fail?’ and one which asks ‘does the elaim have a real prospect of success?” is not
easy to determine. In Swair’s case Lord Woolf MR (at 92) explained that the
reason for the contrast in language between r3.4 and r 24.2 is that under r 3.4,
unlike r 24.2, the court generally is only concerned with the statement of case
which it is alleged discloses no reasonable grounds for bringing or defending the
claim. In Monsanto ple v Tilly (1999) Times, 30 November, Stuart Smith LJ said
that r 24.2 gives somewhat wider scope for dismissing an action or defence.
In Taylor's case he said that, particularly in the light of the CPR, the court should
look to see what will happen at the trial and that, if the case is so weak that it had
no reasonable prospect of success, it should be stopped before great expense is
incurred.

[92] The overriding objective of the CPR is to enable the court to deal with cases

i justly (see r 1.1). To adopt the language of art 6.1 of the European Convention for

the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (Rome, 4 MNovember
1950; TS 71 (1953); Crd 8969) {set ourt in Sch I to the Human Rights Act 1998)
with which this aim is consistent, the court must ensure that there is a fair trial.
It must seek to give effect to the overriding objective when it exercises any power
given to it by the rules or interprets any rule (see r 1.2). While the difference
between the two testsis elusive, in many cases the practical effect will be the same.
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In more difficult and complex cases such as this one, attention to the overriding
objective of dealing with the case justly is likely to be more important than a
search for the precise meaning of the rule. As May L} said in Purdy v Cambran
{1999] CPLR 843 at 854:

“The court has to seek to give effect to the overriding objective when it
exercises any powers given to it by the rules. This applies to applications to
strike out a claim. When the court is considering, in a case to be decided
under the Civil Procedure Rules, whether or not it is just in accordance with
the overriding objective to strike out a claim, it is not necessary or appropriate
to analyse that question by reference to the rigid and overloaded structure
which a large body of decision under the former rules had constructed.”

[93] In Swain’s case Lord Woollf MR gave this further guidance:

‘It is important that a judge in appropriate cases should make use of the
powers contained in Pt 24. In doing so he or she gives effect to the overriding
objcctives comained in Pt 1. It saves expense; it achicves expedition; it avoids
the court’s resoutces being used up on cases where this serves no purpose,
and, 1 would add, generally, that it is in the interests of justice. If a claimant
has a case which is bound 1o fail, then it is in the claimant’s interests to know
as soon as possible that that is the position. Likewise, if a claim is bound to
stcceed, a claimant should know this as soon as possible ... Useful though
the power is under Pt 24, it is impottant that it is kept to its proper role. Itis
not meant to dispense with the need for a trial where there are issues which
should be investigated at the trial. As Mr Bidder put it in his submissions, the
proper disposal of an issue under Pr24 does not involve the judge
conducting a mini-trial, that is not the object of the provisions; it is to enable
cases, where there is no real prospect of success either way, to be disposed of
surmmarily.” (See [2001] 1, All ER 91 at 94-95.)

{6) WHETHER THE CLAIM SHOULD BE SUMMARILY STRUCK OUT

(94] For the reasons which 1 bave just given, I think that the question is
whether the claim has no real prospect of succeeding at trial and that it has to be
answered having regard to the overriding objective of dealing with the case
justly. But the point which is of crucial importance lies in the answer to the
further question that then needs to be asked, which is—what is to be the scope of
that inquiry?

[95] [would approach that further question in this way. The method by which
issues of fact are tried in our courts is well settled. After the normal processes of
discovery and interrogatories have been completed, the parties are allowed to
lead their evidence so that the trial judge can determine where the truth lies in
the light of that evidence. To that rule there are some well-recognised exceptions.
For example, it may be clear as a matter of Jaw at the outset that even if a party
were to succeed in proving all the facts that he offers to prove he will not be
entitled to the remedy that he seeks. In that event a trial of the facts would be 2
waste of time and money, and it is proper that the action should be taken out of
court as soon as possible. In other cases it may be possible to say with confidence
before trial that the factual basis for the claim is fanciful because it is entirely
without substance. It may be clear beyond question that the statement of facts
is contradicted by all the documents or other material on which it is based.
The simpier the case the easier it is likely to be take that view and resort to what
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is properly called summary judgment. But more complex cases are unlikely to be
capable of being resolved in that way without conducting a mini-trial on the
docoments without discovery and without oral evidence. As Lord Woolf MR
said in Swain's case [2001] 1 All ER 91 at 95, that is not the object ofthe rule. Itis
designed to deal with cases that are not fit for trial at all.

[96] In Wenlock v Moloney [1965] 2 All ER 871, [1965] 1 WLR 1238 the plainiiff's
claim of damages for conspiracy was struck out after a four-day hearing on
affidavits and documents. Danckwerts L] said of the inherent power of the court
to strike out:

‘.. this summary jurisdiction of the court was never intended to be exercised
by a minute and protracted examination of the documents and facts of the
case, in order to see whether the plaintiff really has a cause of action. To do
that, is to usurp the position of the trial judge, and to produce a trial of the
case in chambers, on affidavits only, without discovery and without oral
evidence tested by cross-examination in the ordinary way. This seems to me
{0 be an abuse of the inherent power of the court and not a proper exercise
of that power.” (See [1965) 2 All ER 871 at 874, [196511 WLR 1238 at 1244.})

Sellers L] said ({1965) 2 All ER 87 at 874, {1965} 1 WLR 1238 at 1243) that he had
no doubt that the procedure adopted in that case had been wrong and that the
plaintiff’s case could not be stifled at that stage, and Diplock L] agreed.

[97] In the Court of Appeal the majority said ([2000] Z WLR 15 at 86) that
‘this somewhat rigid position” had been modified in Williams and Humbert Lid v
W ¢ H Trade Marks (Jersey) Ltd, Rumasa SA v Multinvest (UK) Lid {1986] 1 ALLER 129,
[1986] AC 368, where Lord Templeman said ([1986] 1 Ali ER 129 at 139, [1986]
AC 368 at 435-436) that if an application 1o strike out involves a prolonged and
serious argument the judge should, as a general rule, decline to proceed with the
argument unless he not only harbours doubts about the soundness of the
pleading but, in addition, is satisfied that striking out will obviate the necessity for
a trial or will substantially reduce the burden of preparing for the trial or the
burden of the trial itself (see also [1986] 1 All ER 129 at 142-143, {1986] AC 368 at
441 per Lord Mackay of Clashfern). But they were satisfied that this case fell
within the exceptional class for the same reasons as those explained in the
Williams and Humbert case, and that Clarke J was right to embark upon the
exercise. | too would not criticise the judge for undertaking the exercise. Butl
would also pay careful regard to what the Court of Appeal in Wenlock’s case
regarded as objectionable. In Morris v Bank of America National Trust [2000] 1 AHER
954 at 966 Morritt L) said that Wenlock’s case illustrated a salutary principle. He
then said:

‘In the Three Rivers DC case the Court of Appeal upheld the decision of
Clarke ] to strike out a complicated claim for damages for misfeasance in a
public office made against the Bank of England for authorising BCCI to carry
on the business of banking. In that case all the evidence then available to the
plaintiff was before the court because all the facts had been investigated by
Bingham L] as he then was ... Obviously the fact of a recent inquiry is a
material distinction.’

For reasons already explained (in section (47, 1 do not think that the investigation that
was conducted by Bingham L justifies a departure from the principte. 1consider that
both Clarke ] and the majority in the Court of Appeal were wrong to approach
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this case on the basis that all the facts that are relevant to the claim that is being
made in this case had been investigated.

[98] The present case is, as everyone concerned with it has recognised, one of
a quite exceptional character. The issues of fact which the claimants seek to raise
are highly complex. They relate to matters in which they were not directly
involved, as they were third parties to the system of regulation which was set up
to protect them. They involve meetings and discussions between many parties at
which they were not represented and they extend, through no fault of theirs, over
a very long period, The issues of law are also complex, as the claim depends on
an assessment of the state of mind of the Bank’s officials at each of the various
stages in the history. Much of what was passing through their minds can be
discovered by examining the documents. But the court is normally reluctant to
draw inferences of the kind that need to be drawn in this case withour seeing and
hearing the witnesses. Bingham L] had that advantage. The court, so far, has not.

[99] My approach to this issue can therefore be summarised against this
background as follows. FFor the reasons which 1 have already given (in section (3)),
I consider that the claimants’ pleadings give sufficient notice to the Bank of the
case which they wish to present and that the facts pleaded are capable of satisfying
the requirements of the tort. That being so, I would be inclined to hold that this
highly complex case should not be decided on the documents without hearing
otal evidence but should go to trial. This view is reinforced by what I have said
about the Bingham report. I would leave out of account the findings and conclusions
in that report which the parties are agreed would at any trial be inadmissible. It is
not just that, strictly speaking, they are irrelevant to any decision that might be
made by the trial judge. Ialso believe, for the reasons that I have just given, that
it would be contrary to the overriding requirement of faimess for them to be
taken into account in reaching a decision as to whether this case can be decided
without hearing oral evidence.

1100] 1 would also examine the. question whether the claim has no real
prospect of succeeding at the outset from a totally neutral standpoint. By that
mean that [ would not make any assuniptions either one way or the other about
the competence orintegrity of the Bank or its oflicials as a prelude to examining
the available evidence. 1accept that conduct amounting to misfeasance in public
office is not to be inferred lightly. That is true as a general proposition, whatever
may be the task or status of the impugned public officer. But  think that it would
be to risk pre-judging the case to attempt to evaluate the action’s prospects of success
by considering at this stage, before hearing evidence, whether the claimants’ case
against the Bank as regulator is inherently implausible or scarcely credible. These
factors, raken as a whole, seem to me to point clearly against giving 2 summary
judgment in the Bank's favour under CPR Pt 24.

(101} [ turn then to the state of the evidence. 1 shall deal with this matter
briefly. Ivis clear, as my noble and learned friend Lord Steyn has indicated, that
the facts must be left to the trial judge if the case is to go to trial. As I said in my
introduction (section (1)(a)}, the history can conveniently be divided up into four
periods: (a) prior to the grant of the licence in June 1980, (b) June 1980 to
December 1986, (c) December 1986 to April 1990, and (d) April 1990 to closure in
July 1991

{102} In regard to the period prior to the grant of the licence in June 1980 the
majority in the Court of Appeal said that they agreed with Clarke J that there was
material from which it could be said to be ar least arguable that the Bank must
have known that the Luxembourg regulators were not regulating BCCI SA properly
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and did not have the resources to do so. They were against the claimants on the
question whether there was an arguable case on foresight of loss during this
period (200012 WLR 15 at 92). Clarke ] said, in his third judgment, that it seemed
to him to offend common sense to conclude that it actually knew, believed or
suspected that if it licensed BCCI SA it would, or even might, collapse. By April
1990, however, the picture had, in their view, entirely changed. “I'he majority in the
Court of Appeal said (at 99) that the Price Waterhouse report to the board of
BCCI Holdings of 18 April 1990 was highly significant, as it marked a date after
which it would be impossible in their judgment to contend that there was no
arguable case that the Bank was aware of a very serious and very immediate
threat to depositors of BCCI SA. Clarke J said that it is plain that the Bank
appreciated that in the absence of remedial steps BCCI would probably collapse.
His conclusion, however, was that at no time between April 1990 and June 1991
did the Bank believe or suspect that the majority shareholders would probably
not save the Bank. At this point therefore, as the majority in the Coust of Appeal
observed (at 99), the prospect of a rescue operation being promoted by the
Abu Dhabi government, and the Bank's perception of the various possible
outcomes, assumes central importance. The majority said (at 101) that they
agreed with the judge that the claimants had no arguable case that the Bank
dishonestly failed to revoke the authorisation of BCCI SA in circumstances when
it knew, believed or suspected that the company would probably collapse
without being rescued.

[103] These views were, as can be seen from the judgments, heavily
influenced by passages in the Bingham Report which [ consider to be irrelevant
to the question whether the claim should be struck out. I have examined the
available material from a different standpoint. 1 have left those passages out of
account. T have asked myself whether, in regard to each of the four periods, the
available material can be taken to have been fully examined and tested at this
stage. The limitations which are inherent in this exercise are obvious. All we can
do isread the matedal and compare it with the case that is being made in the new
shraft pacticulars, In a simple case this may be all that needs to be done in order
to reach a clear view that the claim has no real prospect of succeeding. 1f one can
reach that view, it follows as night follows day that all the usual fact-finding
exercises of discovery, interrogation and cross-examination of witnesses will
achieve no purpose and the claim should be struck out. But I am not persuaded
this exceptional case falls into that category.

[104] I agree that there is material in the documents that are already available
to support the pleading in Sch 2 of the new draft particulars that the Bank knew
that before the grant of the full licence to BCCI SA that it was not entitled to rely
on the Luxembourg regulator. Given that starting point, I cannot say that the
claimants have no real prospect of proving that the Bank knew that their initial
act in licensing BCCI SA was unlawful, that its licence and authorisation remained
unlawful throughout the remaining three periods and that all subsequent
omissions to revoke the licence and authorisation were affected by the same
illegality. I have more difficulty with the question whether there is material to
support the pleadingin Sch 3 that at the time of licensing the Bank knew tha loss
was probable or that it had the state of mind regarding loss to depositors and
potential depositors that amounted to recklessness. There is no direct evidence
of this in the available documents, and I am not confident that they contain any
material which suggests that contemporary documentary evidence 1o this effect is
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likely to become available. At best for the c.laimants, it appears that is a matter a
which will have to be inferred from other evidence.

{105] But it seems to me that, as events unfold_, this part of the case gathc;rs
momentum and that the available material makes it clear Fhat the !Sar{k knew hy
April 1990 at the latest thar, unless a rescue could be put in hand in tl;ne bx the
Abu Dhabi government, BCCI would collapse and that serious !oss to epqst‘l::lm:s
would then be inevitable. The pattern of events dur}ng this final period is b
complicated, as the majority in the Court of Appeal recogm§ed (at 100).hFor re‘asoll:s
already given 1 would leave out of account the fact, relied on by the mfajo_rtl)lz
(at 1013, that the conclusion in the Bingham report was that rescue was EE;TI !
and collapse not inevitable. In my opinion the documents alone do no tell the
full story, and the question whether the Bank knew that loss to depogtfors w::;s
probable or was reckless in the relevant sense cannot be answered satisfactorily
without hearing oral evidence. ]

[106] | agree with my noble and ]ear_ned frlicncl Lord H_obhqu::: l:hat .tnxz
overriding objective of dealing with cases justly mf:ludes dealing with t Cn};l 12
proporticnate manner, expeditiously, fairly apd without undue expense. rscﬂs J
says, each case is entitled only to an appropriate share of the court’s reslogx :
Account has to be taken of the need to allot resources to otht_er cases. Butldo ll'll)
believe that the course which I favour offends against t.hese important pn;xc:(}l) e?.
The most important principle of all is that which requires that each lciasa Fll ;tacé
with justly. It may well be that the claimants, on whom the onus ﬁs, v:ril ::
difficulties in presenting their case. They must face the fa(l:t tbat each an eﬁ ];Z

allegation of bad faith will be examined nggrous]y. A trial in t}llns case wi ! be
lengthy and it will be expensive. There is only so m.uch tdat :;\S?:ltemurt
management catt do to reduce the burdens on the parties and on the l
Nevertheless it would only be right for the claim to be struck out ifit has crlm rcia
prospect of succeeding at trial. 1do not think that one :si}oul'd l)cl mﬂ.utfnce int 1le
application of this test by the length or expense of the I|t|gat|0n that 18]-1[‘ ;})lros?tecbé f
Justice should be even-handed, whether t.he case bF simple or whet 1er c
complex. It is plain that the situation in which the claimants ﬁné themselves wad
not of their vwn making, nor are they to be blamed for the volum‘e an
complexity of the facts that must be invesngat.ed. I would hl(:lq that Jl:s[t;;
requires that the claimants be given an opportunity to present their case a

so that its merits may be assessed in the light of the evidence. N ‘

1107] [ have taken one other factor into ao?counf. The dcc151(.)ndwhlch yO}:;
Lordships are being asked by the Bank to take is to give summary ju g{lnelm 1ln i
favour on the entire claim. It would only be right to strike out the whole cdfum
if it could be said of every part of it that it has no real prospect of succee Lng.
That would mean that even the latest depositors \_vho were cntrusm}gh[ eir
money to BCCI SA up to the very end of the final period would b.e lg{t wit tou';]a
remedy. I think that that is too big a step to take on the aval_lal le ma E;lbé
Conversely, | consider that if one part of the claim is to go to trial it wou o
unreasonable to divide the history up and strike out oth‘er parts ofit. A glrfzaf eal
of time and money has now been expended in the examination of the pre |mmatl'§ i
issues, and 1 think that this exercise must now be brought to an end. I wou
reject the Bank's application for summary judgment.

(7) THE BANK'S CROSS-APPEAL ‘
[108] The cross-appeal by the Bank is directed to the secqnd and third 9f(itlue
three questions which in his order of 19 July 1995 Clarke J said should be tried as
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preliminary issues. The first question was whether the Bank is capable of being
liable to the claimants for the tort of misfeasance in public office. That is the
question to which the main part of this judgment has been directed. For the reasons
which I have given [ consider that it cannot be answered until the facts have been
established at trial. The second and third questions were whether the claimants’
alleged losses were caused in law by the acts or omissions of the Bank, and
b whether the claimants are entitled to recover for the tort of misfeasance in public
office as existing or potential depositors. The Court of Appeal ({2000] 2 WLR 15
at 68-70) held that it would be premature to decide these points conclusively in
the Bank's favour until the facts have been established. i respectfully agree. As |
said earlier {at[34)), the Bank, while reserving the right to pursue the issue at rrial,
accepts that it is capable of being liable for the tort to potential depositors and

€ questions of fact are raised by the issue about causation which are unsuitable for
summary determination at this stage.

(8) CONCLUSION ANID FURTHER PROCEDURE
[189] For these reasons I would allow the appeal and I would dismiss the
d cross-appeal. I'would set aside the order that the reamended statement of claim
be struck out, and | would give permission to the claimants to amend their
particulars of claim in terms of the new draft particulars.

[110] The claimants invited your Lordships to direct the Bank to serve an
amended defence within two months of the date of this order and the claimants
to serve a reply, if so advised, within six weeks of service of the amended defence,
and to direct the parties to arrange a case management conference with the
Commercial Court within four weeks of the date for service of the reply with a
view 1o determining further progress of this action and establishing all necessary
timetables and directions for bringing the case on for trial at the earliest date the
Commercial Court considers feasible, These proposals seem to me to be entirely
f reasomable. Like Lord Steyn, I anticipate that the court will wish to exercise its

powers of case management with a view to bringing the case to trial with due
despatch in accordance with the overriding objective and that further delay due
to the hearing of intetlocutory applications will now be kept to a minimum. Buton
balance I think that it is preferable to leave it to the commercial Jjudge in charge
of the case to make the appropriate directions.

e

g
LORD HUTTON. My Lords,

[111] 1have had the advantage of reading in draft the speech of my noble and
learned friend Lord Hope of Craighead and I gratefully adopt his account of the
factual and statutory background to this appeal and of the course of the

h proceedings in the High Court and the Court of Appeal. I am in general
agreement with his conclusions and with the reasons which he gives for them,
but because of the importance of the issues which have arisen for decision |
propose to state the reasons which have led me to the conclusion thar the
plaintiffs’ appeal should be allowed and that the action should not be struck out,

j [112] In his first judgment dated 1 April 1996 Clarke | ([1996] 3 All ER 558)
stated the ingredients of the tort of misfeasance in public office. In his second
judgment dated 10 May 1996 ({1996] 3 All ER 558 at 634) the learned judge held
that the amended statement of claim as pleaded at that date did not allege the
necessary knowledge of, or recklessness as to, the probability of loss, and that
accordingly if that statement of claim were not further amended the plaintiffs’
claim would fail and should be dismissed. But the juclge pave leave to the plaintiffs
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to apply to amend further the statement of claim. The plaintiffs then brought an
application before the judge for leave to reamend the statement of claim and by
his third judgment dated 30 July 1997 (unreported) the judge held that even if all
the proposed amendments to the statement of claim were permitted the
plaintiffs’ claim was bound to fail. The judge stated:

‘{ have reached the firm conclusion that on the material available at present
the plaintifls have no arguable case that the Bank dishonestly granted the
licence ta BCCI or dishonestly failed to revoke the licence or authorisation
in circumstances when it knew, believed or suspected that BCCI would
probably collapse. There is nothing in the Bingham report [fnquiry into the
Supervision of the Bank of Credit and Commerce Iniemational (HC Paper 198
(1992-93))| or in the documents which | have seen to support such a ¢
conclusion and there is much to contradict it.”

Accordingly the judge ordered that the action be struck out, but the judge made
it clear that, but for the conclusion which he had reached that the plaintiffs’ action
was bound to fail, it is likely that he would have allowed all, or almost all, the
proposed amendments to the staternent of claim.

[113] The Court of Appeal (Auld 1] dissenting) upheld the decision of Clarke |
and, delivering the joint judgment of himself and Robert Walker L], Hirst 1)

stated:

“The judge reached the firm conclusion, i his third judgment, that, on the
material then available, the plaintiffs had no arguable case that the Bank
dishonestly licensed B.C.C 1. §.A. or dishonestly failed to revoke the licence
or authorisation in circumstances when it knew, believed or suspected that
the company would probably collapse without being rescued. We agree
with that conclusion. We also agree that, in all the circumstances of this
extraordinary case, it is now for practical purposes inconceivable that new  f
material would emerge of such significance as to alter that conclusion. The
tort alleged is a tort of dishonesty, and the plaintiffs” claim must be rigorously
assessed on their pleaded case and the evidential material shown to be
available to support it.” (See [2000] 2 WLR 15 at 101.)

In his dissenting judgment, Auld 1] stated (at 180): g

‘As the authorities to which Hiest and Robert Walker L JJ. have referred
indicate, it is normally only in clear and obvious cases that a court should
strike out a claim as incapable of proof at the interlocutory stage and before
full discovery. In cases, such as this, of great legal and factual complexity, it
requires a justified confidence that the plaintiffs’ case is and will remain
incapable of proof and most exceptional circumstances to justify stifling it at
an early stage. For the reasons that | have given, I do not consider that the
court can be confident that all the evidence material to Clark J.'s conclusion
about the Bank's state of knowledge has been gathered in or, which is as

important, properly tested.’ J

[114] In giving judgment on the legal issues relating to the nature of the tort
of misfeasance in public office the House directed that the plaintiffs should
prepare a new draft pleading ([2000] 3 All BR 1 at 13,[2000]) 2 WLR 1220 at 1236)
and accordingly the plaintiffs have prepared and served a new pleading consisting
of particulars of claim which, with a few additions, largely contain the allegations
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pleaded in the reamended statement of claim and in the re-reamendments which
the plaintiffs sought leave to make from Clarke J.

f115] Before the House in the present hearing the plaintiffs submitted that the
new particulars of claim disclosed a cause of action on which they were entitled
to proceed to trial. The Bank of England (the Bank) advanced two main
submissions. The first was that the plaintiffs’ claim, whether as formulated in the
reamended statement of claim or in the re-reamendments which Clarke ]
considered in his third judgment, or as formulated in the new particulars of claim
disclosed nio reasonable cause of action so that the action should remain struclé
out. The Bank’'s second submission was that the plaintiffs’ claim, in whatever
way it was formulated, was frivolous and vexatious and/or an abuse of process
and on that ground also the action should remain struck out.

(116] The issues which arose before Clarke ] and the Court of Appeal as to
whether the pleadings disclosed a reasonable cause of action and/ or were frivolous
and vexatious and/or an abuse of process were issues which were governed by
RSC Ord 18, r 19(1)(a}(b) and (d). 1 think that in applications under the RSC a
clear distinction was not always drawn between an application under Ord 18
£ 19(1)(a) to strike out a staternent of claim on the ground that it disclosed nc;
rea{sonablc cause of action and an application under Ord 18, r 19(1)(b) and (d) to
strike out a statement of claim on the ground that it was frivolous or vexatious
and/or an abuse of the process of the court, and, in practice, there were cases
where it was difficult to draw or give effect to this distinction. But in a complex
case such as the present one I think it is helpful to recognise the distinction.

{117] The Supreme Court Practice 1999, vol 1, para 18/19/10 stated with
reference to r 19(1)(a):

‘A reasonable cause of action means a cause of action with some chance of
success when only the allegations in the pleading are considered (per Lord
Pearson in Druntmond Jackson v. British Medical Association ({1970]1 All ER 1094
(1970] 1 WLR 688)). So long as the statement of claim or the particulars:
(Davey v. Bentinck ([1893] 1 QB 185)) disclose some cause of action, or raise
some question fit to be decided by a Judge or a jury, the mere fact that the
case is weak, and not likely to succeed, is no ground for stiiking it out (Moore
v. Lawson ((1915) 31 'TLR 418), Wenlock v Moloney ([1965] 2 All ER 871, [1965]
1 WLR 1238)) ...

Therefore if a plaintiff would be entitled to judgment if he were successful in
proving the matters alleged in his pleadings, the statement of claim could not be
struck out under Ord 18, r 19(1){a) on the ground that he had no prospect of
adducing evidence to prove the matters which he aileged. Ifa defendant wished
to strike out a statement of claim and to obtain an order for the dismissal of the
action on the ground that the plaintiff had no prospect of proving the case which
he alleged in his statement of claim he had to do so under RSC Ord 18, r 19(1)(b)
and/or (d). A case which illustrates this (although the application was to strike

( out, not a statement of claim, but a plea of justification in a defence) was the

application made in McDonald’s Corp v Steel {19951 3 All ER 615 where the Court
of Appeal considered the correct approach to an application under Ord 18, t 19(d)
to strike out a pleading for abuse of process and held (at 623) that the p(;wer to
strike out was a draconian remedy which was to be employed ouly in clear and
obvious cases where it is possible to say at an interlocutory stage and before full
discovery that a particular allegation was incapable of being proved.
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(118] In the present case when Clarke J struck out the actionlhe‘di(,:l so on the
ground that even with all the proposed re-reamendments the plaintifis’ claim was
bound to fail and that in those circumstances it would be an abuse of the process
or vexatious or oppressive to allow the action to proceed (paras 6 and 7 of his
third judgment).

[119] 'The applications before Clarke J and the Court opr‘p.eal were governed
by the RSC but those rules have now been replaced by the Civil Proced.ure Rules b
1998, S1 1998/3132. 1 think that r 3.4(2)(a) of the new rules corresponds ina broad
way to RSC Ord 18, r 19(1)(a) and r 3.4(2)(b) and r 24.2(a)(i) correspond in a broad
way to Ord 18, r 19(1)(b) and (d). CPR 3.4(2) provides:

“T'he court may strike out a statement of case if it appears to the court—(a) that
the statement of case discloses no reasonable grounds for bringing or ¢
defending the claim; (b) that the statement of case is an abuse of the. court s
process or is otherwise likely to obstruct the just disposal of the proceedings ...

CPR 24.2{a)(i) provides:

“The court may give summary judgment against a claimant or defepdant d
on the whole of a claim or on a particular issue ifF—{a} it considers that.—(:) that
claimant has no real prospect of succeeding on the claim or issue ...

[120] The new particulars of claim, served pursuant to the directi.on of the
House, were served after the new CPR came into force, and therefore if C}arlfej
and the majority of the Court of Appeal erred in their approach to tht-! application
to strike out the action the question whether the action should remain struck out
falls to be determined by the House under the wording.of t}}e new rules. Inthe
present case I think it is desirable, as | have stated, to distinguish bet-ween the two
grounds on which the Bank submits that the action should remain struck out.
Using the terminology of the new rules one ground is that the statement of c?se f
tlooking only at the pleadings themsclves) discloses no reafonablc. grounccil I(:r
bringing the claim (which 1 shall term ‘the altac!( on the plleadmgs point), an."‘f e
other ground is that, taking inte account the evidence a\:mlable tothe _plamu Ts to
adduce at a trial, they have no real prospect of succeeding on the claim (which [
shall term: "the no real prospect of success point’).

The attack on the pleadings point . . _
(121] My Lords, the essential ingredients of the tort .of mlsfeasaqce in pul?hc
office were stated in the judgment of the House following the previous hearing
({2000} 3 All ER 1 at 8-10,{2000] 2 WLR 1220 at 1239—-1 233)and Il do not propose
again to restate those elements with precision. But it is clear thara plaintiff must
prove: (1) an abuse of the powers given to a public officer; (2) that _the abuse w.'a}i
constituted by a deliberate act or deliberate omission by the public officer wit
knowledge that the act or omission was wrongful or with rccl%lcssness as to
whether or not the act or omission was wrongful; (3) that the pubhc'of.ﬁccr acted ‘
in bad faith; and (4) that the public officer knew Lhat‘his act or omission V\:'mf:;] i
probably injure the plaintiff or was reckless as to the n§k f’f injury to tlhe plamt; .
In addition the plaintiff must prove that the act or omission caused him loss, but
issues of causation do not arise at this stage. As to the first and second matters to
be proved, 1 cansider that the particulars of claim sufficiently a}lcge. t-hat the Barl:k
deliberately abused its statutory powers in licensing BCCl and in failing to revoke
the licence after it had been granted. Paragraph 33, for example, alleges:

f
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‘Ne revocation of the licence under the 1979 Act The Bank, knowingly, deliberately
contrary to the statutory scheme or recklessly indifferent to whether it was
acting in accordance with the statutory scheme or wilfully disregarding the
risk that it was not acting in accordance with the statutory scheme and in bad
faith:

33.1 purported to conclude that it was still entitled to rely upon assurances
from the LBC/IML and/or that it had no discretion or power to revoke the
full licence when the Bank knew or was recklessly indifferent as to whether
or wilfully disregarded the risk that, as was the case:

33.1.1 the criteria under paragraphs 7 (fit and proper), 8 (four eyes) and 10
(prudent manner) of Schedule 2 to the 1979 Act had not been fulfilled at the
time of the grant of the full licence and remained unfulfilled ac all times
thereafter;

33.1.2 BCCI SA was illegally calling itself a bank contrary to subsection
36(1) of the 1979 Act;

33.1.3 BCCI 8A had conducted and continued to conduct irs affairs in a
way which threatened the interests of its depositors;

33.1.4 the Bank's continued reliance upon assurances from the LBC/IML
as to BCCI SA's management and financial soundness was unlawful, and the
Bank further knew that the likely consequences were that depositors and
potential depositors would suffer losses or the Bank wilfully disregarded the

risk of the consequences or was recklessly indifferent to the consequences;
and/or ...

{122] Bad faith is an essential element in the tort of misfeasance. In accordance
with a well-established rule it is necessary that bad faith {or dishonesty—the term

used in some authorities) should be clearly pleaded. In Davyv Garrett (1878) 7 Ch D
473 at 489 Thesiger 1] said:

“There is another still stronger objection to this statement of claim. The
Plaintifls say that fraud is intended to be alleged, yet it contains no charge of
fraud. In the Common Law Courts no rule was more clearly seutled than
that fraud must be distinctly alleged and as distinctly proved, and that it was
not allowable to leave fraud to be inferred from the facts. It is said that a
different rule prevailed in the Court of Chancery. 1 think that this cannot be
correct. It may not be necessary in all cases to use the word “fraud”—indeed
in one of the most ordinary cases it is not necessary. An allegation that the
Defendant made to the Plaintiff representations on which he intended the
Plaintiff to act, which representations were untrue, and known to the
defendant to be untrue, is sufficient. The word “fraud” is not used, but two
expressions are used pointing at the state of mind of the Defendant—that he
intended the representations to be acted upon, and that he knew them o be
untrue. It appears to me that a Plaintiff is bound to shew distinctly that he
means to allege fraud. In the present case facts are alleged from which fraud
might be inferred, burt they are consistent with innocence. They were
innocent acts in themselves, and it is not to be presumed that they were done
with a fraudulent intention.”

I would observe that the last two sentences in this passage have to be read
together with the sentence which immediately precedes them. In Belmont Finance
Corp Ltd v Williams Furniture Ltd [1979] 1 All ER 118 at 130-131, [1979] Ch D 250
at 268 Buckley L] stated:
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‘In the present case, do the facts alleged in the statemnent of claim suffice to
bring home to the defendants or any of them a charge that (a) the object of
the alleged conspiracy was a dishonest one; and (b) that they actually knew,
or must be taken to have known, that it was so? An allegation of dishonesty
must be pleaded clearly and with particularity. ‘That is laid down by the rules
and it is a well-recognised rule of practice. This does not import that the
word “fraud” or the word “dishonesty” must necessarily be used: see Davyv p
Garrett (1878) 7 Ch D 473 at 489 ... per Thesiger 1J. The facts alleged may
sufficiently demonstrate that dishonesty is allegedly involved, but where the
lacts ave complicated this may not be so clear, and in such a case it is
incumbent upon the pleader to make it clear when dishonesty is alleged. 1fhe
uses language which is equivocal, rendering it doubtful whether he is in fact
relying on the alleged dishonesty of the transaction, this will be fatal; the €
allegation of its dishonest nature will not have been pleaded with sufficient
clanity.’

(123] In the present case paras 36, 37 and 38 of the particulars of claim allege:

'36. Failitre to supervise ‘The Bank, knowingly, deliberately contrary to the d
statutory scheme or recklessly indifferent to whether it was acting in
accordance with the statutory scheme or wilfully disregarding the risk that it
was not acting in accordance with the statutory scheme and in bad faith
failed in the respects set out in these particulars of claim to supervise either
BCCI SA or BCCI Overseas when: (36.1) the Bank knew that it had a duty to
supervise under the 1979 and 1987 Acts; (36.2) the Bank’s motives in
deliberately failing to supervise were those pleaded in paragraph 37; (36.3)
the Bank knew that the consequences of BCCI SA and/or BCCI Overseas
being unsupervised was that depositors and potential depositors would
suffer losses or was recklessly indifferent to the consequences or wilfully
disregarded the risk of the consequences. In support of these contentions the f
claimants will rely, prior to disclosure, on the facts and matters set out in
Schedules 2to 7.

THE BANK'S MOTIVES FOR EREACHING ITS STATUTORY DUTIES

37. The motives of the Bank in acting as pleaded above were improper and
unlawful and in the premises the Bank acted in bad faith, The Bank’s motives
were: (37.1) to avoid having to comply with its duty to make, review and, if
necessary revise its own express evaluation of the relevant statutory criteria
in relation to BCCI SA, the Bank at all times knowing or suspecting that such
criteria were not satisfied (as pleaded above), (37.2) to avoid having to
become the lead supervisor in relation to BCCI or the consolidated
supervisor of the BCCI Group, even though it knew that it was the only
supervisor capable of performing those roles; (37.3) to avoid the risks
attaching to the Bank from taking on responsibility for becoming lead
supervisor or in undertaking consolidated supervision of the BCCI Group
including: (37.3.1) the risk of blame; and (37.3.2) the risk of Her Majesty’s
Treasury having toactasa lender of last resort; {37.4) to avoid the substantial j
political and diplomatic problems which would have been generated by the
refusal or revocation of BCCI SA's licence or authorisation and the closure
of its 45 branches in the United Kingdom; (37.5) as to the use of a bank name
by BCCI, to perpetuate a situatior, which the Bank had favoured since as
carly as 1978, that regardless of any statutory requirements, BCCI SA should
continue 10 e permtitted o use the word “bank™ as part of its corporate
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a description in the Unitcc! Kingdom; (37.6) to avoid having to comply with its
stat;:tc;ry du;y \;hereby it should have required BCCl Overseas forthwith to
apply for and obtain a full licence under the 1979 Act ing i
o e Kinatlomm. ct or to cease trading in
38. The claifnanrs' case is that in determining the Bank’s motives the Bank
must be considered in the round as the body made responsible by the 1979
b and 1987 Acts for providing the supervisory regime mandated by those Acts
_for banks. The motives attributed to the Bank pleaded above are a matter of
mfefence from the primary facts pleaded in Schedules 2 to 7. Further
particulars will be given following disclosure.’

[dl 24] InAnnitage v Nurse[1997]2 All ER 705 ac 715, [1998] Ch 241 at 256 Millett 1]
¢ said:

It is not necessary to use the word “fraud” or “dishonesty” if the facts
which make the conduct complained of fraudulent are pleaded; but, if the

facts pleaded are consistent with innocence, then it is not open to the court
to find fraud.”

d
Later in his judgment Millett L] said:

fTam of opinionT that, as at present drawn, the amended statement of claim
does not allege dishonesty or any breach of trust for which the trustees are

not absolved from lability by ¢l 15" (See [1997])2 AL E
. not sbsolved [1997] R 705 at 718, [1998]

In Taylor v Midland Bank Trust Co Ltd {1999} CA Transcri
ript 1200 Buxt
referred to the first observation of Millett L and said: P xton 1]

ThaF, however, was an observation about pleading, not about substance.
f Il‘? (unlike the pleader in our case) the claim does not expressly allege
dishonesty, but stands on facts alone, those facts on their face will meer the

requirement of a specific allegation of dishonesty only if they can bear no
other meaning,’

But in.the present case, unlike in Armitage’s case, the pleader does expressly allege
bad faith because para 37 pleads that ‘the motives of the Bank in acting as pleaded
ah_ov’e were improper and unlawful and in the premises the Bank acted in bad
fath' and the paragraph sets out particulars in support of that allegation. In m
opinion those particulars are not consistent with mere negligence. l ¢
[125] 1 further consider that if a plaintiff clearly alleges dishonesty or bad faith
and gives particulars, the statement of clim cannot be suuck out under

h CPR 3.4(2)(a) because the facts he pleads as giving rise to an inference of

d_ishoncsry or bad faith may at the trial, after a full investigation of the
circumstances, be held not to constitute proof of that state of mind. 1fa defendant
apphe_s to strike out an action on the ground that the plaintiff has no prospect of
adducing evidence at the trial to establish the case which he pleads the appifcalion '

j should be broughr under CPR 3.4(2)(b) or CPR 24.2(a)(1).

[126] Mr Stadlen QC, for the Bank, submitted that the pleadings were defective
becau.se they did not allege that identified or identifiable bank officials took
conscious decisions to do acts or 1o refrain from doing acts with the requisite guil
state of mind. I do not accept that submission. It is clear from the authnritie?tha{
a plnin.tiff can allege misfeasance in public office against a body such as a local
authority or a government ministry (sce Dunlop v Weollahra Muvicipal Council




554 Al England Law Reports [2001] 2 All ER

(1981] 1 All ER 120z, [1982] AC 158 and Bourgoin SA v Ministry of Agriculture
Fisheries and Food [1985] 3 All ER 385, [1986] QB 716). Therefore 1 consider that
the plaintiffs are entitled in their pleadings to allege in the manner they have done
misfeasance in public office against the Bank without having to give particulars of
the individual officials whose decisions and actions they claim combined to bring
about the misfeasance alleged.

[127] The fourth element which the plaintiff must prove to establish the tort
is that the public officer knew that his act or omission would probably injure the
plaintiff or was reckless as to the risk of injury to the plaintiff. Mr Stadlen
submitted that the judgments of the House after the earlier hearing established
that to prove recklessness the plaintiff must not merely establish thar the officer
was aware that there was a risk of injury to the plaintiff but that he believed or
suspected that his act or omission would probably injure the plaintiff and was
recklessly indifferent to that probable injury. Mr Stadlen further submitted that
in pleading recklessness in a number of places in the particulars of claim the
plaintiffs had failed 106 plead that the Bank believed or suspected that its act or
omissions would probably damage the plaintiffs and was recklessly indifferent to
that injury and merely pleaded that the Bank ‘wilfully disregarded the risk of the
consequences or was recklessly indifferent to the consequences’: see for example
the last four lines of para 33.1 which I have set out above.

[128] Having expressly pleaded that ‘the Bank further knew that the likely
consequences were that depositors and potential depositors would suffer losses’
the plaintiff then pleaded ‘or the Bank wilfully disregarded the risk of the
consequences or was recklessly indifferent to the consequences’, and in my
opinion the distinction between so pleading and pleading that the Bank believed
or suspected that its acts or omissiens would probably damage the plaintiffs and
was recklessly indifferent to that probable injury is such a fine one that an
argunient based on the distinction cannot constitute a ground for a strike-out
under v 3.4(2)(a). ln British Airways Pension Trustees Ltd v Sir Robert McAlpine &
Sons Lid (1994} 45 Con LR 1 the plaintiffs” statement of claim alleged thar defects
in a development constructed by Mcalpine and designed by Project Design
Partnership had diminished its value. The defendants applied to strike out the
statement of claim on the ground (inter alia) that it failed to identify which of
the alleged defects had caused which part of the alleged diminution in value. In the
Court of Appeal Saville L] (at 4-5) stated:

“The various defects alleged by the phaintiffs might not all be attributable
to all the defendants, the cost of remedying the individual defects was not
given and no attempt was made to ascribe 1o each defect the amount by
which it contributed to the alleged diminution in value. At the same time |
have some difficulty in seeing how the defendants could fairly be said to be
serjiously prejudiced by these omissions. The pleading alleges that the defects
respectively attributable ta McAlpine and PDP each caused the alleged
diminution in value. The alleged defects themselves were set out in some
detail, McAlpine and PDP had been on site for a considerable time after
practical completion and so had their own means of knowledge of the
alleged defects. Thus it seems to me that it can hardly be said that these
defendants were in any real fashion placed in a position where they were
unable to know what case they had to meet or were facing an unfair hearing
... The basic purpose of pleadings is to enable the opposing party to know
what case is heing made in sufficient detail to enable that party properly to

b
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prepare to answer it. 'To my mind it seems that in recent years there has been
a tendency to forget this basic purpose and to seek particularisation even
whenitis not really required. “Thisis not only costly in itsell, but is calculated
tolead to delay and to interlocutory baitles in which the parties and the court
pore over endless pages of pleadings to see whether or not some particular
point has or has not been raised or answered, when in truth each party
knows perfectly well whar case is made by the other and is able properly to
prepare to deal with it. Pleadings are not a game to be played at the expense
of the litigants, nor an end in themnselves, but a means to the end, and that
end is to give each party a fair hearing.’

And in considering the purpose of pleadings under the CPR in McPhilemy v Times
Newspapers Ltd [1999] 3 All ER 775 at 793 Lord Woolf MR stated: “What is
important is that the pleadings should make clear the gencral nature of the case
of the pleader. This is true both under the old rules and the new rules.’

[129] I the present case where the plaintiffs plead that the Bank knew that the
likely consequences were that depositors and potential depositors would suffer
loss and then, in the alternative, plead recklessness, I do not consider that the
omission to plead in the context of recklessness that the Bank believed or
suspected that injury was likely could prejudice the Bank: and if the ultimate
outcome of the trial were to depend on the precise elemems necessary to
constitute recklessness, I do not consider that the state of the pleadings would
prejudice the Bank in advancing any arguments available to it.

The no real prospect of success point

[130] The decision by Clarke ], upheld by the majority of the Court of Appeal,
that the action was bound to fail and therefore should be struck out was based on
two principal conclusions. One was that there was before him all the evidence
which was at that time available to the plaintiffs and that there was no reasonable
possibility of the plaintiffs abtajning more evidence in the future, whether by
further investigation, discovery, cross-examination of the Bank’s witnesses of
otherwise which might enable them 1o succeed. The second conclusion was that
on the basis of the evidence before him the plaintiff’s claim was bound to fail (see
Clarke J's third judgment).

[131] It is apparent from the judgments of Clarke ] and the majority of the
Court of Appeal that in ruling that the plaintiffs’ ctaim was bound to fail they took
into account the findings and conclusions of Bingham L set out in his report.
Thus in his third judgment Clarke | stated:

‘Mr Stadlen submits that there is no support anywhere in the Bingham
report for the conclusion that the Bank acted dishonestly, or that it knew that
it was acting unlawfully or that it suspected that its acts or gmissions would
probably cause loss to depositors or potential depositors. For the reasons
already stated 1 shall focus only on the last of these, but | accept the
submission that there is no statement in the report which gives any support
for the conclusion that at any stage the Bank suspected that depositors and
potential depositors would probably suffer loss as a result of the Bank's
action or inaction. Yet, as stated on page iii of the covering letter to which I
have already referred, it is clear that Bingham L] was considering the Bank's
state of mind at every stage. In my judgment, if Bingham LJ had formed the
view that at any stage the Bank suspected that its action or inaction would
probably injure depositors or potential depositors he would have said so.
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Thus, if he had thought that the Bank suspected that BCCI would probably
collapse so that new depositors would probably lose their money at any stage
of the story from 1979 to 1991 he would have said so. Yet, not only did he
not say so, but his observations en the evidence are inconsistent with any
such conelusion.’

There are other passages in his judgment where it is clear that Clarke J was
influenced by findings or conclusions arrived at by Bingham L), and these have
been referred to by my noble and learned friend Lord Hope in his speech.

[132] Bingham L] is a judge of the greatest eminence and distinction and his
report sets out the entire history of BCCI from its establishment in the United
Kingdom until its liquidation and the Bank's relationship to it with the greatest
clarity and with much detail. It was therefore inevitable that the plaintifls would
make use of the information contained in the report in drafting their statement of
claim. However, notwithstanding the distinction of its author, it is clear that
under well-established principles the findings and conclusions of Bingham 1] as
1o the actions and motives of the Bank would be inadmissible on the hearing of
the action: it would be the duty and responsibility of the trial judge to decide for
himself, on the evidence which he heard, what were the actions and motives of the
Bank. And notwithstanding that it appears that both before Clarke J and the Court
of Appeal the plaintiffs themselves sought to rely on certain passages of the
Bingham report which they thought supported their case, [ consider that it was
also impermissible for the judge and the majerity of the Court of Appeal in
deciding at this interlocutory stage whether there was no real prospect of the
action succeeding to be influenced by the findings and conclusions of Bingham 1.
Therefore | am in respectful agreement with the observation of Auld L] ([2000]
2 WLR 15 at 180) in his dissenting judgment: ‘In the circumstances, I am of the
view that Clarke ] was not entitled to treat Bingham LJ's report effectively as
conclusive on the questions he, the judge, had to answer in this litigation ...’

[133] Therefore I am of the dpinion that by taking into account the findings
and conclusions of Bingham L], Clarke J and the majority of the Court of Appeal
erred in considering the issue whether the plaintiffs” claim was bound to fail and
that accordingly the House must itself address its mind to the issue (using the
terminology of CPR 24.2(a)(i)} whether the plaintiffs have no real prospect of
succeeding in their claim.

[134) In Swain v Hillman [2001] 1 All ER 91 at 92 Lord Woolf MR said:

*The words “no real prospect of being successful or succeeding” do not
need any amplification, they speak for themselves. The word “real” distinguishes
fanciful prospects of success or, as Mr Bidder QC [counsel for the dcfcndant.]
submits, they direct the court to the need to see whether there is a “realistic”
as opposed to a “fanciful” prospect of success.’

And (at 95);

‘Useful though the power is under Pt 24, it is important that it is kept to its
proper role. It is not meant to dispense with the need for a trial where ther_e
are issues which should be investigated at the trial. As Mr Bidder put itin his
submissions, the proper disposal of an issue under Pt 24 does not invol_ve_ the
judge conducting a mini-trial, that is not the object of the provisions; it is to
enable cases, where there is no real prospect of success either way, to be
disposed of summarily.”
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[135] Mr Stadlen submitted that an action should be struck out if it was
apparent that at the trial the plaintiff could adduce no evidence to establish the
case which he pleaded and he relied on the judgment of Neill L] in McDonald’s
Corp v Steel [1995] 3 All ER 615 at 621:

‘It is true that a pleader must not put a plea of justification {or indeed a plea
of fraud) on the record lightly or without careful considzration of the evidence
available or likely to become available. But, as counsel for the plaintiffs
recognised in the course of the argument, there will be cases where,
provided a plea of justification is properly particularised, a defendant will be
entitled to seek support for his case from documents revealed in the course
of discovery ot from answers 1o interrogatories. in recent times there has
been what I regard as a sensible development whereby pleadings in iibel
actions are treated in the same way as pleadings in other types of litigation.
It is therefore instructive to refer to a short passage in the judgment of
May L] in Steamship Mutual Underwriting Association Ltd v Trollope & Colls Led
(1986) 6 Con LR 11 at 27, where, on an application by a firm of structural
engineers that the claim against them should be struck out, he said: “In my
opinion, to issue a writ against a party ... when it is not intended to serve a
statement of claim, and where one has no reasonable evidence or grounds
on which to serve a staternent of claim against that particular party, is an
abuse of the process of the court.” Actions for defamation take many forms.
The allegations complained about may vary from the moderately serious to
the very grave. It may therefore be unwise to put forward a formula which
will match all occasions. Nevertheless 1 am satisfied that before a plea of
justification is included in a defence the following criteria should normally be
satisfied: (a) the defendant should believe the words comptlained of to be
trug; (b) the defendant should intend to support the defence of justification
at the trial; and (c) the defendant should have reasonable evidence to support
the plea or reasonable grounds for supposing that sufficient evidence to
prove the allegations will be available at the trial.'

[236] Mr Stadlen submitted that in this case the plaintiffs have no reasonable
evidence to support their allegations of deliberate abuse of power in bad faith
with knowledge of probable loss to the depositors or potential depositors, and he
further submitted that the plaintiffs have no reasonable grounds for supposing
that sufficient evidence to prove the allegations would be available at the trial.
However, in considering this submission, it is necessary to take into account a
later passage in the judgment of Neill L) (at 622-623):

‘It is to be remembered, however, that the evidence on which a defendant
may be entitled to rely at trial may take a number of different forms. It may
inctude: (a) his own evidence and the evidence of witnesses called on his
behalf, (b) evidence contained in Civil Evidence Act statements, (c) evidence
contained in his own documents or in documents produced by third parties on
subpoena, (d) evidence elicited from the plaintiff or the plaintiff's witnesses in
the course of ¢ross-examination, () answers to interrogatories and (f) evidence
contained in documents disclosed by the plaintiff on discovery.

At the outset of the trial

I understand that it has become the practice in actions for defamation to
consider at the outset of the trial whether some parts of the defence should
be struck out on the basis that it has become apparent that some of the
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matters pleaded are not going to be supported by evidence. [ can understand
that in an appropriate case this is a sensible course which is likely to shorten
the trial. On the other hand there may be cases where a defendant pleads
some matter which le believes to be true but which he may still be unable
to prove by admissible evidence otherwise than by eliciting an answer in
cross-examiination. Hach case will have ro be considered on its own facts.’

[137] Clarke ] and the majority of the Court of Appeal were of the opinion that
Bingham L) had conducted such a thorough examination of the Bank’s dealings
with BCCI that it was unrealistic to think that any further maretial of relevance
would emerge and that accordingly the question whether there was reasonable
evidence to support the plaintiffs’ case was to be determined on the basis of the
evidence referred to in the Bingham report. Mr Stadlen submitted that Clarke |
and the majority of the Court for Appeal were right to hold that that evidence
provided no support for an allegation that the Bank had acted dishonestly or in
bad faith or with knowledge of probable loss to depositors. I am unable to accept
that submission. Roth Clarke J and the majority of the Court of Appeal found
that by April 1990 the Bank knew that BCCl would probably collapse with
consequential loss to depositors and potential depositors in the absence of a
rescue package. Clarke ], referring to April 1990, said in his third judgment:

‘Bingham LJ concludes that he did not think that any informed reader of
the report could have failed to read it as seriously impugning the honesty
with which the group had been run. However, according to para 2.186, with
the possible exception of Mr Beverly, no one did. Indeed in para 2.187
Bingham 1] concludes that in April 1990 and for a number of months
afterwards the Governors, the Board of Banking Supervision, Mr Quinn and
Mr Barnes were unaware of the serious doubts thrown by Price Waterhouse
on the integrity of the Bank’s most senior management. Sir Patrick submits
that that conclusion is incredible. He submits that senior representatives of the
Bank must have appreciated that that was the position. I see the force of that
submission, but, for present purposes, the question is not whether the Bank
appreciated that there had been fraud within BCCI but whether it suspected
that BCC1 would probably not be rescued and nevertheless dishonestly failed
to revoke its authorisation. It is plain that the Bank appreciated that in the
absence of remedial steps BCCI would indeed probably collapse.’

And in the judgment of the majority of the Court of Appeal Hirst L] said ([2000]
2 WLR 15 at 99):

“The report of 18 April 199¢ was not therefore a totally unheralded shock

b
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for the Bank. Nevertheless it is highly significant as marking a dare afier h

which it would be impaossible, in our judgment, to contend that there was no
arguable case that the Bank was aware of a very serious and very immediate
threat to depositors of B.C.C.I. S.A. At this point, therefore, the prospect of
a rescue operation being promoted by the Abu Dhabi ruling house, and the

Bank's perception of the various possible outcomes, assumes central j

importance.”
And (at 101):

‘Throughout the preceding four sections we have adopted the same
approach as that taken by the judge, and asked ourselves whether the
plaintiffs have an arguable case that the Bank actually foresaw B.C.C.L's

[<n]
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imminent collapse at each relevant stage. We have agreed with the judge’s
conclusion that all the evidence indicates that up to April 1990 it did not, and
that thereafter it did, but properly relied on the prospect of 2 rescue. That is
sufficient to dispose of the case in the Bank’s favour.’

[138]) In my opinion the Bank cannot validly contend that on the documentary
evidence available to them the plaintiffs have no real prospect of succeeding in
establishing that the Bank knowingly and in a dcliberate way abused its statutory
powersin failing 1o revoke BCCI's licence after it had been granted. A memorandum
dated 19 October 1983 from an official in the Bank's banking supervision division
to a number of senior officials of the Bank states:

"This note reviews our approach to the supervision of BCCl, arguing that
our present approach fails to satisfy the requirements of the Banking Act and
recommending that we should press BCCI for local incorporation of UK
operations ... However, these problems are less serious than the presemt
deficiencies in our supervisory approach in the light of the Banking Act's
requirements, The problem with regard to the Section 36 contraventions is
more difficult, particularly with regard to the branches of BCCI SA, to which
there seems no practicable alrernative to turning a blind eye.’

And in a note of a meeting of Bank officials dated 17 December 1985, after a team
from the Bank had visited the BCCI offices in Leadenhall Street, the following
comment by an official is noted:

“There is no doubt in my mind that BCCI has centralised its management,
control and operations in the City. This is a UK-based bank, with its White
House encompassing two buildings fronting Leadenhal! Street and three at
the rear. There is absolutely no way that we should continue the pretence
that Luxembourg are the prime supervisors. Luxembourg is prehistoric;
Grand Cayman is a tax haven; and it is the Bank of England who are the
lender of last resort. If UK incorporation of the UK branch network means the
movement of the Treasury Support Organisation from London to Abu Dhabi,
the Bank must encourage Abedi afl the way. This surely is the only route to
effective supervision.’

[139] 1 observed in my speech after the earlier hearing that [ considered that,
in the context of misfeasance, 'in bad faith' is a preferable term to ‘dishonesty’ (see
{2000] 3 AIl ER 1 at 41-42,[2000] 2 WLR 1220 at 1266). In relation to the element
of bad faith the plaintiffs plead in para 37 of the particulars of claim that the Bank’s
motives set out in that paragraph constitute bad faith. Lord Neill of Bladen QC,
for the plaintiffs, submitted that an inference can be drawn from a number of the
Bank's documents that it was reluctant to face up to the difficulties and responsibilities
involved in an adequate supervision of BCCI and that it placed its own interests
before the discharge of its duty to protect depositors and that this constituted bad
faith on its part. It is relevant to emphasise that this is the case made by the
plaintiffs. They do not make the case that the officials of the Bank were dishonest,
in the sense that they acted improperly for their own financial gain. Therefore 1
consider, with respect, that the point that it is inherently improbable that in the
absence of some financial incentive bank officials would act dishonestly does not
assist the Bank's case.

[142] Lord Neill referred (inter alia) to a letter dated 8 April 1987 from a senior
official of the Bank to a senior official of the Commissariat au Controle des Banques
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in Luxembourg written after the Bank had been informed that it was no longer
possible for Luxembourg to carry out the consolidated supervisory role which it
had accepted in the last few years. In the letter the official said:

“The precise formulation set out in your letter poses a patticular problem
for us. This is that having decided not to take a leading supervisory role, we
believe that the incorporation of the 45 UK branches here, combined with
the presence in London of a large part of BCCI's overall administration, is
likely to draw us in practice into the position of lead supervisor which we
seek to avoid. In those circumstances, our ability to do the job effectively
would be even more restricted than if we had assumed the role officially
from the outset. In any case we are not at all certain that we would feel able
to grant a licence by applying the criteria under the UK Banking Act, toany ¢
part of the operation at this stage. This is because we have to be satisfied
under our new legislation not only that an institution will be prudently run
but that it will be run with integrity—and our experience with BCCl in the
past make such a judgment difficult.”

[141] In respect of the need for the plaintiffs to show material to support their d
allegation that the Bank knew of probable loss to depositors or was reckless as to
whether there would be loss to depositors, Lord Neill referred to certain
paragraphs in the affidavit of a senior Bank official sworn in July 1991 in support
of the Bank’s petition to wind up BCCI. The official stated:

‘20. The Bank is seriously concerned that BCCI has been managed and
may still be being managed in a dishonest and fraudulent manner. The Bank
is and continues to be concerned that the true financial position of BCCI has
been and continues to be concealed by BCCI from the Bank and other
regulatory authorities which are part of the “college”. It appears from the
Price Waterhouse report that the accounting records have completely failed  §
and continue to fail to meet the standards required of institutions authorised
under the Banking Act. It further appears that there is no proper or adequate
system or controls for managing the business of BCCI. The management of
BCCI have acted without integrity and with a lack of skill. Notwithstanding
the fact that it might be said of some of the senior managers that they were
not directly involved in the fraudulent activity described in the Price
Waterhouse report, management have as a whole been involved in keeping
that activity and its consequences concealed from the Bank and other
regulatory authorities. As a result of the information provided to it, the
Bank has no trust or confidence in the senior management of BCCI which is
essential to the relationship between the regulator and the regulated bank. h
21. As a supervisor of BCCI the Bank is concerned that the interest of
depositors will be jeopardised if the affairs of BCCl are left in the hands of its
managers and it has formed the view that the interest of depositors will be
best served by the winding-up of BCCL. In these circumstances the Bank
believes that it would be just and equitable to wind up BCCI ... i
24. Tn April 1990 it became apparent that BCCl had a substantial portfolio
of US $4 billion of problem loans. In the 1989 year-end accounts substantial
provisions were fitst raised against a US$4 billien portfolio of problem loans
in the Group, many of which were booked in BCCIL. On 22 May 1991 a
financial support arrangement was entered into by BCCI whereby these
problem toans were transferred to new companies which were either owned
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directly by the Government of Abu Dhabi, or if not, largel
the G'ovemment of Abu Dhabi. In return for the loe;n as%et{ ggg??;ii?vgg
promissory notes in US$ and UAE Dhirams equivalent in face value to US$3,061
mllhgn. However, from the report it appears that the loan assets cal; be
reasmglju:d to BCClin the event of any breach of warranty that the loan assets
dq not involve any activity which is criminal or illegal and which, if revealed
b might be expected to damage the international reputation of the Abu Dhabi
Government. At a meeting held on 5 October 1990 the Abu Dhabi
Government said that if fraud was detected there could be a serious problem
abopt the continuation of the support of the Abu Dhabi Government
Whilst t.he Abu Dhabi Government has said that it has no present intention
. to reassign the loan assets, there must be a risk that it will do so. Ifit does
the problem portfolio will revert to BCCY In July 1991 the Abu Dhabi
Gover{lrpent indicated to Price Waterhouse that it was not prepared to
commit 1tself-to providing further funds for BCCI to mje]et all its habilities
on an unqualified basis. Given the present uncertainty surrounding BCCI'
Lla?}lhtles l(; is fair to conclude that there is no real prospect of sufﬁciegnt fund:
d ‘ :;li?,%r :}a e available within such time as the relevant regulators might

(142} Lord Neill submitted that the concems of the Bank set out in paras 20
and 21 had been known to the Bank for a number of years, as evidenceg by th
letter dated 8 April 1987 to the official in Luxembourg in which the senior of¥i i i

e f’f the ‘Ban'k stated that the Bank had to be satisfied that BCCJ would be run “filt;
integrity, and our experiences with BCCI in the past make such a judgment
difficult’. Lord Neill also referred to a memorandum to the govenuj)rs %Tpt}?e
Bank datf:d 15 July 1983 from a senior official of the Bank in which he said th
the Bank’s officials had become increasingly concerned about the ineffectiven .

f of the present arrangements for the overall supervision of BCCI and that -‘i‘SS
.:attacheo.l a note setting out possible ways of dealing with “what has now bf:mm]e
in our view, an unacceptable position’. The note, which was headed "WHY HA?
BCCI BECQMEA PROBLEM? WHY IS ACTION NOW URGENTLY REQUIRED?Y"
stated tha.t it was clear that the principal place of BCCI was not Luxenboury but
was, administratively, the United Kingdom and that being so, and in the lig?\t of

g the Luxembourg authorities” admission that thei resources were no longer up to

the task of supervising BCCI's operations, the Ba in'

' nk was in ‘a vulnerable position’
Thc_a notelfurther state.d t}}at the Bank’s knowledge of the activities of BéJCI in(:ge.
-Umt.ed Kingdom 3I.ld its limited knowledge of the BCC! group as a whole did not
inspire confidence in the soundness of BCCl's worldwide operations. The note

h went on to state:

As noted, the present arrangements are wholly unsatisfacr{iry and it is not
thef‘eforc‘ considered an option to sit back and do nothing. This leaves two
basic choices:-—(a) to try to have BCCI closed down, either worldwide or { t
the UK region; (b) to arrange for its supervision on a satisfactory basis.’ e

Lord Neill further referred to a paper of the Board of Banki isi

3 September 1987 which stateg tI;nat at their last me:tlillll{éntghi;Plt:;:llsgnr:::::il
concern about whether the UK depositors with BCCI SA were recetving atf:e uate
protection from the supervisory regime in place, orin prospect. The board gsked
whether the UK depositors might not be better protected if BCCI were onl
permitted to take deposits in the UK via a UK subsidiary. They questionec)i(
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whether the formation of such a subsidiary would increase the ‘moral hazard’ of
the UK supervisors in relation to the whole BCCI group and whether, even if it
did, the interests of the UK depositors should not be paramount. The paper went
on to state that the cause of the concern did not stem from any obvious weakness
in the BCCI group. The concern was rather one of scepticism towards a large,
shadowy and swift-growing bank with no natural geographic base. The paper

then stated: b

“The BCCI group is frequently subject to rumours which suggest that it or
its clients operate at the margin of legality. Many observers accordingly h.ave
developed a gut feeling thar the bank might suddenly run into serious
difficulties without warning. The fact that so much of the group’s business
is booked in centres where supervision is less professional, particularly in
relation to the type of business which BCCI undertakes, makes the absence
of warning all the more likely.’

Lord Neill submitted that in July 1983, in September 1987 and in April 1990 the
Rank took no steps to arrange for supervision of BCCI on a satisfactory basis but

was reckless as to the serious risk of loss to depositors. d

[143] There are passages in the documents which support the Bank's case tha‘lt
whilst, prior to April 1990, it had concemns about the soundness of BCCF's
operations, none the less it recognised that its overriding duty was to protect the
interests of depositors and that its decisions and its conduct towards BCCI were
intended to discharge that duty, so that the allegation of bad faith on its part
cannot be established. Thus in the note sent to the governors of the Bank dated
15 July 1983 its author states;

“The closure route could only be pursued if it could be shown, with
teasonable certainty, that the Group's operations were fundamentallyz
unsound; and that continued existence posed a greater threat to depositors
money than a winding up. Without a very wide ranging investigation and
the fullest co-operation of other supervisory authorities it would not be
possible 1o state, categorically, that the Group’s aperations are unsound to
the extent of endangering depositors.”

But at this stage in the proceedings a court is not concerned to try to assess whic}l
side will probably succeed if there is 2 tral: the question is whether there. is
material which shows that there are issues which should be investigated at a trial,
and in my opinion the material does show this. .
[144] As regards the prospect from April 1990 onwards of a rescue oPeratmn
by the Abu Dhabi government | would not take the view that the plaintiffs have
no real prospect of establishing that the Bank knew that it was prol?ablf:, or was
reckless as to the probability, that that government, notwithstanding its sfz?rfed
willingness to rescue BCCI, would not commit itself fully to meect all its liabilities
as more information became available as to the extent of its liabilities and as to
the dishonesty of its managers. In differing from the opinion of Clarke J and the '
majority of the Court of Appeal that the plaintiffs have no real prospect (?f i
success, | take into account two further considerations. Qune is that I think tha-t it
is reasonably possible that further material may become available to the plainuﬂ_"s
before trial, and I am in respectful agreement with the view of Auld L] of his
judgment:
‘In addition to the different function of Bingham L.J.’s inquiry from the
more focused issues for determinarion in this litigation, there are several
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obvious disadvantages of his procedure when compared with the court's
process for determnining the truth of the matter and its legal significance. His
Was not a statutory inquiry, so he had no power to compel the attendance of
wilnesses or require the production of documents; he heard the evidence of
some, but not all, relevant and important players in the story; there was no
counsel to the inguiry and no opportunity for adversarial discovery,
interrogation or cross-examination of witnesses; and, as I have said, he
acknowledged that most of his criticisms and a number of his factual
conclusions were challenged, the validity of such challenges not capable of
being tested on appeal. In the circumstances, I am of the view that Clarke J.
was not entitled ... to conclude, as he did, that all the available material
evidence on those questions had been gathered in. Given the greater
generality of the questions in the Bingham inquiry, the limitations of it as a
fact-finding exercise when compared with litigation, his acknowledgement
of a number of challenges to some of his factual conclusions and the
emergence of additional material since the inquiry indicating the Bank’s state
of knowledge as to the Gokal unrecorded loans, I can see no basis far
Clarke ].’s confidence in this extraotdinary and complex case for concluding
that Bingham LJ. had seen and fully tested all the material evidence available
or likely to become available on the issues confronting the court in this case.’
(See [2000] 2 WLR 15 at 180)

[145] Secondly, I consider that the materal already available to the plaintiffs
provides reasonable grounds for thinking that they may be able to advance their
case by the cross-examination of the Bank’s officials,

[146) In the McDonald’s Corp case Neill LJ recognised that the prospect of
evidence emerging on cross-examination was a matter to be taken into
consideration. Mr Stadlen relied on the Judgment of Chadwick L] in farvis v
Hampshire CC [2000] 2 FCR 310 at 338 where he said:

"... it is an abuse of the process of the court to make allegations of
[dishonesty and deliberate abuse of power] in circumstances in which they
cannot be supported by particulars; no less so when they are inconsistent
with the substantial documentary material which is available. It is not
enough to assert, as counsel for the claimant did assert before us, that—if the
matter were allowed to go to trial—something might emerge through
cross-examination. That is not a proper basis on which to make allegations
of dishonesty. The judge was right to strike out those allegations.’

{147] But the assessment whether it is reasonable to rake the view that
evidence may emerge in cross-examination depends on the particular facts of the
case. In farvis’ case it was clear that the allegations were groundless and could not
be given any substance by the cross-examination of the defendant’s witnesses.
But in the present case, where there is an arguable case that the Bank had
increasing concern about BCCI for a number of years prior to April 1990 and
knew from April 1990 onwards of the imminent collapse of BCC} unless there
was a rescue, I think that justice requires that the plaintiffs, after discovery and
interrogation, should have the opportunity to cross-examine the Bank's
witnesses as to their concerns before 1990 and as to their belief from April 1990
onwards that there would be a rescue operation.

[148] The fact that a plaintiff does not have direct evidence as ta the helief or
foresight or motives of the defendant is not it itself  reason 1o strile o the
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action. In Taylor v Midland Bank Trust Co Ltd [1999] CA Trahscript 1200 the plaintiff
alleged dishonest breach of trust and the defendant applied for the dismissal of the
claim without rial under r 24.2(a)(i). Upholding the decision of Cammwath ] to
dismiss the application, Buxton L] stated:

‘YCounsel for the defendant] appeared at one stage to argue that the case
must be made good by direct evidence, and could not rely, as it does, on
inference. If that was the submission, 1 cannot agree with it. Where the
motives or knowledge of a party is in issue, it may often be necessary to rely
on inference rather than direct statements or admissions by that party.
There is nothing objectionable in principle in that, however much an
inference may be less cogent than an admission. Nor is it right that, in
drawing inferences, a court can only infer this form of dishonesty if the
primary evidence admits of no other explanation. That puts the test too high.
The process of reasoning should be constrained only by the court's
appreciation of the seriousness of the charge and the substantiality of the
evidence therefore necessary to make it good.’

[149] In their judgment the majority of the Court of Appeal stated:

"Were officials of the Bank to give evidence which was fully tested by
cross-examination in the adversarial process of a trial, it is not merely
possible, but even likely, that a clearer and somewhat different picture would
emerge as to the Bank's corporate state of mind from time to time, as
constituted by the states of mind of a small number of its responsible officials.
But we would agree that there is no realistic possibility that the picture which
emerped would be fundamentally different. In that respect the Bingham repott
is, despite its relatively informal status, an invaluable aid to distinguishing
between what is a practical possibility and what is fanciful or inconceivable.’
(See [200032 WLR 15 at 91.)

[ am in full agreement with the first sentence of that passage, but { am, with respect,
unable 10 agree with the last two sentences and 1 do not share the majority’s
confidence that though in cross-cxamination it is likely that a somewhat different
picture would emerge, there is no realistic possibility that a fundamentally different
picture would emerge.

[150] The Bank’s applicarion has been to strike out the entire action. The Bank’s
case that the plaintiffs have no reasonable prospect of success can be more
strongly advanced in respect of the allegations relating to the earlier part of the
history of the Bank’s dealings with BCCL. But having regard to the extent to
which the allegations in respect of the entire period from 1979 to 1991 are
interwoven and interrelated I consider that it would not be appropriate to
consider striking out certain parts of the claim and that the entire action should
be permitted to proceed to trial.

[151] Because of the large number of documents which were referred to by
counsel and the detailed and lengthy submissions which were advanced to the
House 1 have thought it right to state my views at much greater length than is
usual when an appellate court considers a strike-out application, particularly
when the appellate court decides that the action should proceed to trial. Butl
wish to state my agreement with the observation of my noble and learned friend
Lord Steyn as to the duty of the trial judge in para [8] of his speech. The judge
will have to decide the case after the examination and cross-examination of
witnesses on the evidence which he hears and he should not be influenced by any
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parts of the speeches of the House in this hearing which may appear to express
any opinion on the facts of the case,

{152] Accordingly, for the reasons which I have given I would allow this
appeal. I would dismiss the Bank’s cross-appeal for the reasons given by my noble
and learned friend Lord Hope and I would make the order proposed by him.

LORD HOBHOUSE OF WOODBOROUGH. My Lords,

[253] It has been estimnated that the trial of this action will occupy a whote
year; | sincerely hope that this is too pessimistic. But, on any view, the
continuation of the action will involve the application of very substantial
resources both at the trial and in preparation for it by both of the parties and the
system of justice. The volume of paper, forensic and evidential, is already
formidable and the events which will have to be trawled over extend over some
15 years. The investigation of those events gave rise to a repart (Inguiry inte the
Supervision of the Bank of Credit and Commerce International (HC Paper 198 (1992-93)))
(the Bingham report) which runs to 218 printed pages together with eight
volumes of (unpublished) appendices recounting the history in greater detail, It
was thus understandable that it should have been thought right to examine
whether such a trial and such proceedings were really appropriate and necessary
in order to determine the just outcome to the parties’ dispute, Indeed, under Pt 1
of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998, SI 1998/3132, now in force it is the overriding
objective, and the duty of the courts and the parties, thar cases should be dealt
with justly and that this includes dealing with cases in a proportionate mannetr,
cxpeditiously and fairly, without undue expense and by allotting only an
appropriate share of the court's resources while taking into account the need to
allot resources to other cases. This represents an important shift in judicial
philosophy from the traditional philosophy that previously dominated the
administration of justice. Unless a party’s conduct could be criticised as abusive
or vexatious, the party was treated as having a right to his day in court in the sense
of proceeding to a full trial after having fully exhausted the interlocutory pre-trial
procedures.

[154] There were limited exceptions to this traditional approach. One was
the RSC Ord 14 procedure for summary judgment. This was not a procedure for
an informal trial; it was a procedure for enabling judgment to be entered for the
plaintiff where there was no issue to be tried, in the words of the rule, no ‘issue
or question in dispute which ought to be tried’ or ‘other reason’ why there ought
to be a trial. It was to avoid delaying ractics on the part of a defendant and ensable
speedy judgment to be given for the plaintiff where that was appropriate and just
notwithstanding that the defendant asserted that he had a defence. One of the
court’s powers under Ord 14 was to order the defendant to pay money into coutt
asa condition of being permitted to defend. Order 14 was available to the plaintiff
alone; there was no equivalent procedure for summary judgment in favour of the
defendant. This procedure was not the same as the striking out jurisdiction
which had two aspects. One was the striking out of a party's pleading (or part of

i it} because the conduct of the party was objectionable, ie abusive or vexatious.

For this purpose evidence was relevant and admissible. The other was the
demurrer procedure which had completely different origins and served a different
purpose. It derived from the formal distinction between law and fact. It provided
a mechanism for testing the propositions of law upon which the party (plaintiff
or defendant) was relying; it was decided upon the pleadings alone and no
evidence was admissible. The court could in its discretion deal with the issue of
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law as a matter of striking out, or by directing the trial of a preliminary point
of law, or by directing that the decision of the point of law should be left over to
the full trial. In principle, though not always in practice, the striking out
procedure should be used only where the point of law was not reasonably
arguable. Warnings against the inappropriate use of the striking out procedure
1o decide arguable points of law were given by Lord Templeman and Locd

Mackay of Clashfern in Williams & Humbert Lid v W & H Trade Marks (Jersey) Ltd

[1986] 1 All ER 129 at 139, 143, [1986] AC 368 at 435-436, 441; but the motive of
simplifying procedures and saving costs was applauded and may, in the end, show
that the procedure adopted was appropriate.

[155] Another exception in practice was the policy of the Commercial Court
to assist the expeditious and efficient determination of disputes of commercial
parties by adopting relatively informal procedures, usually at an early stage of the
case, to identify the real points at issue and, by deciding them, enable the dispute
to be resolved. Often this was an aspiration rather than a reality. Commercial
disputes often involve lengthy and costly investigations and trials which defeat
these aspirations. At times commercial litigation has been allowed to drift into
over elaborate and drawn-out procedures which overlook any other priority than
investigating every nook and cranny and ensuring that every angle receives the
full forensic exposure. In Ashmore v Corp of Lloyd’s [1992] 2 All BR 486 at 493,
[1992]1 WLR 446 at 453-454, Lord Templeman objected strenuously to the practice
of 1aking ‘every point conceivable and inconceivable without judgment and
discrimination’ and exhorted judges and appellate courts to control the conduct
of proceedings. Lord Roskill agreed with him saying:

“The Court of Appeal appear to have taken the view that the plaintiffs were
entitled of right to have their case tried 10 conclusion in such manner as they
thought fit and if necessary after all the evidence on both sides had been
adduced. With great respect, like my noble and learned friend, | emphatically
disagree. In the Commercial Court and indeed in any trial court it is the trial
judge who has control of the proceedings. [tis part of his duty to identify the
crucial issues and to see they are tried as expeditiously and as inexpensively
as possible ... Litigants are not entitled to the uncontrolled use of a trial
judge’s time. Other litigants await their turn.” (See{1992]2 Al ER 486 at 488,

[1992] | WLR 446 at 448.)

[156] There is always an exercise of judgment to be undertaken by the judge
whether the perceived short-cut will tumn out to have been beneficial and,
inevitably, in a proportion of cases expectations wili be confounded. Caution is
required. But it is simplistic to suppose that in complex litigation the exercise
should never be attempted. The volume of documentation and the complexity
of the issues raised on the pleadings should be the subject of eritical scrutiny and
should not without more deter the judge from considering whether it is really
necessary to commit the parties and the court to a lengthy trial and all the
preparatory steps which that will involve. Indeed it can be submitted with force
that those are just the sorts of case which most strongly cry out for the exclusion
of anything that is unnecessary for the achievement of a just cutcome for the
parties,

{1571 The present case illustrates these considerations. The commercial judge
was faced with an action dependent upon a cause of action of which the
parameters were not wholly certain and a statement of claim which may or may
not have disclosed a case sufficient in law to enable the plaintiffs to succeed.
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He ordered the trial of preliminary questions of law. He was clearly right to do
so even though the decision of those questions has led to appeals to your
Lordships’ House. However, difficulties then arose with the plaintiffs’ plead?n s
At eth level the plaintiffs have re-pleaded their case 1o accommodate the fregsl;
thinking about the elements of the tort of misfeasance in public office. Further
lhc‘com‘ls at each level have been called on to adjudicate upon lhe-pro oseci
revxscrfl pleading, your Lordships included. This has led to an unsatisfacto Pstate
of affairs. Any .fddlful pleader should be able to draft a pleading which suﬂi?;ently
makes the minimum allegations to support the legal definition of the tort and |
have detec?ed no lack of skill in the lawyers acting for either side in this litigation
The question then becomes whether the particulars given provide realistit;
support for the primary allegations. This has in turn led to a detailed examination
both in the courts below and before your Lordships of these allegations. [ will
have to comment upon the suitability of that course in your Lordships’ i—lousc
It was probably inevitable before the judge and may have been so before the-
Court ‘of Appeal where questions of leave to amend were also debated, It was
co;ppl'lcatcd in the Court of Appeal by the fact that Auld L[ did not agree with the
majority on the law. Before the judge and in the Court of Appeal the decision was
given on the basis of the RSC not the CPR,
[158] This leads me back to the CPR. As previously noted, CPR Pt 1 adopts a
Phllosophy similar to that enunciated in Ashmore's case. It ir: followed thr(fugh
into the new version of RSC Ord 14. It is CPR Pt 24. It authorises the court to
degde a claim (or a particular issue) without a trial. Unlike Ord 14, it applies to both
plaintiffs (claimants) and the defendants. It therefore can be used in cases such as
the present where the application for judgment without trial is being made by the
fieft_:ndant. The court may exercise the power where it considers thar the
claimant has no real prospect of succeeding on the claim’ and ‘there is no other
reason why the case or issue should be disposed of at a trial’. The concluding
phrase c.orrcspondS to the similar phrase used in RSC Ord 14, r.3(1) and has not
been rellet:.l upon in the present case. The important words are ‘no real prospect
of SI:ICCCEdlrIg'. It requires the judge to undertake an exercise of judgment. He must
decide whether to exercise the power to decide the case withour a trial and give
a summary judgment. It is a 'discretionary’ power, ie one where the choice
whether to exercise the power lies within the jurisdiction of the judge. Secondly
he must carry out the necessary exercise of assessing the prospects of success o’f
the relevant party. If he concludes that there is 'no real prospect’, he may decide
the case accordingly. I stress this aspect because in the course of argument
counsel referred to the relevant judgment of Clarke J as if he had made ‘findings’
of fa-ct. He did not do so. Under RSC Ord 14 as under CPR Pt 24, the judge is
making an assessment not conducting a trial or fact-finding exercise. Whilst it
must be remembered that the wood is composed of trees some of which may
need to be looked at individually, it is the assessment of the whole that is called
for. A measure of analysis may be necessary but the ‘bottom line’ is what ultimately

; matters. CPR Pt 24 includes provisions covering various ancillary matters, at what

stage the application can be made (r 24.4), the filing of evidence (r 24.5) and
suPPlementary powers of the court (r 24.6). The practice direction which was
originally appended (Practice Direction—The Summary Disposal of Claims)
filled out some of what is in the rules:

42 Wherea defe.ndant applies for judgment in his favour on the claimant’s
claim, the court will give that judgment if either: (1) the claimant has failed
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to show a case which, if unanswered, would entitle him to judgment, or (2) the
defendant has shown that the claim would be bound 1o be dismissed at trial.

4.3 Where it appears to the court possible thar a claim or defence may
succeed but improbable that it will do so, the court may make a conditional
order as described below.’

The criterion which the judge has to apply under CPR Pt 24 is not one of
probability; it is absence of reality. The majority in the Court of Appeal used the
phrases ‘no realistic possibility” and distinguished between a practical possibility
and 'what is fanciful or inconceivable’ ([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 91). Although used in
a slightly different context these phrases appropriately express the same idea.
CPR Pt 3 contains similar provisions in relation to the court’s case management
powers. These include explicit powers to strike out claims and defences on the
ground, among others, that the statement of case discloses no reasonable ground
for bringing or defending the claim.

1159] Before your Lordships it was accepted by counsel that this part of the
appeal should be decided under CPR Pt 24 applying the criterion ‘no real prospect
of success’. An exchange of correspondence has confirmed this. (A similar criterion
is also appropriate where there is an application for leave to amend to add a
new case.) Recent statements in the Court of Appeal concerning CPR Pt 24 bear

repetition:

“The words "no real prospect of succeeding” do not need any amplification,
they speak for themselves. The word “real” distinguishes fanciful prospects
of success or, as [counsel} submits, they direct the court to the need to see
whether there is a “realistic” as opposed to a "fanciful” prospect of success ...
It is important that a judge in appropriate cases should make use of the
powers contained in Pt 24. In doing so he or she gives effect to the overriding
objectives conrained in Pt1. It saves expense; it achieves expedition; it
avoids the court’s resources being used up on cases where this serves no
purpose and, 1 would add, generally, that it is in the interests of justice. Ifa
claimant has a case which is bound to fail, then itis in the claimant’s interests
to know as soon as possible that that is the position.” (See Swain v Hillman
[20017 1 All ER 91 at 92, 94 per Lord Woolf MR.)

“The CPR are a procedural code with the overriding objective of enabling
the court to deal with cases justly including saving expense and ensuring that
it is dealt with expeditiously and fairly. The court must seek to give effect 1o
the overriding objective when it exercises any power given to it or interprets
any rule. [ rake this into account when considering the application under
Part 24.2 ... [The language of Part 3.4] is very akin to that in the now extinct
RSC Ords 18 and 19 and under which this application was commenced (and
as good as succeeded) at the first hearing. This part includes “a claim which
raises an unwinnable case where continuance of the proceedings is withour
any possible benefit to the respondent and would waste resources on both
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sides™.” (See Sinclair v Chief Constable of West Yorkshire (2000] CA Transcript 2189
1

per Otton L), and see Harris v Bolt Burdon [2000] CPLR 9.)

There is no peint in allowing claims to proceed which have no real prospect of
success, certainly not in proceeding beyond the stage where their hopelessness
has clearly become apparent.

[160]) The difficulty in the application of the criterion used by CPR Pt 24 is that
it requires an assessment to be made in advance of a full trial as ro what the
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outcome of such a trial would be. The pre-trial procedures give the claimant an
opportunity to obtain additional evidence to support his case. The most obvious
of these is discovery of documents but there is also the weapon of requesting
particulars or interrogatories and the exchange of witness statements may
provide a party with additional important material, Therefore the courts have in
the present case recognised that they must have regard not only to the evidence
presentdy available to the plaintiffs but also to any realistic prospect that that
evidence would have been strengthened between now and the trial. Indeed, it
was the submission of Mr Stadlen QC, for the defendants, that Clarke ] h'ad
applied the right test when he said;

‘In my judgment the question in the instant case is whether the bank has
persuaded the court that the plaintiffs’ case is bound to fail on the material at
present available and rhat there is no reasonable possibility of evidence
becoming available to the plaintill, whether by further investigation
discovery, cross-examination or otherwise sufficiently to support their case
and to give it some prospect of success. If the bank discharges that burden
it will follow that the plaintiffs’ claim is bound to fail, in that event to allow
the action to proceed would serve no useful purpose. It would only involve
the expenditure of time and money—in this case a very great deal of both,
Neither party would have any legitimate interest in such expenditure
because it could not benefit either.’

It is possible that this test, in its reference to cross-examination, may be rather too
favourable to the plaintiffs. It is derived from what was said in relation to a plea of
justification by Neill L] in McDonald’s Corp v Steel [1995] 3 All ER 615, a defamacion
action. He included cross-examination no doubt because in a defamation action
although the burden of proving justification is upon the defendant, the publishel:
of the libel, it is normal for the plaintiff to call his evidence first; jL;sliﬁcation isa
defence. Where an allegation of dishonesty is being made as part of the cause of
action of the plaintiff, there is no reason why the rule should not apply that the
plaintiff must have a proper basis for making an allegation of dishonesty in his
pleading. The hope that something may turn up during the cross-examination of
a witness at the trial does not suffice. It is of course different if the admissible
material available discloses a reasonable prima facie case which the other part
will have to answer at the trial, Py
[161] The judge’s assessment has to start with the relevant party's pleaded
case but the enquiry does not end there. The allegations may be legally adequate
but may have no realistic chance of being proved. On the other hand, the
limitations in the allegations pleaded and any lack of particularisation may show
that the party’s case is hopeless. The tort of misfeasance in public office is a tort
which involves bad faith and in thatr sense dishonesty. It follows that to
substantiate his claim in this tort, first in his pleading and then at the trial, a
plaintiff must be able o allege and then prove this subjectively dishonest state.of
mind. The law quite rightly requires that questions of dishonesty be approached
more rigorously than other questions of fault. The burden of proof remains the
civil burden—the balance of probabilities—but the assessment of the evidence
has to take account of the seriousness of the allegations and, if that be the case
any unlikelihood that the person accused of dishonesty would have acted in that
way. Dishonesty is not 1o be inferred from evidence which is equally consistent
with mere negligence. At the pleading stage the party making the zllegation of
dishonesty has to be prepared 1o partictdarise it and, il he s tmable e do so, his
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allegation will be struck out. ‘The allegation must be made upon the basis of
evidence which will be admissible at the trial. This commonsense proposition has
recently been re-emphasised by the Court of Appeal in Medealf v Mardell (2001)
Times, 2 January, in which Peter Gibson L] said: "The material evidence must be
evidence which can be put before the court to make good the allegation.” Evidence
which cannot be used in court cannort be relied upon to justify the making of the
allegation of dishonesty. 1 mention this because it shows the principle to be applied &
and not because there is any suggestion in the present case that there is any
inadmissible material which would support allegations of dishonesty in the present
case. Itis normally to be assumed that a party’s pleaded case is the best case he can
make (or wishes to make). Therefore, in the present case, the particulars given
provide a true guide to the nature of the case being made by the plaintiffs
(claimants).

[162] I agree with my noble and leamed friend Lord Hope that in substance
Clarke ] asked himself the right questions and that, as he expressed it, he directed
himself correctly as to the relevance of the Bingham report. My noble and learned
friend and those who agree with him are, however, critical of the actual use made
by Clarke J and the majority of the Court of Appeal of the report. 1 consider that
with minor exceptions these criticisims are not fair to Clarke ] nor to Hirst and
Robert Walker 1)]. The relevant exercise was as ! have said earlier not one of
making findings of fact or comparable to a trial on admissible evidence. It was to
make a predictive assessment. 'T'o use the report as an aid was clearly appropriate
and proper. Further, as the plaintiffs themselves said, their pleading and its e
particularisation was substantially taken from the facts set out in the report. They
were using the report to plead their case: "With one principal exception, the
statement of claim is pleaded on the basis of the Bingham report’ (per Clarke J).
It was therefore not only permissible but also pertinent to compare their selection
from the history recounted in the report with the whole and the conclusions
drawn in the report. If the plaintiffs seek to infer bad faith which Bingham L]
declined to infer or even contradicted, is it realistic to suppose that a judge will
hereafier be persuaded 1o do sot The report is in reality at the present stage the
context in which the plaintiffs’ particulars must be read and their viability assessed.
The approach of Clarke ] was careful and fair to the plaintifls. He distinguishied
between the presently available material and that which might becorne available in 9

the future. He said:

‘Thave reached the firm conclusion that on the material available at present
the plaintiffs have no arguable case that the Bank dishonestly granted the
licence to BCCI or dishonestly failed to revoke the licence or authorisation h
in circumstances when it knew, believed or suspected that BCCI would
probably coflapse. There is nothing in the Bingham report or in the
documents which I have seen to support such a conclusion and there is much
to contradict it ... There is nothing in [the report] which gives reasonable
grounds for supposing that there might be other evidence which might in the
future support the plaintiffs’ case. In these circumstances [ accept
Mr Stadlen’s further submission that there is no realistic possibility of more
evidence becoming available, whether by further investigation, discovery,
cross-examination or otherwise, which might throw light upon the state of
mind of the Bank or any of its relevant officials during the period in which BCCI

was operating,’
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He therefore concluded that the plaintiff’s case would be bound to fail and h
he could see no justification for allowing the action to continye: “To do so wc:u?c;
beto require an enormous expenditure of time and money to no avail.’ For myselF,
I see no‘tbmg to criticise in this methodology or chain of reasoning. The cr}i{tie 1
matter is whether one agrees with his assessment of the inevitabil.iry of failuca
Were this appeal simply about whether Clarke ) had misdirected himself or a tn:i-
b improperly in some way in the exercise of his discretion, I would regard icte
Improper to allow the appeal. But that is not the manner in. which this ag eal llas
been argued. 'The defendants have accepted that your Lordships’ I-luusF::pshouIa;
re-assess the decision to dismiss the plaintiffs’ claim using CPR Pt 24 and it is t
that that I now turn atbeit with the apprehension that your Lordships may l'lnzwce)

becﬂ OVCI'HlﬂuCn 4 P 5 b { {h relevance o ]le
CEd b t]le [amtlﬂs ubmissions abou
c ] T f t!

The cause of action

: [:1613]. This was the subject of the carfier hearing and decision of your
-ordships ([2000] 3 All BR 1, [20007 2 WLR 1220). It is easy to forget that the
reason why the plaintiffs have to rely upon the tort of misfeasance in public off
is t?]aF they cannot allege that the defendants owed them a duty ofl::are lftl}'::
plaintiffs were able to rely upon the rort of negligence, their claim would i)e cas
o formulate and, whether or not it would ultimately succeed, would undmlbtedly
have to go to trial. Bur, in the present context, to formulate and sustain a clain};
e Inthe tort of misfeasance in public office is not straightforward, hience a need ¢
have regard to its constituents. ' °

[164] [nthe SPEEC}.]ES of your Lordships, in which ! Joined, delivered in May of
last year, th.e essential constituents of that tort were explained. ‘The tort is
exceptional in thar it is necessary to prove the requisite subjective state of mind
of the defendant in relation not only to his own conduct but also its effect on
others. Tha-t state of mind is one equivalent to dishonesty or bad faith and
kno‘wledgc includes both direct knowledge and what is sometimes called ‘blind
eye’ knowledge. (‘Blind eye’ knowiedge has since been discussed in different
contexts by your Lordships in Manifest Shipping Co Ltd v Uni-Polaris Shippin
Co Lid [2001) UKIHL/1, [2001] 1 All BR 743, [2001] 2 WLR 170 and Wh;'lc v Wh:'z§

g [2001) UKHL/9, [2001] 2 All BR 43, [2001] 1 W
referred 10 i e coverten [2001] LR 481) These features are

‘Itinvolves bad faith inasmuch as the public officer does
1 ' . not have an honest
fl?chef t}Tat his act is lawful ... [The nineteenth-century] decisions laid the
A rml;!;t‘:lat.lon of the modermn torg; they established the two different forms of
tability; and revealed the unifying element of conduct amounting to an
abuse of power accompanied by subjective bad faith.” (See {2000] 3 All ER 1
ar 8, [2000] 2 WLR 1220 at 123] per Lord Steyn.)

"My Lords, I consider that dishonesty is a necessary ingredient of the tort

fi am.i it .is clear from the authorities that in this context dishonesty means
acting in bad faith.” (See [2000] 3 AILER 1 at 41, [2000) 2 WLR 1220 at 1266
per Lord Hutton.)

“The official c.oncerned must be shown not to have had an honest belief
that he was acting lawfully ...’ (See [2000] 3 All ER | ar 44, [20001] 2 WLR
1220 at 1269 per Lord Hobhouse of Woodbarough) -
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“The policy underlying it is sound: reckless indifference to consequences is
as blameworthy as deliberarely seeking such consequences. It can therefore
now be regarded as settled law that an act performed in reckless indifference
as to the outcome is sufficient to ground the tort in its second form.” (See
[2000] 3 All ER 1 at 9, [2000] 2 WLR 1220 at 1232 per Lord Steyn.)

“The official does the act intentionally being aware that it risks directly
causing loss to the plaintiff or an identifiable class to which the plaintff
belongs and the official wilfully disregards thatrisk ... His recklessness arises
because he chooses wilfully to disregard that risk ... Subjective recklessness
comes into the formulation at the first and last stage because it is in law
tantamount to knowledge and therefore gives rise to the same liability ...
(See (2000] 3 All ER 1 ar 45, [2000] 2 WLR 1220 at 1270 per Lord Hobhouse.)

[165] Having carefully considered the submissions of the parties on both sides,

the material which has been placed before us, what further material may
reasonably be expected to become available to the plaintiffs before the time of the
trial and the judgments of the courts below, | have come to the conclusion that
the appeal should be dismissed. Like my noble and learned friend Lord Millett,
my assessment is that the plaintiffs’ claim does not have a real prospect of success.
The majority of your Lordships are, however, of a different view and would
allow the appeal and direct that the case proceed to a full trial on the alleged
liability in tort. Under these circumstances, whilst it is my duty to state what my
decision would have been and briefly give my reasons, it is inappropriate that
should say anything which will prejudge the conduct or outcome of that trial
when it occurs. The outcome will be a matter for the trial judge in the light of
the ruling which your Lordships have earlier given on the law, the evidence
adduced at the trial and the submissions of the parties. It is the trial judge who
will have to decide how the trial should be conducted and what findings of fact to
make. -
[166] To wrn now to the reasons for my assessment of the prospects of the
claim, I will structure what I say applying the law as stated last May and applying
it to the facts in two periods, first, that period ending with the grant of the licence
in June 1980, secondly, that from July 1980 to the collapse of BCCI in July 1991.
The plaintiffs” complaint in these two periods is different. In the first period it is
that the defendants wrongly licensed BCCI under s 3 of the Banking Act 1979
when they were forbidden by the statute from doing so. In the second period the
complaint is that the defendants failed to supervise BCCI as they were reguired
to do by the 1979 Act and its successor, the Banking Act 1987, and failed to
perform an obligation under those Acts to revoke the licence. I will take the law
as stated in my speech, not because it is materially different from what was said
by Lord Steyn, but hecause its analysis is unifying and therefore easier to apply in
the discussion of these two periods and was, indeed, the formularion primarily
relied upon by the plaintiffs.

[167] The commission of the tort has two stages. ‘The first is the act done by

the defendant. The act must be an unlawful act, not in the sense that it is itself j

tortious but int the sense that it is contrary to the law for the defendant to have
done what he did. In the case of a failure to act it must be a failure to do a specific
act which it was the legal obligation of the defendant to do and which was
therefore unlawful. In either case there must be unauthorised or forbidden
conduct. The conduct must be accompanied by either actual or subjectively
reckless, or ‘blind eye’, knowledge that it is unanthorised or forbidden. The second
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stage is that which relates to the defendants” appreciation of the consequences of
his conduct. This may arise from his purpose in doing what he did (my first 'limb’,
Lord Steyn’s first form of the tort) or from his appreciation that the plaintiff will
in the ordinary course be caused loss or his consciously and wilfully turning a
blind eye to the possibility of such loss (my second and third ‘limbs’, Lord Steyn’s
second form of the tort). Therefore, in making the assessment required by this
appeal, one must apply this two-stage test to the plaintiffs’ case for the two
periods.

The first period

(168] The 1979 Act introduced a system of licensing for deposit-takers which
was new. The task of the defendants was not easy since they were faced with
having to decide for the first time and within a relatively short time-scale whether
to grant or refuse a licence to a substantial number of institutions which were
already established businesses. The refusal of a licence would mean that the
institution could no longer accept deposits and would have to go out of business
(see s 1(1)). However, the defendants’ statutory obligation was clearly stated.
In s3(3)b) and Sch 2, PtII criteria are laid down which must be met unless
sub-s (5) applies. In any other case the defendants were forbidden from granting
the licence. The defendants purported to grant the licence under sub-s (5). For this
to apply, the principal place of business of the institution must be in a country
outside the United Kingdom and the supervisory authority in that country must have
informed the defendants that they are satisfied with respect to the management of
the institution and its overall financial soundness and the defendants must be
satisfied with the nature and scope of the supervision exercised by those
authorities. I consider that the plaintiffs clearly have a fully arguable case that these
criteria were not satisfied and that the officials acting for the defendants cannot
have believed that these criteria were satisfied. Therefore the plaintiffs have an
arguable case on the first stage of the legal test. The courts below were of the same
opinion and Mr Stadlen for the defendants only faintly argued the contrary.

[169] The plaintiffs failed in the courts below on the second stage. Clacke |
said:

‘Both BCCI SA and the group appeared to be profitable, the shareholders
appeared to be supportive and willing to supply more capital when asked,
the auditors were giving unqualified opinions on the accounts and the LBC
continued to give favourable opinions. [Bingham) also refers to the attimde
of the Bank of America, to which I shall return. In these circumstances, it
cannot fairly be said that at this stage the Bank suspected that BCCI would
probably collapse ... In all the circumstances 1 have reached the clear
conclusion that on the evidence available at present, either as referred to in
the Bingham Report or as contained in the documents to which [ have been
referred, the plaintiffs” case that the Bank knew, believed or suspected that if
it gave BCClI a licence it would probably collapse is bound to fail.”

‘I must say that, however critical one is of the Bank (and there is plenty of
scope for criticism), it seems to me to offend common sense to conclude that
before it licensed B.C.C.1 5.A. in 1980 it actually knew, believed or suspected
that if it licensed B.C.C.l. 5.A., B.C.C.L S.A. would (or even might)
subsequently collapse.’ {Cited [2000) 2 WLR 15 at 91-92.)

In the Court of Appeal ([2000] 2 WLR 15 at 92), the majority agreed that there was
no arguable case on foresight of loss. Auld 1) based his view on the application of a
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different view of the constituents of the tort, a view which has been held to be
wrong by your Lordships.

[170] It is not suggested that the defendants granted the licence with the
purpose of causing loss to any of the plaintiffs. The plaintiffs’ case is, rather, that
the officials consciously closed their eyes to what might be the consequences to
present and future depositors of granting and not refusing the licence. There is
no direct evidence to support this improbable allegation. The main evidence b
which is said to support the allegation is in part the self-evident proposition that
the officials probably had in mind that one of the main purposes of the regime
introduced by the 1979 Act was to protect depositors as is stated in the preamble
of that Act plus the proposition that if the safeguards in the Act were not observed
before granting a licence there must be a risk that depositors will not be
effectively protected; and partly that the officials had already learnt some very
disturbing facts about the conduct of the BCCI, for example, from the publicity
surrounding the withdrawal of the Bank of America. But there is no evidence to
support the appreciation of the officials of the risk they were running nor that,
having appreciated it, they wilfully chose to disregard it and hazard the
depositors. At the relevant time BCCI appeared to be a flourishing and successful, o
though to some extent controversial, institution with very many satisfied
depositors. The evidence both at the time and subsequently is that the officials
thought that they would look silly if they raised difficulties for the approval of
BCCI and that if they did they would not have been supported if challenged on
an appeal. The objective fact is that no depositor actually lost any money until
many years later after much else had happened, including the passing of a new
Act in 1987, Problems of proving legal causation will ebviously also arise.

[171] There is simply no evidence of any contemplation at this stage that
depositors with BCCI would lose their money. There is no evidence whatsoever,
nor any allegation, of any corruption of any official of the defendants, either at
this time or subsequently. "The evidence of the requisite subjective state of mindis f
not there and there is no reasonable basis for believing that it ever will be. The case
of the plaintiffs is in reality one in negligence supported by objective criteria and
this does not suflice for the tort upon which they have to rely. This is as 1 see it
an insuperable difficult for them on this part of the case.

The second period

(1721 Here the difficulties which the plaintiffs have ro overcome are more
fundamental. The foundation of the tort is that the relevant person has dene
something (in the positive or negative sense) which is contrary to the law.
The statutory pravisions upon which the plaintiffs rely are ones which give the
defendants powers in respect of licenced institutions. Their case is that they
constitute a statutory scheme which included a duty to supervise the deposit-taker
which the defendants failed to perform adequately. Their more specific case is that
the defendants failed to make use of the statutory power given to them unders 11
of the 1987 Act to revoke the authorisation of BCCI, or to exercise one ot more of
the lesser powers given by sections such as s 12 {restriction of authorisation} ot j
s 19 (directions) of that Act. The difficulty for the plaintiffs here is that they are
unable to sue in the tost of negligence and that the failures of the defendants
which they allege do not have the character of unlawfulness. They all involve the
exercise of discretions and judgment. There is no allegation which the plaintiffs
can make that the statute made it unlawful for the defendants not to take some

particular step at any given time.
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a th‘E l§3f] 'léhls ties in w1t_h the Plalntiﬂ‘s’ next difficulty. There is no evidence that
efendants and' their officials were doing anything other than their best to
handle the de\.'e]opmg situation in a responsible manner in accordance with th
Act. ’l"hf: officials may have been out of their depth. They may have been more
optimistic than was justified now that all the facts are known. But, particularl iE
the later stages, they were faced with a delicate situation where ptherc w " 4
b number gf conflicting interests to be taken into account and whereerc y
i\;;:n;::tlon :’VOlilld have caused BCCI to collapse without hope of rescue ::ﬂ
greater losses to its creditors than ultimate i
overlool.c the fact thar the defendants’ forbearance l;d]z'o(:}c]iui:i(i.tiol; ;S i;;)(f) wf
;ubstannal additional shareholder funds (how much theserere alrl:d wh:t
c appened to thcr?'l is apparently questioned). The situation developed over the
years. In the earlicr years, the problem was indiscipli i icipati
years A lem iscipline without the anticipation
2 .1rca;] of efault_. Later, that situation developed into one which included a
tg]: wing threat of failure, at first remote, finally grave and imminent. But in all
ese situations the defendants had to exercise judgment. The wrong step o
thvil\r part woult_:i only make things worse. In 1988 the ‘College’ was ccistitl:lteg
d snf ag international approach .adoptcd in which the defendants participated; the
efendants would have been irresponsible not to have done so. The plaintiffs
have sought to identify some four occasions when they submiit that the
defendants knew that they had grounds for exercising one or more of their
statutory powers and decided not to. Their inaction may be open to criticism. It
. can l?c argued that they should have acted differently but that is not the same as
;;gumg that they acted unlawfully and, naturally, there is no evidence that they
ke ew or even suspectf:d that they might be acting unlawfully. The plaintiffs wish
present a case of dishonesty but they have not got the material to justify the
allegation and have no realistic prospect of ever obtaining it. Instead, their case
seeks to proceed from the proposition that the defendants were under a statuto
g dutyto supervise BCCI 1o an allegation that the defendants were aware that th::-y
were not exercising effective supervision and thence to the allegation that it waz
unlawful for the defendants not to have exercised one or more of certain powers
given to them under the Act. This is a non sequitur. The powers Ijcmain
discretionary. It does not follow from the propasition that it would have been

lawfu} to exercise one or more 0{ [hOSC powers that not to exercise [he“l was
Xer

{174] The same applies to the second stage of the test. There is no evidence
that tl-{e defendants were setting out to cause anyone loss. In the earlier stages
thgy_dld not foresee the disaster that was to come. In the later stages the wgre
striving to avoid disaster and, if it proved not possible to avoid it, to lirﬂit the

h ]osscsl which would in that event inevitably be suffered. The officials had nothin
to gain. All the evidence is that they were doing their best. Once they realiseg
the scale of the problem with BCCI, they did not close their eyes to the
consequences of a failure; they attempted to avoid precipirating that collapse which
would cle.arly have been the consequence of the wrong kind of intervention

; One can illustrate the general point from the plaintiffs’ own pleading (Sch 5'
para 27(ii)): the decision not to revoke the full licence in October 1986 was taken’
because the officials concluded that ‘there appeared to be no immediate danger

to depaositors and it seemed unlikely that th i
Sh's heenes pamiob y ere were grounds for revoking BCCI

h[175'] The hearing before your Lordships has been concerned with whether
the plaintiffs have a real prospect of success in the action. On any view they face
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very serious difficulties in presenting and substantiating their case. The burden
of proofis upon them. The tort upon which they must rely is one which requires
the plaintiffs to prove serious allegations of actual bad faith—dishonesty—against
the officials. It is an abuse of process to make the allegations unless the plaintiffs
have material to support at least a prima facie case that the allegations are correct.
They do not have that material. For the action to be allowed to proceed on the
speculation, not backed up by any real expectation, that they may beforetrial find 4
evidence to support their allegations is vexatious. It is also contrary to the
procedural rules now in force. These rules are based upon sound principles of the
administration of justice. Doing justice includes bringing to a conclusion highly
expensive and long drawn-out litigation procedures, inevitably complex, which
have no real prospect of success. The real grievance of the actual plaintiffs is that
they believe that the law ought 1o allow actions in negligence against regulators €
but they accept through their counsel that it does not. I would dismiss the appeal.

LORD MILLETT. My Lords,

[176] The Bank of Credit and Commerce International SA (BCCI) was
incorporated under the laws of Luxembourgand obtained a banking licence from ¢
the Luxembourg Banking Commission (the LBC) in 1972. In the years which
followed it carried on a worldwide business as a bank and deposit-taking institution.
Shortly after it received the licence from the LBC it established an office in
London which eventually became its principal place of business. By 1979 it had
45 branches in the United Kingdom through which it offered a full range of
banking services to members of the public. €

(177} The Banking Act 1979 came into force in October 1979. That Act made
the Bank of Bngland (the Bank) formally responsible for supervising banks and
other deposit-taking institutions in the United Kingdom and conferred wide
regulatory powers upon the Bank to enable it to discharge its functions. For the
first time authorisation was required for a banking or deposit-taking business to  f
be carried on in the United Kingdom. The 1979 Act applied to companies like
BCCI which was already carrying on an existing business in the United Kingdom
as well as to those which wished to commence business here.

(178] In 1980 the Bank granted BCCl a licence to accept deposits. Withholding
the licence would have compelled the closure of BCC's business in the United
Kingdom (and in all likelihood elsewhere), with virtually certain loss to
depositors. In granting the licence the Bank relied on the judgment of the LBC
and made no independent judgment of its own whether the statutory criteria for
authorisation were satisfied. It was not entitled to do this because BCCI’s principal
place of business was in the United Kingdom. Thereafter BCCI continued to carry
on business in the United Kingdom and elsewhere for a further 11 years before it
was closed down in July 1991 by regulatory action taken by the Bank. Depositors,
most of whom must have become depositors or increased their deposits after
1980, have suffered substantial losses. They blame the Bank for its supervisory
failures and seek to hold it responsible for their losses. They believe that the Bank
was grossly negligent in granting the licence in the first place and in failing to {
revoke it or take other regulatory action long before it did.

[179] Unfortunately for the depositors, a regulatory authority cannot be held
liable in English law for negligence, however gross, in the exercise of its
supervisory functions. So the depositors have been forced to base their claim on
a very different cause of action. They allege that the Bank has been guilty of
misfeasanee in public olfice. "This is an intentional tort. Tr involves deliberate or
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reckless. wror.lgdoing. It cannot be committed negligently or inadvertentl
Accordmg_ly, it is not enough for the depositors to establish negligence, or cve)l:
gross negltgence, on the part of the Bank. They must establish some in'tcnticmal
or reckless impropriety. As your Lordships ruled unanimously at an earlier stage
of these proceedings ({2000] 3 All ER 1, [2000] 2 WLR 1220}, and in the absen%e
of what has been described as ‘targeted malice’ (which is not alleged), the tort has
b two clements. In the present case the depositors must prove: (i) nor,merel that
the Bank acted unlawfully, that is to say in excess of its powers or for an im );0 er
purpose, but that it did so knowingly (or recklessly not caring whether it h[:\d Ehe
necessary power or not); and (ii) that the Bank kinew that its actions would probabl
:z:lisoe 1())sss to ;!epos;tors {or wasbreck]essly indifferent to the consequences of itz
ns). Such conduct in a publi ial i i
C sty i gual. c official is grossly improper and equates to
[186] Seen in this light, the depositors’ case is a most implausible one. A bank
}'egulator has a very difficult task and one which may call for an ex;:rcisc of
Jllndgment of some nicety, since it must seek to protect future depositors against the
tisk of loss without sacrificing the interests of existing depositors. No responsible
d _reglrllator would contemplate closing down a bank or other dEPosil:-takin
ms:tu"ution (or taking other action which risked a run on it) with inevitable loss tg
existing depositors unless there was no alternative, ie unless it considered that
f:oilapsc was virtually inevitable. A regulator’s task has often to be performed on
mcornpiete information and is highly judgmental. Even an action based on
negligence would face formidable difficulties. But it is scarcely credible that
unless corrupt, public officials should have been guilty of intentional wrongdoin l
or have been indiflerent to the consequences of their actions to the very gen lE
they were supposed to protect. It is not beyond the bounds of possibiﬁry pof
course, but in the absence of any incentive to act in this way it is in the hi h'e t
degree unlikely. Certainly such conduct cannot lightly be inferred. e
f [181] But the present case goes far beyond this. The Bank was formall
concerned with the supervision of BCCI for more than 11 years (and informally
for a ﬁ.lrt.he.r eight years) and the supervisory attentdion which it paid to BCCyI
during thfs time was very great. The depositors are alleging deliberate or reckless
wn?ng'domg on the part of a large number of officials at different levels of
seniority over a long period. This would involve wholesale wrongdoing on a
spcctacul?r .scale in the public service. Absent any plausible motive f0§ such
conduct. it is an extravagant allegation. It will require evidence of the most
compelhng kind to establish. As Lord Nicholls of Birkenhead observed in Re H
(minors) (sexual abuse: standard of proof) (199611 AILER 1 at 17, (19961 AC 563 at 586:

h

“The more improbable the event, the stronger must be the evidence thar it
did occur before, on the balance of probability, its occurrence will‘ be
established. Ungoed-Thomas] expressed this neatly in Re bcﬂow's Will
Trusts, Lloyds Bank Ltd v Institute of Cancer Research [1964] 1 All ER 771 at 773
. |;191¢154] 1 WLR 451 at 455: “The more serious the allegation, the more cogcnt'
i 5] L Se{g\;fggﬁ:fgmred to overcome the unlikelihood of what is alleged and

In the absence of evidence to support the allegation, it would be an abuse of
process to make it. Itis not at all surprising that the depositors have striven hard
to avoid pleading any such case until they were compelled to do so, preferri

instead to argue that it was not necessary. + preering
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[182] In describing the depositors’ case as ‘implausible’“or “scarcely credible’, I
should not be taken as making any assumptions about the integtity of the Bank
and its officials or as departing from the proper judicial stance of neutrality and
impartiality. 1 do not take the view that the Bank can do no wrong or that public
officials are incapable of acting in bad faith. But we are called upon to evaluate
the action’s prospects of success, and that exercise involves an impartial
consideration of the inherent plausibility of the allegations and the strength ofthe
evidence needed to establish them. The scales of justice must be evenly balanced
at the commencement of such an operation; but they should not be incapable of
movement while the operation is being undertaken. It is not unfair to observe
that, in the absence of some financial or other incentive, a charge of dishonesty
against professional men and public officials is possible but inherently improbable.

'THE PLEADINGS: DEMURRER

[183] Having read and re-read the pleadings, | remain of opinion that they are
demurrable and could be struck out on this ground. The rules which govern both
pleading and proving a case of fraud are very strict. In Jonesco v Beard [1930] AC
298 at 300, [1930] All ER Rep 483 at 484 Lord Buckmaster, with whom the ather d
members of the House concurred, said:

‘It has long been the serded practice of the Court that the proper method
of impeaching a completed judgment on the ground of fraud is by action in
which, as in any ether action based on fraud, the particulars of the [fratied nrust be
exactly given and the allegation established by the strict proof such a charge requires.” ¢
(My emphasis.)

{184] Tt is well established that fraud or dishonesty {and the same must go for
the present tort) must be distinctly alleged and as distinctly proved, that it must
be sufficiently particularised; and that it is not sufficiently particularised if the
facts pleaded are consistent with innocence: see Kerr on the Law of Fraud and f
Mistake (7th edn, 1952) p 644, Davy v Garrett (1878} 7 Ch D 473 at 489, Bullivant v
A-G for Victoria [1901]1 AC 196, (1900-3] Al ER Rep 812, Armitage v Nurse {1997)
2 All BR 705 at 715, [1998] Ch 241 at 256. This means that a plaintiff who alleges
dishonesty niust plead the facts, matters and circumstances relied on to show that
the defendant was dishonest and not merely negligent, and that facts, matters and
circumstances which are consistent with negligence do not do so.

[185] It is important to appreciate that there are two principles in play.
The first is a matter of pleading. The function of pleadings is to give the party
opposite sufficient notice of the case which is being made against him. If the
pleader means ‘dishonestly’ or fraudulently’, it may not be enough to say “wilfully’
or ‘recklessly’. Such language is equivocal. A similar requirement applies, in my
opinion, in a case like the present, but the requirement is satisfied by the present
pleadings. It is perfectly clear that the depositors are alleging an intentional tort.

[186] The second principle, which is quite distinct, is that an allegation of fraud
or dishonesty must be sufficiently particularised, and that particulars of facts which
are consistent with honesty are not sufficient. This is only partly a matter of j
pleading. Itis also a matter of substance. As] have said, the defendant is entitled
to know the case he has to meet. But since dishonesty is usually a matter of
inference from primary facts, this involves knowing not only that he is alleged to
have acted dishonestly, but also the primary facts which will be relied upon at
trial to justify the inference. At trial the court will not normally allow proof of
primary facts which have not been pleaded, and will not do so in a case of fraud.
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It is not open to the court to infer dishonesty from facts which have not been
pleaded, or from facts which have been pleaded but are consistent with honesty.
There must be some fact which tilts the balance and justifies an inference of
dishonesty, and this fact must be both pleaded and proved.

1187) In Davy v Garrett Thesiger L) in a well-known and frequently cited
passage stated:

‘In the present case facts are alleged from which fraud might be inferred,
but they are consistent with innocence. They were innocent acts in
themselves, and it is not to be presumed that they were done with a
fraudulent intent.’ (See (1878) 7 Ch D 473 at 489.)

This is a clear statement of the second of the two principles to which [ have
referved.

[188] In Armitage’s case the plaintff needed to prove that trustees had been
guilty of fraudulent breach of trust. She pleaded that they had acted ‘in reckless
and wilful breach of trust’, This was equivocal. Itdid not make it clear that what
was alleged was a dishonest breach of trust. But this was not fatal. If the
particulars had not been consistent with honesty, it would not have mattered.
Indeed, leave to amend would almost certainly have been given as a matter of
course, for such an amendment would have been a technical one; it would
merely have clarified the pleading without allowing new material 1o be
introduced. But the Court of Appeal struck out the allegation because the facts
pleaded in support were consistent with honest incompetence: if proved, they
would have supported a finding of negligence, even of gross negligence, but not
of fraud. Amending the pleadings by substituting an unequivacal allegation of
dishonesty without giving further particulars would not have cured the defect.
The defendants would still not have known why they were charged with
dishonesty rather than with honest incompetence.

[189] It is not, therefore, correct to say that if there is no specific allegation of
dishonesty it is not open to the court to make a finding of dishonesty if the facts
pleaded are consistent with honesty. If the particulars of dishonesty are insufficient,
the defect cannot be cured by an unequivocal allegation of dishonesty. Such an
allegarion is effectively an unparticularised altegation of fraud. Ifthe observations
of Buxton L] in Taylor v Midland Bank Trust Co Ltd {1999] CA Transcript 1200 are
to the contrary, I am unable to accept chem.

[190] In the present case the depositors (save in one respect with which [ shall
deal jater) make the allegations necessary to establish the tort, but the particulars
pleaded in support are consistent with mere negligence. In my opinion, even if
the depositors succeeded at the trial in establishing all the facts pleaded, it would
not be open to the court to draw the inferences necessary to find that the essential
elements of the tort had been proved. .

THE EVIDENTIAL MATERIAL: PROSPECTS OF SUCCESS
[191] But I prefer to decide this appeal on the broader and simpler ground that

i the action has no real prospects of success. In reaching this conclusion I have not

relied upon the Bingham report or its findings. My reasons are as follows.

1. The grant of the licence

(1) Itis clear that the Bank was not entitled to grant the licence in reliance on
the LBC. So the depositors can prove that the Bank acted unlawlully. However,
it was not unlawful for the Bank to grant a licence, but only to do so without first
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making its own independent inquiries, 1t must now be a matter of speculation
whether the Bank would still have granted the licence if it had made its own
inquiries, so there is a difficult (though I am willing to assume not insuperable)
question of causation. The burden of proving this lies with the depositors.

(2) 1t is arguable that the Bank knew the facts which deprived it of the power
to grant the licence in reliance upon the LBC and without making its own
inquiries. But knowledge of facts which deprive a party of the power to take a
particular course of action is not the same as knowledge that it is acting in excess
of power. There is no reason to suppose, and not a shred of evidence to suggest,
that any official of the Bank appreciated the position, or that any official suspected
it but turned a blind eye. 1f the Bank had realised or suspected that it was not
entitled 10 rely on the LBC, it would obviously have made its own inquiries. [t
had not the slightest reason not to do so. The facts pleaded, and all the evidence
we have seen, are cntirely consistent with an honest but (possibly) negligent
failure to appreciate the legal consequences of the known facts. This is insuflicient
1o sustain the claim, since the first element of the tort is lacking,

(3) Even if the depositors could establish the first element of the tort, they
have no prospect of establishing the second. There is no case for supposing that
in 1980 BCCI was in fact already insolvent o likely to collapse; and even if it was
the Bank obviously had no knowledge or suspicion that it was. As Clarke J said:
it defies common sense to suppose that regulators would licence a bank which
they foresaw would probably (or be at all likely t0) collapse.

2. The failure to revoke the licence prior to 1990

(1) The tort is concerned with the abuse of power by public officials who actin
excess of their powers to the injury of the subject. Itis not concerned with their
failure to exercise the powers they do have, particularly when they have a
discretion whether to exercise them or not.

(2) 'The Bank had a power to revoke the licence in certain circumstances. But
it had no duty to do so unless the circumstances were such that (objectively) the
discretion could only be exercised in favour of revocation. This was never the
case, nor is it alleged that it was. Tven if the Bank appreciated (after the event)
that it had acted in excess of its powers when granting the licence, this did not
impose a duty (as distinct from a power) to revoke the licence. It follows that the
Bank never acted unlawfully in failing to exercise its power to revoke the licence.

(3) Inany case, the Bank's internal documents show that it never believed that
it had grounds to revoke the licence, and considered that even ifit did revocation
would not be justified. There is no reason to suppose (and there is nothing
pleaded which would justify a finding) that these views were not honestly {even
if erroneously) held. Accordingly, the first element of the tort is lacking.

(4) The real problem was that, as the Bank knew, BCCI was effectively
unsupervised. The depositors laid considerable emphasis on this, and rightly so;
but they did not face up to the consequences. It meant that the Bank did not
know enough ta justify either letting BCCI continue or closing it down. It was not
unlawful to abstain from revoking the licence in these circumstances. The real
charge against the Bank is that it never got to grips with the problem of
supervision. This may have been negligent, but it did not amount to deliberate
wrongdoing or bad faith.

¢5) The right course may have been to impose restrictions. This never entered
anyone’s head. The failure to take a step which was never even considered may
be negligent but cannot possibly amount to deliberate (or reckless) wrongdoing.

i
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3. The failure to revoke the licence: 19901991

(1) By 1990 the Bank knew that BCCI was insolvent and fraudulently run. So
it knew {for the first time) that there were grounds for closing it down. But it still
had to consider whether this was in the interests of depositors, both present and
future.

(z) No regulator would close down a bank in such circumstances while there
was any reasonable prospect of a rescue. The first question is whether, objectively
and without the benefit of hindsight, there was a reasonable possibility of a rescue
(with new funds and new management) until the s 41 report put paid to it. If so,
the Bank was not acting untawfully in exercising its discretion not to revoke the
licence, and the first element of the tort would be lacking.

(3) But even if the depositors satisfy the court that there was in fact no
reasonable prospect of a rescue, this is not enough. The essential question is
whether it was the Bank's honestly held view that there was, ‘There is no reason
to suppose and not a shred of evidence from which it could be inferred that the
Rank did not honestly believe that a rescue was a reasonable possibility. Al the
documents we have seen show that this was why the Bank stayed its hand. There
is no hint of any other reason. As soon as it received the s 41 report, and realised
that there would be no rescue, it moved to close the business down.

(4) The depositors do not even plead the necessary averment. They still plead
only that (negatively) the Bank did not believe that there would probably be a
rescue. This is remarkable given that Clarke | told them that whart they needed
to allege and prove was that (positively) the Bank knew or suspected that there
would probably not be a rescue. There can be only one reason for their failure to
plead the necessary averment: it is because they know that they cannot. In the
absence of the necessary pleading (supported by proper particulars), it is not open
to the court to find that the Bank knew that depositors would probably suffer loss.
The second element of the tort is lacking,

(5) The depositors’ case is that a regulator has a legal duty to close down an
insolvent bank even if it believes that there is a reasonable prospect of a rescue,
unless it also believes that a rescue is likely. It is only necessary to formulate
the proposition to see that it must be rejected. Nothing couldbe more inimical to the
interests of depositors than to place such a restriction on the regulator’s power in
their interests to explore every alternative to closure. Not to do so would display
the very reckless indifference to their interests of which the depositors in the
present case complain.

CONCLUSION

[192] 1agree with my noble and learned friend Lord Hope of Craighead that,
while cases should in principle be disposed of as expeditiously and cheaply as the
circumstances permit, the most important principle of all is that justice shouid be
done. But this does not mean justice to the plaintiff alone. "It is not just to a
plaintiff to strike out his claim without a trial unless it has no real prospect of
success. Tt is not just to defendants to subject them to a lengthy and expensive
trial to defend their integrity when there is no foundation in the evidence for the
attack upon it.

[193] In my opinion the depositors cannot establish the requisite elements of
the tort in respect of any matter of complaint. They have either failed to make
the necessary allegations, or where they have done so they have pleaded
insufficient facts in support to entitle the court to draw the necessary inferences.
They have produced no document which supports their case, and every document
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which they have placed reliance is either a

ich they have produced and on | ‘ ¢ cither
:g:::gl or ?norc ofFen contradictory of their case. When in add;‘tlon r:gnacrd :ff rad
to the seriousness and sheer improbability of t!]efr case and ¢ }:: c?tghasyno the
evidence required to prove it, the conclusion is inescapable that i
cess. i
P aare h my noble and learned friend Lord Hobhouse of

4] in agreement Wit _ '
WE)l:dllort;ugghr, [ would dismiss the appeal and strike out the action.

Appeal allowed in part.
Dilys Tausz  Barrister.
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LORD BINGHAM OF CORNHILL, LORD CLYDE, LORD HUTTON, LORD HOBHOUSE OF
WOODBOROUGH AND LORD SCOTT OF FOSCOTE
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Criminallaw — Affray — Public place - Elements of offence — Threat of unlawful violence
towards another — Whether overt possession of weapon capable of coustituting threat of
violence when nat used or brandished in violent manner - Whether threat of vielence
having to be directed to person present at scene — Public Order Act 1986, 5 3(1).

In response to an anonymous telephone call, a number of police officers were
despatched to a block of flats in a marked police carrier. On arrival, the police saw
a group of 40 to 50 youths outside the block. Eight or nine of them were carrying
petrol bombs, but none of the fuses had been lit. When the carrier came into
view, the group immediately dispersed and no violence was shown or threatened
towards the police officers. Nobody else was present ar the scene. The police
pursued some of the group and arrested the three defendants who, before
capture, had thrown away the petrol bombs they had been holding. The
defendants were charged with affray contrary to s 3{1)* of the Public Order Act
1986 which provided that a person was guilty of that offence if he used or
‘threatens unlawful violence towards another’ and his conduct was such as would
cause a person of reasonable firmness "present at the scene’ to fear for his personal
safety. 'That provision had replaced the common law offence of affray, and had
implemented a recommendation in a Law Commission report, subsequently
accepted in a government White Paper. The defendants were convicted by a
stipendiary magistrate, and they appealed by way of case stated. The Divisional
Court dismissed the appeals, holding (i) that the visible carrying in public of
primed petrol bombs by a large number of youths “obviously out for no good’
was clearly capable of constituting a threat of unlawful violence; and (ii) that
although there had to be someone at or in the vicinity towards whom the threat
of viclence could be said to be directed, in the special circumstances of the case
the overt carrying of petrol bombs, highly dangerous and untargeted in their
effect if exploded, constituted a threat of violence to anyone in the vicinity,
including the police on arrival at the scene. On the defendants’ appéal to the
House of Lotds, two issues arose, namely (i) whether the overt possession of a
weapon could constitute a threat of violence for the purpose of affray when it was
not used or brandished in a violent manner, and (i) whether the threat of
unlawful violence had to be towards a person or persons present at the scene.

Held - (1) For the purposes of s 3(1) of the1986 Act, the carrying of dangerous

i weapons such as petrol bombs by a group of persons could, in some circumstances,

4 Section 3 is set out at [9], post




